UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

"WHY AM I HERE?"

CHILDREN IN IMMIGRATION DETENTION





CONTENTS

1. INTRODUCTION: SUMMARY OF CONCERNS	1
1.1 Scope and Sources of Research	2
1.2 Recent Legislation: An Opportunity for Change?	
1.2.1 Department of Homeland Security (DHS) and the Office of Refugee Resettle	
(ORR)	
1.3 Amnesty International Report Summary	6
2. BACKGROUND: U.S. AND INTERNATIONAL LAW	6
2.1 Unaccompanied Children	
2.2 International Law and Standards	
2.3 Overview of U.S. Immigration System: Forms of Relief Available to Unaccomp	
Children	
2.3.1 Asylum	
2.3.2 Guidelines for Children's Asylum Claims	
2.3.3 Additional Forms of Relief for Children at Risk	
2.4 Overview of U.S. Framework for the Care of Unaccompanied Children (Flores)	16
3. UNACCOMPANIED CHILDREN AND THE U.S. DETENTION SYSTEM	
3.1 "Non-Secure" Detention	
3.1.1 Shelter Care	
3.1.2 Foster Care	
3.1.3 Hotels	
3.2 Secure Detention	
3.2.1 Holding Cells	
3.2 Commingling with Juvenile Offenders	
3.4 Children Housed with Adults: Age-Determination Techniques	
3.5 Challenging Placement in a Secure Facility	
5.5 Chancinging Fracement in a Secure Facility	20
4. CONDITIONS OF DETENTION	28
4.1 Excessive Discipline	
4.2 Physical and Verbal Abuse	
4.3 Solitary Confinement	
4.4 Pat-down and Strip Searches	
4.5 Use of Restraints.	
4.5.1 Restraints During Transportation	
4.5.2 Restraints in the Courtroom.	
4.5.3 Restraints in Detention Facilities	36
4.6 Exercise, Access to Open Air, and Recreation	38
4.7 Education	39
4.8 Mental Health Services	40
4.9 Religion	43
4.10 Girls	43
5. CONCERNS ABOUT ACCESS TO ASSISTANCE AND SUPPORT IN DETENTION	1 1
5.1 Access to Legal Representation and Other Forms of Assistance in Detention	
5.1 Access to Legar Representation and Other Forms of Assistance in Detention	
5.3 Juvenile Coordinator Visits	
5.4 Transfers	

5.5 Accessing Assistance: Handbooks	48
5.6 Interpreters/ Translation	
5.7 Telephone Access and Visits	50
5.7.1 Telephones	50
5.7.2 Visits	
5.8 Consulates	
6. RELEASE OF CHILDREN FROM DETENTION	52
6.1 U.S. National Policy for the Release of Unaccompanied Minors: The Flores Se	
6.1.1. Release of Children to Available Family or Other Appropriate Caregive	
6.2 Failure to Appear for Hearings	
6.3 Prolonged Detention: Indian and Chinese Children	
6.4 Haitian Children	
6.5 Effect of Long-term Detention: Children Abandoning Their Claims	
6.6 Failure to Release After Asylum Is Granted	
6.7 Effective Review of Decisions Not to Release Children	
7 I ACIV OF LEGAL DEPOSED TATION FAILURE TO ADDODUT OUADD	ANG AND
7. LACK OF LEGAL REPRESENTATION, FAILURE TO APPOINT GUARDI	
ACCOMMODATE UNIQUE NEEDS OF CHILDREN IN COURTROOMS	
7.1 Lack of Legal Assistance for Children in U.S. Immigration Proceedings	
7.3 Concerns Related to Court Hearings	
7.3.1 Delays in Immigration Proceedings	
7.3.3 Adaptation of Courtroom Experience for Children: Court Personnel Lawyers and Immigration Judges), and Courtroom Procedures	
7.4 Additional Concerns About Courtroom Experiences	
7.4.1 Interpreters	
7.4.3 Courtroom Waiting Area (Krome, Florida): Proximity to Firing Range	
7.4.3 Courtdoon Waiting Area (Kronie, Piorida). Froximity to Piring Range 7.5 Guardians Ad Litem (Friend of the Child)	
7.5 Guardians 7 de Enteni (1 Hend of the Child)	10
8. THE FUTURE FOR UNACCOMPANIED CHILDREN IN THE U.S	72
8.1 The Detention System	73
8.2 Legal Representation and Guardians	
8.3 Ongoing Concerns and Inherent Dangers of a Law Enforcement Culture: DHS	
8.4 Additional Research and Monitoring Statistics	75
9 CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS	76

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA UNACCOMPANIED CHILDREN IN IMMIGRATION DETENTION

1. INTRODUCTION: SUMMARY OF CONCERNS

Edwin was born in Honduras and his mother abandoned him shortly after his father died. He was only four years old at the time and ended up living with a cousin who abused him and forced him to work in the streets and give him money. "When I didn't earn enough money, he punished me, beating me with a noose, car tools, and other objects, leaving scars on my body." He was afraid to go to the authorities because his cousin threatened to throw him onto the street, and that the police would not protect a child like him. He was also afraid of living on the streets because he had heard that the authorities and gangs kill children living in the streets. When he was thirteen, he set off for the U.S.: "I had heard wonderful things about the U.S. and how children were better treated here." He says he walked, begged, and worked for food to get to the U.S. Upon crossing the border he was arrested and detained. He was housed at the San Diego Juvenile Hall for almost six months, and reports he was mistreated by both guards and juvenile offenders. "The officers did not know why I or other children picked up by the INS were there. They treated us the same as the others, as criminals. They were mean and aggressive and used a lot of bad words. (...) Many of the other boys were violent, frequently looking for a fight." He was transported in full shackles during transfers and trips to court. He reports that after winning his asylum case, he left the jail for the last time, to be taken to a foster family. Again, he was transported in shackles. When he asked the INS officer why he needed shackles, he was told that it was to prevent his escape. He challenged the fact that he might try to escape since he had won his asylum. The officer allegedly responded that asylum is "just a piece of paper we can rip up, put you in jail and send you back to your country." Edwin was held in detention for eight months before being released.

- Edwin Larios Muñoz, testimony before the U.S. Senate Committee on the Judiciary, Subcommittee on Immigration, 28 February 2002

The number of unaccompanied children detained in the United States has more than doubled over the last five years, rising from 2,375 in 1997 to 5,385 in 2001. Escaping political persecution, fleeing war, abusive families, or other dangerous or difficult conditions in their home countries, these children arrive in the U.S. unaccompanied by their parents or other legal guardians. Approximately 75 percent of these children are boys and 25 percent are girls. They range in age from toddlers to teenagers and come from a wide range of countries. U.S. immigration authorities take them into custody, and approximately one-third are detained in harsh conditions in a secure jail-like facility designed for the incarceration of juvenile offenders. Children held in immigration detention are detained for administrative reasons, not as punishment for criminal behavior. Not charged with committing any crime, these unaccompanied minors may be held for months or even years, in punitive conditions alongside juvenile offenders pending

¹ U.S. Department of Justice, Immigration and Naturalization Service, INS Office of Juvenile Affairs Fact Sheet, 8/1/02.

² Ibid.

³ Ibid. The U.S. Department of Justice reports that the top five countries are China, El Salvador, Guatemala, Honduras, and Mexico.

⁴ Ibid. In 2001, 32 percent of unaccompanied children were held in a secure facility and 68 percent in a non-secure facility; in 2000, 35 percent were held in a secure facility and 65 percent in a non-secure facility; in 1999, 35 percent and 65 percent in non-secure facilities.

resolution of their immigration status in administrative proceedings before an immigration court within the Executive Office of Immigration Review (EOIR).

The circumstances in which these children find themselves are complex and varied. Some may live in fear of persecution, civil unrest or human rights abuse in their home countries. Amnesty International has documented that around the world girls and boys are subjected to horrific violence and abuse. Children are tortured because they are caught up in wars and political conflict. Children are vulnerable to ill treatment by police and security forces, and are often detained in conditions that pose a threat to their health and safety. Many face being beaten or sexually abused by the very adults who are supposed to protect them. Other children arriving in the U.S. may have been sent, willingly or otherwise, to secure what their parents or guardians perceive to be a better future in a more developed country. Irrespective of their immigration status, these children have special needs that must be met, needs and rights that are guaranteed under international laws and standards. According to the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees (UNHCR), children seeking asylum, particularly if they are unaccompanied, are entitled to special care and protection.

Unaccompanied children in the U.S. immigration system are routinely deprived of their rights in contravention of international and U.S. standards. Children should be confined and imprisoned only in exceptional circumstances or as a last resort, and then only for the shortest possible time. Unaccompanied children arriving in the U.S. are not only detained but are often held in facilities that routinely fail to adhere to both international and U.S. standards governing the detention of children. AI has documented violations of rights essential to protection from arbitrary detention, including access to counsel, to translators, and to telephones. Violations of the right to humane treatment have also been documented: some children may be housed alongside juvenile offenders, denied access to appropriate education and exercise, and may be subjected to punitive and degrading treatment including the excessive use of shackles and restraints and routine strip searches.

Freedom from arbitrary detention is a fundamental human right. The system of determining whether a child should be held in a secure or non-secure facility and whether a child should remain in detention is fraught with difficulties and inconsistencies, and in some cases may amount to arbitrary detention. The decision to continue to detain a child may rest on factors such as whether a parent has appropriate immigration status in the United States, the availability of detention spaces, the attitude of the official involved, or an arbitrary and unreviewed decision that a child is a flight risk.

Unlike the criminal justice system, children deprived of their liberty in the immigration system are not guaranteed legal representation even though important rights are at stake; less than half of unaccompanied children have legal counsel to represent them in an immigration court. Unaccompanied children are a vulnerable population with complex needs; they are often confused and alone, yet U.S. immigration laws, practices, and procedures do not significantly distinguish children and adults. There is currently no system in place in the U.S. to ensure the appointment of a guardian ad litem ("friend of the child"), who in the absence of a traditional caregiver acts to ensure that all decisions are taken with a child's best interests in mind.

1.1 Scope and Sources of Research

⁵ See also Amnesty International, Hidden Scandal, Secret Shame: Torture and Ill Treatment of Children, AI Index: ACT 40/38/00, 2000.

Amnesty International (AI) has obtained information from a wide range of sources. On December 10, 2002, a detailed questionnaire was sent nationwide to 115 facilities reportedly used by immigration authorities to house unaccompanied children, requesting comprehensive information on the policies, procedures, and conditions of detention. The questionnaire was designed to establish the level of compliance with international standards and U.S. detention standards relating to the unaccompanied children. Fifty-five facilities responded to the questionnaire: 33 returned a completed survey, 19 responded that they do not hold unaccompanied minors, and 3 indicated that they did not wish to participate in the survey. Of those facilities responding to the survey, 23 were secure facilities and 10 were shelter facilities.

The organization also visited three detention facilities housing unaccompanied minors. The facilities visited included secure and shelter detention centers used by U.S. immigration authorities to detain children and were located in the three designated immigration regions in the U.S. During these visits, delegates received extensive tours of the facilities and interviewed staff and thirty-one children. An AI delegate also attended a master calendar hearing in the immigration court located at the Krome Detention Center in Miami, Florida.

<u>September 5–6, 2002</u> – Berks County Youth Center (BCYC), Pennsylvania (Eastern Region) (shelter and secure facility), interviewed 14 children.

October 29–30, 2002 – Chicago INS Shelter Facility, Illinois (Central Region), interviewed 12 children.

<u>November 5, 2002</u> – Gila County Juvenile Detention Center, Arizona (Western Region) (secure facility), interviewed 5 children.

AI appreciates that only a limited number of children were interviewed. This was due in part not only to limited resources and time constraints but also to the fact that AI had to identify and provide the INS with the names of the children who were to be interviewed. The practical implications of this restricted AI to facilities with an existing NGO or pro bono attorney presence that could assist the organization in identifying children. This challenge also meant that AI only interviewed children with legal representation. Nonetheless, AI has obtained information from a wide range of sources, suggesting that the problems reported are not simply anecdotal, but systemic in nature.

AI also met with the National Juvenile Coordinator, the Central and Western Regional Juvenile Coordinators and the District Juvenile Coordinators in Pennsylvania, Illinois, and Arizona. A meeting with the Office of Refugee Resettlement took place in February 2003.

Additional sources included contacts with immigration attorneys and organizations working to assist unaccompanied minors, including the Women's Commission for Refugee Women and Children, the American Bar Association, Midwest Immigrant and Human Rights Center, Florence Immigrant and Refugee Rights Project, Florida Immigrant Advocacy Center, Lutheran Immigration and Refugee Services, Latham & Watkins, and Pennsylvania Immigration

⁶ A follow-up letter was sent to all facilities again on 1/10/03, and telephone calls were also made to all facilities that failed to respond to AI's initial request to complete the survey. AI sent the list of all facilities to the INS national Office of Juvenile Affairs (OJA) and requested confirmation that the list accurately reflected the facilities used by the INS to house unaccompanied children and that the OJA would provide any corrections and details of additional facilities that may not have been on the list. The OJA failed to respond to AI's written requests dated 1/21/03 and 1/30/03

⁷ AI did not send questionnaires to the facilities visited (Gila County Juvenile Detention Center, secure; Berks County Youth Center, secure and shelter unit; and a Chicago shelter). Since the issues in the questionnaire were covered during interviews at these four facilities, they are included in AI's survey.

Resource Center. The organization has also reviewed a wide range of additional information and documentation, including the report by the Department of Justice (Office of Inspector General) on Unaccompanied Juveniles in INS Custody,⁸ and has conducted a national survey of media reports.

AI has not included the names of many of the children or organizations that provided the organization with information to preserve privacy and confidentiality. AI has the names of these sources in its possession. On some occasions other identifying information has been excluded, for example, the date and location of interviews.

1.2 Recent Legislation: An Opportunity for Change?

R.D., age twelve, fled India to escape religious persecution. On arrival in the United States he applied for asylum. He has an uncle, a U.S. citizen, willing to sponsor him, pending determination of his immigration status. However, he had been in detention over fifteen months when AI met with him. He told AI delegates that staff in the facility were strict and if children forgot to wear their name tags they would have to stand facing the wall. He said that children would get into trouble when, not understanding English, they failed to obey instructions. He told AI, "It's been a long time.... I just want to get out of here."

Recent legislation passed by the U.S. Congress means that there is now an opportunity to change the current system and the way that unaccompanied children in the United States are treated. The Immigration and Naturalization Service (INS) has ceased to exist, and the newly created Department of Homeland Security (DHS) has assumed many of its responsibilities. Furthermore, some critical functions relating to the care, custody, and treatment of unaccompanied children have now been assigned to the Office of Refugee Resettlement (ORR) within the Department of Health and Human Services. AI urges the U.S. government to build upon this opportunity and make a number of concrete reforms to protect this vulnerable population, as much still needs to be done to ensure compliance with international law and standards.

1.2.1 Department of Homeland Security (DHS) and the Office of Refugee Resettlement (ORR)

For many years U.S. immigration authorities (the former INS) faced an inherent conflict of interest when it came to the treatment of unaccompanied minors. The INS was charged, until very recently, with providing custodial care to unaccompanied children while acting as the prosecutor seeking the child's removal from the United States. In effect, the former INS played the role of both caregiver and prosecutor: two clearly irreconcilable



Edwin Munoz, a 15-year-old unaccompanied child from Honduras testifying before the U.S. Senate on 28 February 2002.

© Steven Rubin

⁸ Office of the Inspector General, Unaccompanied Juveniles in INS Custody, Report Number I-2001-009, September 28, 2001 (hereinafter cited as OIG, Unaccompanied Juveniles in INS Custody). Available at http://www.usdoj.gov/oig/i0109/exec.htm.

functions that resulted in many egregious actions that were detrimental to the best interests of unaccompanied children.⁹

In November 2002, the U.S. Congress passed the Homeland Security Act (HSA 2002). HSA 2002 represents the largest restructuring of the U.S. federal government in over fifty years. More than 170,000 employees and twenty-two existing federal agencies have been consolidated into a newly created Department of Homeland Security (DHS). The Act has a substantial impact on immigration and enforcement services since it dismantles the former functions of the INS into three separate bureaus and transfers them into the Department of Homeland Security. The three separate bureaus are the Bureau of Customs and Border Protection (BCBP), responsible for immigration and customs enforcement activities at the borders; the Bureau of Immigration and Customs Enforcement (BICE), responsible for immigration and customs investigation and enforcement within the United States; and the Bureau of Citizenship and Immigration Services (BCIS), responsible for the administration of benefits and immigration services.

The Homeland Security legislation also contained an important provision relating to unaccompanied minors. The responsibility for these children's care and custody was transferred from the (now abolished) INS to the Office of Refugee Resettlement (ORR) in the Department of Health and Human Services on March 1, 2003. The Department of Homeland Security (through the newly created BCBP and BICE under the Directorate of Border and Transportation Security) has assumed the former INS immigration law enforcement functions related to unaccompanied minors in the United States, and the care, custody, and placement of unaccompanied children has been transferred to the Office of Refugee Resettlement, a separate agency within the Department of Health and Human Services that has a long history of dealing with the care and placement of refugee children. AI and many other organizations have long advocated that the responsibility for the care of unaccompanied children be transferred from INS to an agency that is not also seeking to remove the child from the country.

Despite this important step in the right direction, it is the just the first step in a long journey that the U.S. government needs to undertake to ensure that unaccompanied children are treated in accordance with international law and U.S. standards. Although recent legislation radically restructures the system, it is too soon to say whether the overall effect for children will be positive. The change that took place on March 1, 2003, has not as yet directly affected this vulnerable population as they move through an immigration system that is arguably more complex. The ORR has inherited a network of facilities that the former INS used to house

⁹ See, e.g., Women's Commission for Refugee Women and Children, *Prison Guard or Parent: INS Treatment of Unaccompanied Refugee Children*, New York, May 2002.

¹⁰ Homeland Security Act of 2002, Pub. L. 107-296 (H.R. 5005), signed into law by President George W. Bush 11/25/02.

¹¹ BCBP and BICE fall under the Directorate of Border and Transportation Security (BTS) within the Department of Homeland Security and report to the Under Secretary for Border and Transportation Security, Asa Hutchinson. See Homeland Security Act of 2002, Pub. L. No. 107-296 (H.R. 5005), Title IV, Sec. 401 *et seq.* and Sec. 451 *et seq.*

¹² The Director of BCIS reports directly to the Deputy Secretary of the Department of Homeland Security, Gordon England. Both BICE and BCIS operate from the locations of the 33 INS District Offices and three Regional Offices. Interim Regional and District Directors for Interior Enforcement have been appointed as have Interim Regional and District Directors for BCIS.

¹³ Homeland Security Act of 2002, Pub. L. No. 107–296 (H.R. 5005), Sec.462 (g)(2)(a-c).

¹⁴ Including Human Rights Watch, Women's Commission for Refugee Women and Children, American Bar Association, Lutheran Immigration and Refugee Services, United States Conference of Catholic Bishops (USCCB), Senator Dianne Feinstein, Senator Edward M. Kennedy. The provisions relating to unaccompanied children that were included in the Homeland Security Act of 2002 were incorporated in part from a bill introduced by Senator Feinstein, Unaccompanied Alien Child Protection Act S.121. It should be noted that some important provisions contained in S.121 never made it into the HSA; see chapter 8 for more commentary.

unaccompanied children. Many children still remain in those detention centers and jails throughout the U.S. Furthermore, unaccompanied children will continue to encounter immigration enforcement, now operated through the Department of Homeland Security. Children may still be shackled when they are taken to court, where they have to present their cases without a lawyer or an adult to guide them.

1.3 Amnesty International Report Summary

This report examines the problems with the previous system and highlights problems that remain ongoing despite legislative change. An overview of international and U.S. standards is presented, as well as an overview of the existing detention system used to house unaccompanied children in the hope that lessons can be learned and immediate steps taken to remove children from facilities that are clearly inappropriate to their needs and fail to ensure they are treated humanely, with dignity and respect. The report will also address a number of other concerns about the way the United States currently treats unaccompanied children, including release decisions and the critical need to receive assistance in the form of a lawyer and a guardian as the children navigate the U.S. immigration system. It is hoped that this report will enable the U.S. government to learn from the shortfalls in the former INS system and work urgently to address the problems. Full recommendations are made at the end of this report.

2. BACKGROUND: U.S. AND INTERNATIONAL LAW

In this report, "child," "juvenile," and "youth" are used to describe people under the age of eighteen, in accordance with international legal standards and most countries in the world, which have set the legal age of majority or adulthood at eighteen. Most other non-governmental organizations (NGOs) and children's rights groups also use this definition. This chapter will present an overview of the circumstances in which children may flee their home countries, the international obligations to protect children, the legal framework currently in place in the U.S. that offers children at risk various forms of protection from being returned to their home countries, as well as an overview of the standards relevant to the detention of children. As will be noted in subsequent chapters of this report, U.S. laws, policies, and practices frequently violate the fundamental rights of unaccompanied children, including those seeking asylum.

2.1 Unaccompanied Children

Malik is from Guinea in West Africa, and came to the United States at the age of sixteen seeking asylum because of persecution he and his family suffered in Guinea and the persecution and serious harm he will likely face should he be returned to Guinea. Malik's family was singled out for persecution in 1998 as part of a well-publicized incident in which the Guinean government destroyed several thousand homes and reportedly displaced 120,000 Guineans in particular areas of the country. Upon arrival at Dulles International Airport in Washington, D.C., the INS imprisoned him in an adult prison in Arlington, Virginia, and placed him in removal proceedings. He was then seemingly forgotten by the INS, remaining in detention for nine months before having his first hearing before an immigration judge after older inmates, feeling sorry for the boy, helped him write to an attorney to get help. Despite producing a birth certificate showing his age to be under eighteen, the INS refused to transfer him to a juvenile facility. The INS based its claim that he was not a juvenile on bone and X-ray evaluations, which have often been

¹⁵ For example, the Convention on the Rights of the Child applies to people under eighteen, "unless under the law applicable to the child, majority is attained earlier" (Article 1); the UN Rules for the Protection of Juveniles Deprived of Their Liberty apply to every person under eighteen.

discredited by scientific studies. A psychological evaluation has further shown that Malik suffers from moderate mental retardation. During his time in adult detention, he was reportedly abused by older inmates, and, on one occasion, beaten and pepper-sprayed by guards. According to his lawyers, these incidents have made Malik become even more fearful, confused, and depressed. Malik still remains in detention over two years since his initial detention. ¹⁶

The unaccompanied children who arrive in the U.S. are not only alone but frequently are traumatized by what they have experienced. It is estimated that around half of the world's refugee population are children, yet their rights and special protection needs as children are often neglected. Refugees typically flee from their homes because they are in danger of being killed, raped, abducted, imprisoned, or tortured, often leaving behind everything they have. Unaccompanied children reportedly represent an estimated 2 to 5 percent of the refugee children population and will have often suffered from similar forms of abuse in the context of wars and gross human rights violations. 18 They may have lost their families to conflict, human rights abuses, or the chaos of displacement, and sometimes their families send them away to escape such violence. Certain human rights violations inflicted on children may be age-specific, such as recruitment as child soldiers, child prostitution, child labor, slavery, trafficking, or abuses as street children. Unaccompanied children are in a particularly vulnerable position by being at risk not only as refugees but also as children, separated from their parents or other caregivers. Their experience of flight frequently adds to their hardships and emotional trauma; flight leaves children susceptible to violence, to disruption of community and social structures, and to a shortage of basic resources, all of which affect their physical and psychological development. For some unaccompanied children, their families are the source of abuse; they have been forced to flee because they have been severely abused, abandoned, or neglected. Other children may be fleeing primarily for economic reasons. Often children flee a combination of adverse circumstances reinforced by poverty.

Regardless of their reasons for flight, their mode of arrival or country of origin, children who arrive alone in the U.S. are a population in need of care that is sensitive to their age, previous experiences, culture, and displacement. All children have fundamental human rights, including the right to due process and to be treated humanely. Concerns raised in this report apply to all unaccompanied children in immigration detention; however, children seeking asylum require particular consideration.

2.2 International Law and Standards

The international community has adopted minimum standards to govern the conduct of states. These are based on the precept that human rights are an international responsibility, not simply internal matters. International human rights standards articulate the criteria against which the conduct of any state—including the U.S.—should be measured. The human rights of children are specified in a number of international treaties and other instruments.

Regardless of age, according to Article 14 of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, everyone has the right to seek and enjoy asylum if they are forced to flee their country to escape

¹⁶ Amnesty International, Refugee Action, 3/29/02. Materials made available to AI from the law firm of Latham & Watkins, 3/19/02. Latham & Watkins works on children's immigration detention issues as a comprehensive national pro bono project. The firm is also counsel to the Women's Commission for Refugee Women and Children and co-counsel to the Center for Human Rights and Constitutional Law on the *Flores v. Reno* class action settlement.

¹⁷ UNHCR, Statistical Yearbook 2001, 2002.

¹⁸ UNHCR, Refugee Protection: A Guide to International Refugee Law, 1991.

persecution. The UN Convention relating to the Status of Refugees (Refugee Convention, 1951) provides that no one should be returned to a country where he or she would be at risk of serious human rights abuses. The U.S. accepts this principle and was one of the main architects of the international system of refugee protection. Yet U.S. authorities violate the fundamental human rights of asylum-seekers, including children seeking asylum, as will be shown in this report. 20

Article 31 of the Refugee Convention provides that states should not penalize refugees who enter the country illegally, having come directly from a territory where their life or freedom was threatened, provided they present themselves without delay to the authorities and show good cause for their illegal entry or presence. Article 31 further provides a presumption against detention in that it requires that states do not restrict the movements of refugees "other than those which are necessary." The U.S. acceded to the 1967 Protocol to the 1951 UN Convention Relating to the Status of Refugees (the Refugee Convention), by which it undertook to apply Articles 2 to 34 of the Refugee Convention in 1968. The U.S. is a member of UNHCR's Executive Committee (EXCOM), an intergovernmental body of more than 50 states. EXCOM's conclusions are adopted by consensus and are regarded as authoritative in the field of refugee rights. EXCOM has stated that the detention of asylum-seekers should normally be avoided. Detention is allowed by international standards on a strictly limited basis²² and the onus is on the detaining authorities to demonstrate why other measures short of detention are not sufficient. Detention is allowed by international standards only if necessary, and if it is lawful and not arbitrary, and if it is for one of the following reasons:

- (i) to verify identify;²³
- (ii) to determine the elements on which the claim to refugee status or asylum is based:²⁴
- (iii) to deal with cases where refugees or asylum-seekers have destroyed their travel or identity documents or how have used fraudulent documents in order to mislead the authorities of the State in which they intend to claim asylum;²⁵
- (iv) to protect national security or public order.²⁶

Moreover, even if an asylum-seeker is detained legitimately, detention should not continue for longer than is necessary. For example, detention "to verify identity" or "to determine the elements on which the claim to refugee status or asylum is based" should be permitted only until a preliminary interview can be carried out. In most cases, this should not

²² EXCOM Conclusion 44(b).

¹⁹ In 1980 Congress amended the Immigration and Nationality Act, which governs immigration and refugee issues, to bring it into line with the 1967 Protocol. However, the Illegal Immigration Reform and Immigrant Responsibility Act of 1996 (IIRIRA) significantly revised the Immigration and Nationality Act.

²⁰ See also Amnesty International USA, *Lost in the Labyrinth: Detention of Asylum Seekers*, July 1999.

²¹ EXCOM Conclusion 44.

²³ This relates to cases where identity may be undetermined or in dispute.

²⁴ This means that the asylum-seeker may be detained exclusively for the purposes of a preliminary interview to identify the basis of the asylum claim. This would involve obtaining essential facts from the asylum-seeker as to why asylum is being sought and would not extend to a determination of the merits or otherwise of the claim. This exception to the general principle cannot be used to justify detention for the entire status determination procedure, or for an unlimited period.

²⁵ What must be established is the absence of good faith on the part of the applicant to comply with the verification of identity process. In regard to asylum-seekers using fraudulent documents or traveling with no documents at all, detention is only permissible when there is an intention to mislead, or a refusal to cooperate with the authorities. Asylum-seekers who arrive without documentation because they are unable to obtain papers in their country of origin should not be detained solely for that reason.

²⁶ This relates to cases where there is evidence that the asylum-seeker has criminal antecedents and/or affiliations that are likely to pose a risk to public order or national security should he or she be allowed entry.

require more than one or two days.²⁷ The 1999 UNHCR Guidelines on Applicable Criteria and standards relating to the Detention of Asylum Seekers (see below) are based on the general principle that asylum-seekers should not be detained. It is UNHCR's policy that refugee children should not be detained.²⁸ The Refugee Convention, EXCOM Conclusions, and the UNCHR Guidelines provide ample basis for arguing that asylum-seekers should not be detained and that detention is an exceptional measure, subject to severe limitations.

Freedom from arbitrary arrest or detention is a fundamental human right and is enshrined in Articles 3 and 9 of the 1948 Universal Declaration of Human Rights. Subsequent international standards, notably the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights (ICCPR), recognize that the right to liberty is linked to freedom from arbitrary detention.²⁹ The ICCPR is the principal international treaty setting out fundamental civil and political rights. The U.S. ratified the ICCPR in 1992, but it reserved the right to refrain from implementing certain provisions or to restrict their application.³⁰ The U.S. did not, however, make a reservation to Article 9, which is of particular importance to children in immigration detention, and provides:

- Article 9.1 Everyone has the right to liberty and security of the person. No one shall be subject to arbitrary arrest or detention. No one shall be deprived of his liberty except on such grounds and in accordance with such procedures as are established by law.
- Article 9.4 Anyone who is deprived of his liberty by arrest or detention shall be entitled to take proceedings before a court, in order that that court may decide without delay on the lawfulness of his detention and order his release if the detention is not lawful.

The Human Rights Committee, the expert body that monitors the implementation of the ICCPR, made clear in its General Comment on Article 9 that it applies to immigration control. The Committee has defined arbitrariness as not merely being against the law but as including elements of inappropriateness, injustice, and lack of predictability.

The detention of asylum-seekers in the U.S. should be assessed on the basis of decision of the Human Rights Committee in *A v. Australia*.³¹ The Human Rights Committee determined that the detention of a Cambodian asylum-seeker for over four years was arbitrary. The Committee noted that the detention policy of Australia was not per se arbitrary within the meaning of Article 9(1) of the ICCPR, but the Committee set limits on the power of a state. In particular, the Committee found that "remand in custody could be considered arbitrary if it is not necessary in all the circumstances of the case, for example, to prevent flight or interference with evidence: the element of proportionality becomes relevant in the context." Furthermore, the Committee found that detention should be reviewed periodically so that the grounds justifying detention can be assessed. The Committee determined that a state party may not justify indefinite and prolonged detention on the grounds that an asylum-seeker entered the country

³⁰ The U.S. has declared that it will apply the ICCPR only to the extent that domestic law allows, effectively rendering this international treaty meaningless as a means of strengthening human rights protection in the U.S. In addition, the U.S. has not signed the First Optional Protocol to the ICCPR which allows individuals to bring complaints against a government for a violation of rights guaranteed by the ICCPR.

9

²⁷ A letter from UNHCR (signed by Ghassan Aranout, Division of Refugee Law and Doctrine) to the European Consultation on Refugees and Exiles of 1/8/87 states that this criterion "means that a person may, if necessary, be detained to undergo a preliminary interview. It does not justify the detention of a person for the entire duration of a prolonged asylum procedure."

²⁸ UNHCR, Refugee Children: Guidelines on Protection and Care, 1994, Chapter 7, Section IV. "Detention."

²⁹ ICCPR, Article 9.

³¹ CCPR/C/59/D/560/1993, 4/30/97.

³² Ibid. at par. 9.2.

³³ Ibid. at par. 9.4.

unlawfully, and that there would be a perceived incentive for the asylum-seeker to abscond if left in liberty. The form of review must be "in its effects, real and not merely formal."³⁴

Protection in international law against arbitrary detention is particularly strong in relation to children. The Working Group on Arbitrary Detention has stated that unaccompanied minors should never be detained.³⁵ The Convention on the Rights of the Child permits detention of a child only "in conformity with the law [...] as a measure of last resort and for the shortest appropriate period of time."³⁶ The obligations include that every child "deprived of liberty shall be treated with humanity and respect for the inherent dignity of the human person, and in a manner which takes into account the needs of persons of his or her age."37 Children, like adults, also have the explicit right to prompt legal assistance and to challenge the legality of their detention before a court or other independent and impartial authority. 38 Various international standards stipulate that if detention is necessary, this should be demonstrated by means of a prompt and fair individual hearing before a judicial or similar authority.³⁹

International law and standards provide that all persons who are arrested or detained should be informed immediately of the reasons for the detention and notified of their rights, including the right of prompt access to and assistance of a lawyer; the right to communicate and receive visits; the right to inform family members of the detention and place of confinement; and the right of foreign nationals to contact their embassy or an international organization. These rights are contained, inter alia, under Article 9 of the ICCPR, the UN Body of Principles for the Protection of All Persons Under Any Form of Detention or Imprisonment, adopted by consensus by the UN General Assembly in 1988. UNHCR Guidelines provide that unaccompanied children should receive legal representation and, in the absence of a traditional caregiver, should be appointed a guardian.

The ICCPR also includes the right not to be subjected to torture or cruel, inhuman, and degrading treatment or punishment (Article 7), and requires that anyone deprived of their liberty must be treated with humanity, and that unconvicted persons should be segregated from convicted persons (Article 10). Furthermore, the U.S. ratified the UN Convention Against Torture in 1994. This treaty requires states to prohibit and punish torture in law and in practice. States must investigate whenever reasonable grounds exist to believe that torture, or cruel, inhuman, or degrading treatment has been committed, and must bring those responsible to justice.

Children are entitled to even higher levels of protection: international standards guarantee children protection from all forms of violence, whatever the reason, whoever the perpetrator. The CRC is the most important treaty for the protection of the human rights of children and illustrates how international standards have been developed with specific reference to children. It is the only human rights treaty to come close to achieving universal ratification.⁴⁰ It has been ratified by every country in the world except the collapsed state of Somalia (which has had no government

35 See Working Group on Arbitrary Detention, Report on the Visit of the Working Group to the United Kingdom on the Issue of Immigrants and Asylum-Seekers, E/CN.4/1999/63/Add.3, 12/18/98.

³⁴ Ibid. at par. 9.5.

³⁶ CRC, Article 37 (b).

³⁷ CRC, Article 37 (c).

³⁸ CRC, Article 37 (d).

³⁹ ICCPR, Article 14; Body of Principles for the Protection of all Persons Under Any Form of Detention or Imprisonment, Principle 11.

⁴⁰ Such widespread support confirms that there is a consensus possible in regard to the protection of children and their rights. Enunciating and confirming children's rights is no more than a first step; work must also be to ensure that these rights are implemented. The CRC may be the most widely ratified human rights treaty in the world, but it is still a long way from universal acceptance to universal observance.

since 1991) and the U.S. Although the U.S. has failed to ratify the CRC, it signed the Convention in February 1995. As a signatory, the U.S. is obliged under international law to refrain from acts that would defeat the object and purpose of the treaty.⁴¹ Thus, although the CRC is not formally binding upon the U.S., its provisions still carry significant weight. The CRC represents an international consensus on child rights, and therefore cannot be completely disregarded by the U.S.⁴² Accordingly, AI considers that the treaty provides a proper basis for the examination of laws, policies, and practices of U.S. authorities.

The notion of special childhood rights derives from the universal recognition that children, by reason of their physical and emotional immaturity, are dependent on their family and community and, more broadly, on adult structures of political and economic power to safeguard their well-being. Article 19 of the CRC obliges state parties to protect children from "all forms of physical or mental violence, injury, or abuse, including sexual abuse, while in the care of parent(s), legal guardian(s), or any other person who has the care of the child." AI holds that the state's responsibility to take effective steps to protect children from all forms of violence extends to domestic violence amounting to torture or ill treatment. Children are entitled to adult protection, but they are not adult property: children also have the right to make decisions on their own behalf in accordance with their maturity. Children have the right to be heard and to have their own opinions on matters affecting them taken into account "in accordance with the age and maturity of the child." One of the guiding principles in the CRC is that the "best interests of the child" should be a primary consideration in all decisions and procedures related to the child.

In addition to the provisions of international law, many human rights requirements are contained in non-treaty standards adopted by consensus by the international community. These have the authoritative value and persuasive force of their adoption by political bodies such as the UN General Assembly, even through they do not technically have the legal power of treaties, except insofar as they reflect customary international law. These include, but are not limited to, the UN Standard Minimum Rules for the Treatment of Prisoners; the UN Standard Minimum Rules for the Administration of Juvenile Justice (commonly called the "Beijing Rules"); the UN Body of Principles for the Protection of All Persons Under Any Form of Detention or Imprisonment (Body of Principles); and the UN Rules for the Protection of Juveniles Deprived of Their Liberty. The UNHCR has also issued a set of authoritative guidelines on issues pertaining to the detention and treatment of asylum-seekers, which are referred to throughout this report: the 1999 UNHCR Guidelines on Applicable Criteria and Standards Relating to the Detention of Asylum Seekers; the 1994 UNHCR Refugee Children: Guidelines on Protection and Care; and the 1997 UNHCR Guidelines on Policies and Procedures in Dealing with Unaccompanied Children Seeking Asylum.

2.3 Overview of U.S. Immigration System: Forms of Relief Available to Unaccompanied Children

When immigration enforcement officials take an unaccompanied child into custody they must notify the child that he or she has a right to a hearing before an immigration judge who will determine if the child will be allowed to remain in the United States.⁴³ These adversarial hearings

⁴¹ Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties, Article 18, 1980.

⁴² The CRC has been ratified by all but two countries; it was adopted unanimously by the UN General Assembly after a long process, with a large number of countries actively involved; the importance of the Convention as a guide for work on behalf of children was underlined by 71 Heads of State/Government plus observers at the World Summit for Children. See also UNICEF, http://www.unicef.org/crc/process.htm.

⁴³ Although all juveniles are entitled to a hearing, many decline that right and elect to voluntarily return to their country of origin.

are known as "removal proceedings" and are initiated by immigration enforcement authorities (formerly the INS, now BICE) seeking to remove the child from the U.S. Thousands of children are placed into removal proceedings every year, including all unaccompanied children who arrive at the U.S. border without appropriate documentation (a reality for many asylum-seekers).⁴⁴ The Executive Office of Immigration Review (EOIR) within the Department of Justice (DOJ) has exclusive jurisdiction over the cases of individuals placed in removal proceedings.

Children must then seek asylum or other forms of relief as a "defense against removal" from the U.S., such as withholding from removal under the Convention Against Torture. Children may also be eligible to remain in the U.S. if they apply and qualify for other avenues of relief, including Special Immigrant Juvenile (SIJ) status, if they have been abused, abandoned, or neglected, or if they are victims of trafficking and certain serious crimes. During removal hearings, an immigration judge considers any claim for relief from removal that the juvenile may put forward. If a judge denies relief from removal, the child may be allowed to leave the U.S. voluntarily, or he or she may be ordered removed from the country. As will be noted, the basis of making such claims are complex and difficult to present without the assistance of a lawyer trained in immigration law. (See chapter 7 for a discussion about lack of legal representation and immigration removal proceedings.) The following represents some of the claims that children are entitled to seek under U.S. law to avoid removal (deportation) to their home countries.

2.3.1 Asylum

"Deportation is a harsh measure; it is all the more replete with danger when an alien makes a claim that he or she will be subject to persecution if forced to return to his or her home country." - U.S. Supreme Court, INS v. Cardoza-Fonseca⁴⁷

To qualify for political asylum, a child must, like any other applicant, establish that he or she meets the definition of refugee contained in article 1A(2) of the Refugee Convention, as codified by U.S. domestic law. U.S. law defines a refugee as a person who is unable or unwilling to return to his or her country of origin or last habitual residence because of persecution or a well-founded fear of persecution on account of race, religion, nationality, membership in a particular social group, or political opinion. A child must thus prove that he or she has been persecuted in the past or has a well-founded fear of being persecuted in the future and that the persecution is on account of one of the five enumerated grounds. The child must also show that

⁴⁴ Children placed in removal proceedings include those who arrive at U.S. borders without documents or proper documents, as well as those who are apprehended in the U.S. by immigration authorities for being "out of status," including those who entered the country without inspection by the INS or have have overstayed their visas.

⁴⁵ Certain forms of relief are not within the jurisdiction of immigration judges. Some forms of relief are within the EOIR's exclusive jurisdiction, others are coterminous with the DHS, and still more lie within the exclusive jurisdiction of the DHS. See Christopher Nugent and Steven Shulman, *Giving Voice to the Vulnerable: On Representing Detained Immigrant and Refugee Children*, Interpreter Releases, 10/8/01.

⁴⁶ A right exists to appeal to the Board of Immigration Appeals.

⁴⁷ *INS v. Cardoza-Fonseca*, 480 U.S. 421, 449 (1987). However, the Court has also made clear that immigration proceedings are purely civil actions to determine eligibility to remain in the U.S. These are not criminal actions, and as such, an alien facing removal is not accorded the same level of protection as that given to a defendant in a U.S. criminal trial.

⁴⁸ Refugee Convention, Article 1A(2), defines a refugee as a person who "owing to well-founded fear of being persecuted for reasons of race, religion, nationality, membership of a particular social group or political opinion, is outside the country of his nationality and is unable or, owing to such fear, is unwilling to avail himself of the persecution of that country; or who, not having a nationality and being outside the country of his former habitual residence [as a result of such events] is unable or owing to such fear, is unwilling to return to it." Codified in U.S. law at Immigration and Nationality Act, Sec. 101(a)(42).

the persecution feared is either at the hands of the government or of an agent that the government is unable or unwilling to control.

For some children, the fact that they are children may be central to their claim. For example, human rights violations inflicted on children may be age-specific, such as recruitment as child soldiers or abuses as street children. In other cases, abuses and behaviors that may not qualify as persecution when targeted at adults may amount to a well-founded fear of persecution when applied to children. The child-centered and rights-based approach contained in the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child (1989) should inform the application of the concept of persecution to children. The current adult-centered approach to asylum claims, however, often fails adequately to address these situations, just as the male-centered approach to asylum neglected the specific gender-related claims of women asylum applicants. Specific regulations related to gender-related asylum claims were developed and these are still under consideration by the U.S. attorney general.⁴⁹ AI recommends that regulations be developed in order to deal with children's asylum claims or that the Guidelines for Children's Asylum Claims (see 2.3.2 below) be formalized into regulations and therefore made binding.

2.3.2 Guidelines for Children's Asylum Claims

In 1998, the INS adopted guidelines for asylum officers to use in adjudicating children's claims. So Known as the Guidelines for Children's Asylum Claims, these establish legal, evidentiary, and procedural standards with relevance to child applicants for asylum that include credibility determinations, presence of a trusted adult during all interviews, and "child-sensitive" questioning and listening. They draw heavily on international law and standards, including the Universal Declaration of Human Rights and the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child.

The Guidelines were a critical step toward compliance with international standards. However, they have a number of limitations. For example, they are nonbinding, they fail to ensure that the "best interests" of the child are paramount, and are only used when determining certain children's claims, namely, children who make what is known as an "affirmative" application for asylum. In order to make an affirmative application of asylum a child must be already be in the U.S. (either with or without legal immigration status) and then present him or herself to the immigration authorities and request asylum. (The Guidelines do not apply to children who have been arrested by the immigration enforcement authorities and placed in removal proceedings.)⁵¹ In such cases INS Asylum Officers are then responsible for an initial nonadversarial adjudication of the child's asylum claim aided by the Guidelines. Asylum officers will now be based in the Bureau of Citizenship and Immigration Services.

Many children, however, have to present their cases in immigration court "removal" proceedings before immigration judges who are not required to follow the Guidelines in their

⁴⁹ Former Attorney General Janet Reno issued proposed regulations clarifying that victims of domestic violence and other gender-related persecution are eligible for asylum. All strongly supported the proposed regulations, but final regulations were never issued. There are currently concerns that Attorney General John Ashcroft plans to issue new regulations that would reverse current policy and drastically reduce the scope of claims based on gender-related persecution. This would be in conflict with recent UNHCR guidelines on gender-related persecution.

⁵⁰ The U.S. is only the second country in the world to establish a framework for the consideration of children's asylum claims. Canada has also issued guidelines.

⁵¹ Children who may have entered the U.S. without inspection by the immigration authorities or who may have overstayed a visa can also apply under the affirmative procedure, provided they file such an application voluntarily and not after being apprehended by enforcement officials for being out of status.

decision making.⁵² Children who arrive without appropriate documentation at a U.S. border are placed in removal proceedings. AI calls upon the EOIR⁵³ to adopt the Guidelines for use in immigration courts adjudicating children's claims for relief from removal from the U.S. All immigration officers and personnel within the Department of Homeland Security who come into contact with children should receive special training on the special needs and circumstances of child asylum-seekers.⁵⁴

2.3.3 Additional Forms of Relief for Children at Risk

U.S. law provides additional forms of relief for unaccompanied children who may be at risk if they were to be returned to their home countries.

Special Immigrant Juvenile Status

Isau, age fifteen, fled Honduras and came to the United States reportedly to escape severe abuse at the hands of his stepfather and persecution by government death squads and youth gangs. His stepfather reportedly beat him with pieces of wood, rods, and a machete handle and burned him with various hot objects. His mother would allegedly disappear for months, leaving Isau at the mercy of his stepfather. Isau finally fled his stepfather's home and began living on the streets where he faced harassment from the authorities and gangs. The INS apprehended Isau upon his arrival in the U.S. and has denied him access to juvenile court, which could determine whether he was abused, abandoned, or neglected and eligible for long-term foster care; a finding that potentially would allow him to remain in the U.S. Isau has been in detention for over two years.⁵⁵

Children who have been the victims of abuse, abandonment, or neglect may be eligible to obtain relief from removal from the U.S. under the provisions of what is known as a Special Immigrant Juvenile (SIJ) status.⁵⁶ Children who have been victims of domestic violence or suffered abuses as street children may be eligible for SIJ status.⁵⁷

In order to pursue this avenue of relief, children must apply to a U.S. juvenile court for a finding that they are eligible for long-term foster care because they have been abused, abandoned, or neglected and that it is not in the child's best interests to be returned to his or her home country. If the court makes such a finding, the child can then present an SIJ status application to the immigration authorities (formerly the INS, now DHS). If granted, the child will receive lawful permanent residence. Before taking these steps to secure SIJ status, however, the child must receive "consent." In 1997, Congress amended the SIJ provision and made it a requirement that before a child is allowed to go into juvenile court, the child must obtain the "express consent" of

⁵² Michael F. Rahill, *What Child Is This?: How Immigration Courts Respond to Unaccompanied Minors*, Office of the Chief Immigration Judge, Institute for Court Management, Court Executive Development Program, Phase III Project, May 2000.

⁵³ The Homeland Security Act of 2002 recognizes the Executive Office of Immigration Review (EOIR) as an agency under the Department of Justice (DOJ) rather than transferring it to the Department of Homeland Security.

⁵⁴ Some immigration officers who encounter unaccompanied children at the border, airports, or within the U.S., have not been trained in the rights of children and their special circumstances as outlined in the Guidelines.

⁵⁵ Women's Commission for Women and Children Refugees, May 2002; AI interview with Isau, BCYC, September 2002, and attorney correspondence, April 2003.

⁵⁶ Immigration and Nationality Act (INA), Sec. 101(a) (27) (J). Eligibility results in lawful permanent residence.

⁵⁷ Many children who apply for asylum may also be eligible for SIJ status, and attorneys representing children will frequently pursue simultaneously both forms of relief.

the INS.⁵⁸ Thereafter, INS district directors, with little or no child welfare expertise, were required to grant consent if entering into such proceedings would be in the "best interests" of the child.⁵⁹ Many advocates have reported that the INS hindered or prevented many children seeking access to this form of relief by denying or delaying decisions regarding consent. The determination on the veracity of a juvenile's claim of abuse rests with a juvenile state court. The INS, however, exercised considerable authority over a child's ability to seek this form of relief. Often decisions were arbitrary, depending on which district in the U.S. the application for consent was made. For example, it was reported that until October 2002 the INS in Florida had never given consent for a child to go to juvenile court. The written decisions denying consent reportedly often accused the children of fraud and demonstrated an inherent distrust of children in custody.⁶⁰ AI believes that any children who may be eligible for relief should be given an opportunity to present such a claim before an independent tribunal for consideration. Delays have resulted in children spending considerable periods of time in detention; for example, decisions regarding consent have taken as long as ten months while the child remains in detention.⁶¹

Furthermore, it appears that the requirement to obtain consent only applies to children in "actual or constructive" custody (children detained by the immigration authorities). The former INS did not appear to take the position that a child is in constructive custody if the child was once in INS custody but had since been released to a relative or guardian. ⁶² AI believes that this may have a discriminatory effect on children in detention because it presents a further hurdle to overcome in order to obtain relief. Further, the issue of whether consent is actually required before a child can pursue this avenue should be reexamined.

It is understood that the ORR will provide such consent in the future. AI recommends that any decisions regarding "consent" for children to pursue SIJ relief should be made only by individuals with child welfare expertise and experience. All decisions must be made expeditiously and AI recommends that the ORR be required to respond to any requests made within a defined and strictly limited time frame.

Trafficked/Abused Children

"When a child's life or liberty or innocence is taken, it is a terrible, terrible loss. And those responsible have committed a terrible crime. Our society has a duty, has a solemn duty, to shield children from exploitation and danger.... Our first duty as adults is to create an environment in which children can grow and thrive without fearing for their security. That's what we've got to do. Because children are so vulnerable, they need the care of adults. Because they're so vulnerable, those who are cruel and predatory often target our children....

Each year about a million girls and boys are trafficked for commercial sexual exploitation and forced labor. Such trafficking is nothing less than a modern form of slavery, an

The actual requirement is that the consent of the U.S. attorney general must be obtained; however, the authority to provide consent was delegated to the INS and is now understood to be part of the ORR's functions since they now have custody of unaccompanied children. See also Immigration and Nationality Act, Sec. 101 (a)(27)(J), 1990, and the Homeland Security Act of 2002.

⁵⁹ See Thomas E. Cook, Acting Assistant Commissioner, Adjudications Division, Immigration and Naturalization Service, Memorandum of 7/9/99.

⁶⁰ FIAC, "I running out of hopely..." Profiles of Children in INS Detention in Florida, Miami, October 2002. Pg. 4.

⁶² See Pamela Kemp Parker, *The Road to Permanent Resident Status for Undocumented Foster Children—Special Immigrant Juvenile Status*, ABA Child Law Practice 21(6), August 2002; and Immigrant Legal Resource Center, *Special Immigrant Juvenile Status for Children Under Juvenile Court Jurisdiction*, Sec. 1.9, May 2001.

unspeakable and unforgivable crime against the most vulnerable members of the global society. All these dangers put children at risk. All these dangers demand action to protect our children from harm."

- President George W. Bush, Remarks at White House Conference on Missing, Exploited, and Runaway Children, Ronald Reagan Building, Washington, D.C., October 2002

A fifteen-year-old Chinese girl was smuggled into the U.S. by boat. Her parents sent her from China because she was denied education and medical care as the third-born child. The INS took the girl to the Donald E. Long Juvenile Detention Center in Portland where she had difficulties communicating; she was forced to wear the same gray uniform as the juvenile offenders and was handcuffed when she was taken to immigration court. Although a U.S. citizen uncle was willing to take care of her, she spent over seven months in detention before being released into foster care.⁶³

U.S. immigration law also provides an additional form of relief for unaccompanied children who are the victims of trafficking and/or child abuse. The Victims of Trafficking and Violence Protection Act (2000) provides two forms of protection. Victims of severe forms of trafficking may be eligible for a "T" visa if they can demonstrate that they would suffer unusual or severe harm if they were removed from the United States. Victims of a range of criminal acts who have suffered substantial physical or mental abuse because of that criminal activity may be eligible for a "U" visa, if they help and cooperate in a criminal investigation. Victims of domestic abuse and victims of trafficking, including children, may therefore be eligible for these additional forms of protection.

The INS does not track the types of relief from removal sought by children in its custody. Many children are not necessarily even aware that they may pursue asylum or special immigrant juvenile status or that relief is available for victims of trafficking and abuse. It is therefore impossible to know how many children in detention in the U.S. are seeking asylum and/or other forms of relief. All children should have an opportunity to be properly advised of all potential avenues of relief, and no child should be removed from the U.S. without an opportunity to participate fully in his or her claim as it is properly assessed before an immigration judge.

2.4 Overview of U.S. Framework for the Care of Unaccompanied Children (*Flores*)

Flores et al. v. Janet Reno is a class action lawsuit that was filed against the former INS in 1985. It challenged several aspects of former INS policy dealing with unaccompanied children in the custody of immigration authorities and resulted in a settlement agreement. The Flores agreement sets out nationwide policy for the detention and release and treatment of children in immigration custody. 66

Flores is based on the premise that immigration authorities must treat children in their custody with "dignity, respect, and special concern for their vulnerability as minors." The detailed agreement became effective in February 1997 and placed essentially three specific

⁶³ Julie Sullivan, Chinese Girl Waits in Portland Jail for Months Despite Getting Asylum, The Oregonian, 12/10/99. This child was granted asylum.

⁶⁴ Victims of Trafficking and Violence Protection Act of 2000, Pub. L. no. 106–396, 114 Stat. 1464.

⁶⁵ Children under fifteen are exempted from this provision. Victims of Trafficking and Violence Protection Act of 2000, Sec. 107(e)(1)(C)(III)(bb).

⁶⁶ Stipulated Settlement Agreement, *Flores v. Reno*, Case No. CV85-4544-RJK (C.D. Cal. 1996). (Hereinafter cited as *Flores*.)

obligations on the former INS to: (1) ensure the prompt release of children from immigration detention; (2) place children for whom release is pending, or for whom no release option is available, in the "least restrictive" setting appropriate to the age and special needs of minors; and (3) implement standards relating to care and treatment of children in U.S. immigration detention. Flores stipulates various requirements relating to standards of treatment, including transportation arrangements, access to legal representation, telephones, health care, counseling, education, recreation, and religious services.⁶

Flores requires that the detailed provisions in the settlement be incorporated into a regulation in order to ensure a legal framework to guide the treatment of unaccompanied children. The former INS failed to promulgate regulations and the Flores settlement was set to expire in early 2002. The expiration of the Flores settlement had potential serious consequences, as it would have eliminated the existence of any legal framework to guide the treatment of unaccompanied children. In December 2001 the settlement agreement was extended by stipulation with the INS until 45 days after the adoption of final regulations incorporating its substantive provisions.⁶⁸ It is important that the *Flores* settlement now be incorporated into a regulation as soon as practicable. Care must be taken to ensure that the regulation includes all the guarantees provided for in the settlement agreement. In 2000, the DOJ developed fairly comprehensive detention standards for adults in immigration detention: the ORR should ensure that some of the more detailed adult standards—for example, those which provide for improved access to legal counsel—be incorporated into the regulations.⁶⁹ AI also calls for any such regulation to incorporate all guarantees afforded to unaccompanied children under international law and standards. The Flores settlement agreement governing the treatment of children will continue to apply to ORR as an "agreement" or "pending civil action." (See chapter 8.)

The former INS has been criticized for failing to comply with the provisions of *Flores*. The Office of the Inspector General (OIG), in the Department of Justice, concluded that while the former INS had made progress, "deficiencies in the handling of juveniles continue to exist in some INS districts, border patrol sectors and headquarters that could have potentially serious consequences for the well-being of the juveniles."

Together with the previously mentioned international standards, the Flores agreement provides a fundamental legal framework to measure U.S. compliance with regard to the treatment of unaccompanied children. The following chapters contain the findings from AI's survey of facilities used to house unaccompanied children and measures compliance with this framework, demonstrating that these problems continue.

3. UNACCOMPANIED CHILDREN AND THE U.S. DETENTION SYSTEM

The number of unaccompanied children taken into custody by U.S. immigration authorities has more than doubled in the last five years, from 2,375 in 1997 to 5,385 in 2001. On any given day it is estimated that 500 children are held in U.S. immigration detention. Children may spend months or even years in detention deprived of their liberty pending resolution of their immigration status in the U.S.

⁶⁹ These standards provide for improved conditions of confinement including, for example, the requirement that free

⁶⁷ Flores, Exhibit 1, Minimum Standards for Licensed Programs; and Exhibit 2, Instructions to Service Officers Re: Processing, Treatment, and Placement of Minors.

⁶⁸ Flores v. Ashcroft. 85-4544-RJK (C.D.Cal), Stipulation and Order, Kelleher, J., 12/1/01.

telephone calls can be made to secure legal representation. The detention standards for adults do not apply to children in immigration detention and have not been incorporated into a regulation.

The former INS developed a national network of contracted facilities to house unaccompanied children once they had been placed in removal proceedings. These facilities are categorized as either non-secure (juvenile shelter care facilities, group homes, and foster homes) or secure (secure or medium-secure juvenile detention facilities). With only limited exceptions, children must be placed in non-secure settings. However, the INS overused secure detention and failed to place many children in the "least restrictive setting required by *Flores*." Decisions on where to detain a child (placement decisions) were often arbitrary and inconsistent, with little consideration for what is in the best interests of the child

3.1 "Non-Secure" Detention

Immigration authorities contract with various nonprofit agencies to operate shelter care facilities specifically designed for children in immigration proceedings. There are currently eleven shelter care facilities, with a combined capacity of 369 beds, located in California, Texas, Georgia, Arizona, Florida, and Illinois. Additional shelter bed spaces are available through service agreements with county facilities, which primarily house non-delinquent youth in the custody of local authorities. Together with foster placements, immigration authorities have almost 500 non-secure placements available at any given time. 72

3.1.1 Shelter Care

Shelter care facilities typically offer an environment of "soft" detention. The INS reportedly described "non-secure" facilities as those "without security fences or security hardware or other major construction typically associated with correctional facilities." Children sleep in dormitory-like rooms with other children, or occasionally in private rooms, are not required to wear uniforms, and may sometimes be taken off the facility premises by staff to participate in sport events or go on educational trips. Staff closely monitors activities and the location of the children, and doors to the facilities are typically alarmed, camera security is used, and facilities are in some cases also fenced in.

Some advocates reported concerns that staff employed at INS-contracted shelter facilities often play conflicting roles with children in their care. Because the caseworkers at the shelters are typically the only adults to spend time with children in custody, the children often rely on them for support and may confide sensitive information to them relating to the disposition of their immigration cases. It has been reported that some of the confidential information relating to children's cases was shared with the former INS.

Furthermore, some shelters are characterized by procedures that correspond more in nature to the secure detention of juvenile offenders:

⁷² See Stuart Anderson, Executive Associate Commissioner, U.S. Immigration and Naturalization Service, testimony before the U.S. Senate Committee on the Judiciary, Subcommittee on Immigration, 2/28/02.

⁷⁰ The former INS used three types of contracts to secure juvenile bed space: (1) Cooperative Agreements with private for-profit and nonprofit agencies; (2) Intergovernmental Service Agreements with local government entities; and (3) Purchase Orders, used to handle "emergencies or special circumstances." The facilities that AI surveyed included all three types of contract.

⁷¹ *Flores*, Exhibit 2(b).

⁷³ U.S. Department of Justice Community Relations Service, Alien Minors Shelter Care Program, Program Guidelines and Requirements, p. 6. According to a 1/28/97 Human Rights Watch interview with INS Detention and Deportation Officer Elizabeth Herskovitz, this document was developed in 1995 to be given to all potential contracting agencies.

• Berks County Youth Center (BCYC), Pennsylvania: The proximity of the secure unit to the shelter unit and the sharing of staff between the units at this facility appeared to undermine the differences between these types of detention. John Pogash, the National Juvenile Coordinator, accompanied AI delegates on a tour of the facility and told AI that he believes that BCYC is one of the best in the country: "This is why we like Berks—if there is no way to control them, then they are placed in secure." Several of the children that AI spoke to in this shelter facility described it as being in "jail." Officials at BCYC told AI that only two or three children a year are transferred from the shelter facility to the secure unit, and one official commented that he could not remember when there was last a child who had been transferred from the shelter unit to "secure". Nevertheless, two of the children that AI interviewed at the facility had very recently been in secure detention for five weeks each; one had just returned to the shelter unit, the other had been back for about a month. ⁷⁴

3.1.2 Foster Care

Immigration authorities contract on a limited basis for foster care placements, offering approximately thirty-six spaces nationwide.⁷⁵ Two national voluntary agencies, the Lutheran Immigration and Refugee Service (LIRS) and the U.S. Conference of Catholic Bishops (USCCB) have provided services to unaccompanied minors who have been identified as being eligible for resettlement in the U.S., and, on a limited basis, to children who have been granted asylum, including those in foster care placements. The organizations assess that there is a far wider availability of foster care settings and point out that foster care (\$55 per day) is much cheaper than detention (\$200 per day). Nevertheless, they placed only 16 children in foster care in 2001.⁷⁶ The INS cited security concerns and the likelihood of the children absconding as reasons for not placing more children in foster care. However, LIRS and USCCB have reported that, in their experience, children do not abscond if appropriate services are in place to ensure that they are safe and cared for. The organizations have also criticized the INS for not following any set criteria or guidelines for determining whether a child should be placed in foster care and often do so on an ad hoc basis, usually following lengthy detention. ⁷⁷ AI believes the former INS did not fully utilize foster care as an option for housing unaccompanied immigrant children. AI urges the ORR to develop the use of this appropriate form of housing for unaccompanied children and welcomes initial reports from the agency that this is under way.

3.1.3 Hotels

AI is also concerned by reports that some children may be detained in hotels.⁷⁸ Advocates in Florida say that the average stay in a hotel used by the immigration authorities is three weeks to a month; however, in some cases individuals have been held there much longer.⁷⁹ Hotels do not

⁷⁴ AI interviews, BCYC, September 2002.

⁷⁵ Office of Inspector General, *Unaccompanied Juveniles in INS Custody*, Report no. I-2001-009, 9/28/01. There are currently 15 refugee foster care programs in the following communities: Phoenix, AZ; Washington, D.C.; Boston, MA; Grand Rapids, MI; Lansing, MI; Jackson, MS; Fargo, ND; Philadelphia, PA; Richmond, VA; Seattle, WA; Tacoma, WA, Rochester, NY; and Syracuse, NY. Source: LIRS, http://www.lirs.org/InfoRes/faq/fostercare.htm.

⁷⁶ Julianne Duncan, Director of Children's Services for Migration and Refugee Services, U.S. Conference of Catholic Bishops, testimony before the U.S. Senate Committee on the Judiciary, Subcommittee on Immigration, 28 February 2002.

⁷⁷ Ibid

⁷⁸ It appears that a number of the children held in hotels are not unaccompanied but may be placed there with family members. AI raises these concerns to highlight the treatment of children who are housed in such inappropriate conditions, regardless of whether they may be with their guardians.

⁷⁹ In one example, an Iranian mother and son were detained for more than six months.

offer the kind of amenities and services appropriate for detaining children for long periods, such as the opportunity for exercise, recreation, and education, due to their provisional and temporary nature. The children may sometimes live in almost complete isolation in such locations, and many are not able to leave their rooms or go outside at all during their time in a hotel. Advocates have reported that children are often cold because they cannot control the air conditioning in their rooms, and a number of children have gone for days without a change of clothes or underwear. It has been reported that, until recently, advocates were unable to bring games or toys for the children, which were classified as "contraband" in at least one case. Ohildren housed in hotels may also find it difficult to access legal assistance.

3.2 Secure Detention

Despite the requirements of *Flores* that emphasize release or placement in either shelter or foster care, the INS relied heavily on secure facilities to house children. Furthermore, many children often spend time in secure facilities prior to their placement in non-secure facilities or their release, which can take up to five days or in some cases even longer. 82

3.2.1 Holding Cells

Several children AI interviewed were held for days in holding cells after they were arrested. Although holding cells are temporary

by nature, AI is concerned at the inadequate and inappropriate conditions under which children may be held in such locations.⁸³ Many children reported stark facilities and inadequate services available—several reported that they were not given enough food to eat and were held in cold and dirty cells with thin and filthy



"Danny" arrived to the US from China at age 15. He is seen at the Colquitt County Jail in Moultrie, Georgia.

© Steven Rubin

mattresses and blankets. Others reported that there were adults in the same facility. One child reported sleeping on the concrete floor with three other children in a small cell.

• A.B. is a sixteen-year-old from Honduras. She was apprehended in Texas in August 2002 and was placed in a holding cell in Nuevo Laredo for two days, where she reported the blankets were very dirty. She slept on a thin mattress and a very hard cement bed. A.B. went two days without bathing; she was frightened and crying in the room.

⁸⁰ The Gatekeeper: Watch on the INS, Kids in Captivity, Village Voice, 3/5/02. Leonia, a fifteen-year-old girl housed in a hotel was reportedly not provided with a change of clothing for the nearly three months she was there.

⁸¹ FIAC reported that the INS has not responded to its request to be informed of any children placed at the hotel so that FIAC can determine whether they need legal representation. To the organization's knowledge, no one detained at the hotel is given a list of free service providers. This is provided to them at their first court hearing instead. The organization also reported difficulties in arranging visits at the hotel to provide the children with legal assistance. AI interview with FIAC, 12/18/02.

⁸² The Juvenile Protocol Manual (JPM) requires that children be placed in appropriate facilities within three days if apprehended in a district with a licensed program that has space, or otherwise five days afterward (Sec. 4.1.3). The INS was successful in timely placement for 90 percent of juveniles in 2000. It took between four and 333 days to place the remaining 358 juveniles. Delays regarding questioning a child's age are reported to account for 52 percent of overdue placements. Border patrol apprehended 2,073 of 3,664 total unaccompanied juveniles apprehended in 2000 and is responsible for the majority of actual or possible overdue placements. See also OIG, Unaccompanied Juveniles in INS Custody, 2001.

⁸³ The largest proportion of juveniles the immigration authorities encounter are of Mexican origin. Mexican juveniles are typically detained in temporary holding cells and are returned voluntarily within 24 hours. Only children detained for over 72 hours are included in the statistics kept by immigration authorities on unaccompanied children.

During their time in holding cells, children report feelings of confusion and fear. Often they report that no one explained to them what was happening, why they were under arrest, or what their rights were. Some reported that they were not given the opportunity to make a phone call or speak to an attorney. Whether the initial holding cells are to be run by the Bureau of Customs and Border Protection (BCBP), BICE, or ORR, U.S. authorities must ensure that children are guaranteed their rights under international law, including the right to be informed of the reason for their detention, prompt access to legal counsel, and humane treatment.

3.2.2 Juvenile Jails

After being transferred from holding cells, approximately one-third of children in the custody of immigration authorities spend time in secure facilities that are designed for the incarceration of youthful offenders for periods ranging from a few days to several months. ⁸⁵ INS statistics indicate that a large majority of unaccompanied children (approximately 80 percent) housed in secure facilities are non-delinquent. ⁸⁶

Immigration authorities can only place children in an INS-contracted facility or a county or state juvenile detention center in limited circumstances—provided that the child is housed separately from the ordinary population of that facility. Although *Flores* requires that children be housed in the "least restrictive setting," it defines limited exceptions to this general rule that include:

- Cases of emergency or an influx of children;
- Children who are believed or who have been found to be criminal or delinquent;
- Children who present a risk to their own safety or that of others;
- Children whom the immigration authorities have deemed to be escape risks; and
- Those whom immigration authorities believe to be over the age of eighteen.

Many organizations and service providers nationwide have expressed concern that secure detention has consistently been overused.⁸⁷ This may be representative of the INS's primary goal of law enforcement combined with a fundamental lack of child-care expertise that results in an overly restrictive interpretation of *Flores* and the inappropriate placing of children in secure detention.

"Emergency Influx"

84

⁸⁴ *Flores* requires that juveniles must be held in safe and sanitary facilities. They must be informed of their right to be represented by an attorney, be provided with a list of free legal service providers, given access to toilets and sinks, drinking water, food, and medical assistance. See *Flores*, Procedures and Temporary Placement Following Arrest, Paragraph 12A.

⁸⁵ In 1999, 35 percent (1,958) were held in secure facilities. In 2000, 35 percent were housed in secure. In 2001, 32 percent were held in secure. See U.S. Department of Justice, Immigration and Naturalization Service, INS Office of Juvenile Affairs Fact Sheet, 8/01/02. See also OIG, Unaccompanied Juveniles in INS Custody, 2001.

⁸⁶ In 2000, non-delinquent children accounted for 1,569 out of 1,933 instances of secure detention (81 percent). In 2001, more than 80 percent of the nearly 2,000 children detained in secure facilities were non-delinquent juveniles. See OIG, Unaccompanied Juveniles in INS Custody, 2001, and testimony of Andrew Morton, attorney, Latham & Watkins, before the U.S. Senate Committee on the Judiciary, Subcommittee on Immigration, 2/28/02.

⁸⁷ Wendy Young, director of Government Relations and U.S. Programs, Women's Commission on Refugee Women and Children, testimony before the U.S. Senate Committee on the Judiciary, Subcommittee on Immigration, 2/28/02; National Center for Youth Law, attorneys from Lawyers Committee for Human Rights, AI interviews, April 2002 and January 2003.

According to the INS, "emergency influx" was the basis for holding the majority of children in secure detention for more than seventy-two hours. Hores defines an emergency "influx" of children into the U.S. as more than 131 children in need of non-secure bed space. At the time the *Flores* agreement was reached, the INS had only 131 spaces available; however, the agency presently has almost 500 shelter (non-secure) bed spaces. As there are now approximately 500 children in immigration detention at any given time, the INS was technically always above the influx threshold of 131 children. AI believes that the constant and high state of influx, which according to the INS has characterized every year, voids the use of the term as a description of an exception to the norm. Rather, immigration authorities must ensure that existing non-secure bed spaces are fully utilized and undertake an assessment of the actual numbers of unaccompanied children in need of non-secure bed space, and revise their capacity accordingly. The inappropriate and apparent unnecessary use of this exception as a justification for placing children in secure detention is of concern to AI.

"Safety of Child or Others"

Some children are transferred to secure facilities because of alleged misbehavior in a shelter facility. *Flores* provides that a child may be transferred if he or she has engaged in conduct that "has proven to be unacceptably disruptive to the functioning" of the facility and is necessary to "ensure the welfare of the minors or others." The staff at the facility makes the determination and decision as to what level of behavior warrants being transferred into secure detention; such decisions may be arbitrary. Furthermore, placing a child in secure for their own safety should be a decision made in accordance with the mental and physical condition of the child and is therefore a matter to be determined by a medical professional.

- **BCYC, Secure Unit, Pennsylvania**: INS officials informed AI delegates that a child would be placed in the secure unit only if he or she was violent and a danger to him or herself or to others. ⁹⁰ However, AI received reports indicating that children may be transferred to secure detention for relatively minor incidents.
 - Isau Flores-Portillo was reportedly housed in the secure unit from June 20 to August 1, 2002, after which he was placed back in the shelter unit. The incident that prompted the transfer reportedly was that he translated an argument between two other children, culminating with one child putting his arm around the other to calm him down. Staff placed the boys in secure detention, although no physical harm was alleged. 91
 - A boy reportedly reached over the table and tapped another boy on the head. This led to nineteen days in secure detention. 92

AI is concerned that in some instances children with behavioral problems linked to mental health issues as well as children with suicidal tendencies are placed in secure facilities. 93 For example:

 A fourteen-year-old Honduran girl was taken into custody. The form completed by Border patrol indicated that she was suicidal. She was initially placed in a shelter facility

⁹² AI interview with advocacy group, August 2002.

⁸⁸ In FY 2000, 41 percent of children held in secure detention were recorded by the INS to be there because of an "influx." See OIG, Unaccompanied Juveniles in INS Custody, 2001.

⁸⁹ Stuart Anderson, Executive Associate Commissioner, U.S. Immigration and Naturalization Service, testimony before the U.S. Senate Committee on the Judiciary, Subcommittee on Immigration, 2/28/02.

⁹⁰ AI interview with BCYC, 9/2/02.

⁹¹ Ibid., 9/5/02.

⁹³ AI interview with INS officials, Chicago, 10/30/02.

in Texas where she was medically screened; the documentation completed during the screening again included a statement that she was suicidal. Within a day she was determined to be a behavior problem and the regional juvenile coordinator approved her transfer to the Liberty County Juvenile Center secure facility.⁹⁴

"Escape Risk"

Children may often be determined to be "escape risks" in order to justify secure detention, without an individual assessment of whether the child is indeed a flight risk. One child told AI, "A staff member here said she'd heard me say I was going to run away and that's why I was sent there [to secure detention], but I won't run away because I know that I have a strong claim for asylum so why would I run away?" Children are also reportedly routinely transferred to secure detention if they have requested voluntary removal (deportation) or if their case has been decided and relief denied. Under Flores, "escape risk" is defined as meaning a serious risk that the minor will attempt to escape from custody. Although the agreement's list of factors to be considered in this respect include whether a minor is under a final order of removal, a blanket policy may not be appropriate. AI urges the ORR to ensure that an individual assessment of each case is properly undertaken and that an automatic determination is not made that a child is an "escape risk" in these circumstances, particularly since many children may be appealing the decision denying them relief. An immigration judge should review any determination that a child is an "escape risk."

• **Gila County, Arizona**: All of the children AI spoke to at this facility had asked for voluntarily departure, including a fourteen-year-old child, who was clearly upset at being in the restrictive setting. Several of the children begged AI to help them get home sooner, asking if delegates knew anything more about the date when they might be sent back.

Administrative delays, insufficient staffing, including lack of personnel to transport children to shelter facilities, also reportedly contribute to children being inappropriately housed in secure facilities. According to child advocates, the psychological and emotional effects on a child of secure detention can be devastating. AI has found that children in secure detention face significant hardship, some of which violate their right to access attorneys and family assistance. They are at a far greater risk of being shackled, strip-searched, or subject to physical or verbal abuse. AI believes that every effort must be made to end the practice of placing children in settings which are clearly inappropriate to meet the needs of unaccompanied children.

3.3 Commingling with Juvenile Offenders

AI is deeply concerned by reports that unaccompanied children in secure detention are frequently housed with juvenile offenders. The organization's findings have confirmed that this is an ongoing and serious problem. Only four out of 23 (or 17 percent) secure facilities

⁹⁴ It was also reported that there was no indication that she was psychologically evaluated at Liberty County or received any kind of professional counseling. OIG, Unaccompanied Juveniles in INS Custody, 2001.

⁹⁷ Julianne Duncan, director of Children's Services for Migration and Refugee Services, U.S. Conference of Catholic Bishops, testimony before the U.S. Senate Committee on the Judiciary, Subcommittee on Immigration, 2/28/02.

⁹⁵ AI interview, fall 2002.

⁹⁶ Flores, par. 22.

⁹⁸ AI is concerned that unaccompanied children, including asylum-seekers, appear to be routinely housed alongside criminal detainees. This has been a general concern for several years, not only in the context of children, but also for adult INS detainees. See, among others, Amnesty International, *Lost in the Labyrinth*, 1999; OIG, Unaccompanied Juveniles in INS Custody, 2001; Wendy Young, director of Government Relations and U.S. Programs, Women's Commission on Refugee Women and Children, testimony before the U.S. Senate Committee on the Judiciary, Subcommittee on Immigration, 2/28/02.

responding to AI's survey reported that they housed unaccompanied children separately from the juvenile offender population. Eleven (48 percent of those responding) secure facilities reported that they house unaccompanied minors in the same cells as the juvenile offenders.

This practice is in direct contravention of both *Flores* and international standards. *Flores* stipulates that unaccompanied children must be housed separately from the delinquent population in secure facilities. The ICCPR and the UN Standard Minimum Rules for the Treatment of Prisoners requires that untried prisoners should be kept separate from convicted prisoners and afforded treatment appropriate to their unconvicted status. The standard standards are convicted prisoners and afforded treatment appropriate to their unconvicted status.

Children are reportedly held with youth who have committed serious crimes. Staff appear to disregard the requirement that children not be housed alongside youthful offenders.

• **BCYC, Pennsylvania:** Staff told AI that the juvenile offenders in the secure unit were "rapists, drug smugglers, car-jackers—that kind of thing." ¹⁰¹

According to advocates, immigration authorities appear to provide little information regarding individual children to the juvenile detention centers, making it extremely difficult for the facility to distinguish any special needs an unaccompanied child may have. Facility staff are often unaware of the reason for a child's detention. They have no idea whether the children are just undocumented or if they have been adjudicated as delinquent. This suggests a lack of training of facility staff, as stipulated under the *Flores* requirements. Children in the custody of immigration authorities most often become indistinguishable from the general population by being forced to wear prison uniforms (all the secure facilities responding to AI's questionnaire require the children to wear uniforms), by sharing living space with the general population, and being subjected to the same rules and regulations. Facility administrators at the San Diego Juvenile Hall and the D. E. Long Juvenile Detention Center in California have stated that the INS provides only the most rudimentary information about the children who are transferred to the facility.

103

• San Diego Juvenile Hall, California: Edwin Muñoz was just thirteen when he arrived in the U.S. and reportedly had no record of delinquency or any criminal offense. He was held in a commingled facility, where he was locked in his cell for approximately 18 hours a day, allowed out only a few hours a day for classes and twice a day for 20 minutes in a fenced-in area for exercise. The children had to walk silently with their hands crossed to avoid punishment. He reports that both guards and other inmates mistreated him. Edwin reported that the guards would break up fights using pepper spray, which would also sting the eyes of the children not involved in the fight. He was sprayed twice, making his eyes sting, and reports fearing he would go blind. Edwin reported losing weight and having frequent nightmares in which the guards and other boys were going to kill him. "I cried a lot in the cell wondering why everything was turning out so bad for me in the United States and if I would ever be free." 104

AI is concerned by reports that children are at risk, including the risk of physical abuse, when housed with juvenile offenders. Failure to take reasonable steps to ensure the safety of

¹⁰⁰ ICCPR, Article 10, Rule 85 of the UN Standard Minimum Rules, and Principle 8 of the Body of Principles.

⁹⁹ Flores, par. 12 and Exhibit 2(c).

¹⁰¹ AI interview with INS and county officials, BCYC, 9/6/02.

Wendy Young, director of Government Relations and U.S. Programs, Women's Commission on Refugee Women and Children, testimony before the U.S. Senate Committee on the Judiciary, Subcommittee on Immigration, 2/28/02. Women's Commission for Women and Children Refugees, May 2002.

Edwin Larios Munoz, testimony before the U.S. Senate Committee on the Judiciary, Subcommittee on Immigration, 2/28/02.

detainees is a violation of U.S. law and international standards. ¹⁰⁵ *Flores* stipulates that the INS must make every effort to ensure that the staff satisfactorily provides for the safety and wellbeing of the minors detained. ¹⁰⁶ Three facilities responding to Al's survey admitted there had been an incident in their facility between unaccompanied children and other detainees. Many of the children AI spoke to reported being physically assaulted by and constantly afraid of the juvenile offenders. For example:

• **Gila County, Arizona:** Two years ago, the facility reportedly ceased the practice of housing unaccompanied children in cells with juvenile offenders but continued to commingle during recreation, meals, and classes. E.F., a fourteen-year-old boy, told AI that he was often picked on by older juvenile offenders, and said he was scared of the U.S. juveniles. G.K., age fifteen, told AI that he'd been picked on by a youthful offender, who pushed him. An officer saw the incident, and although it was clear G.K. was not at fault, he was taken to the warden in handcuffs and shackles. Since September 2002, only unaccompanied girls are commingled with female juvenile offenders, following a serious physical altercation between juvenile offenders and INS detainees.

Some facilities reportedly house unaccompanied minors in solitary confinement or in conditions amounting to solitary confinement in order to separate these children from the youthful offenders in the facility. 108

• Martin Hall Juvenile Detention Facility, Washington: Children at this facility had previously been commingled with juvenile offenders. ¹⁰⁹ In an interview with an attorney representing children at this facility, AI was told that children are now separated from the juvenile offenders by placement in solitary confinement, without access to education, recreation, or exercise. Spanish-speaking children do not have reading materials in their language. The children get so depressed that the attorney at times has requested that they be commingled despite the fact that her clients are constantly harassed and bullied by the delinquent population, and are often beaten up or get into fights. "It was very hard on them—they were melancholy, not talking, looking miserable—had no spirit and were consistently down..... How can a kid spend five, six months in solitary?" ¹¹⁰

Although this problem has been reported on for many years, some high-level immigration officials fail to acknowledge the problem. More recently, the DOJ's Office of Inspector General (OIG) report, Unaccompanied Juveniles in INS Custody, found that 34 secure detention facilities could not guarantee segregation from juvenile offenders. AI spoke with the Central Regional Juvenile Coordinator, and she assured delegates that all INS children in her region are separated from juvenile offenders. She stated that even those housed in juvenile detention centers are "separated completely." According to the responses received by AI to the questionnaire sent to facilities housing unaccompanied children, commingling takes place in all regions. Furthermore,

¹⁰⁵ Flores, Sec. V: Procedures and Temporary Placement Following Arrest, and Flores, Exhibit 2; UNHCR Guidelines on Applicable Criteria and Standards Relating to the Detention of Asylum-Seekers, 1999, chap. 7, sec. 4. (Hereinafter referred to as the UNHCR Guidelines on Detention of Asylum Seekers, 1999).

¹⁰⁶ Flores, Exhibit 2(c).

¹⁰⁷ AI interviews at Gila County, 11/5/02. Since there are fewer unaccompanied girls, they have to continue to be housed in this manner. See section 4.10 of this report.

¹⁰⁸ This may be in contravention of the UN Rules for the Protection of Juveniles Deprived of their Liberty, Rule 67, which stipulates: "All disciplinary measures constituting cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment shall be strictly prohibited, including corporal punishment, placement in a dark cell, closed or solitary confinement or any other punishment that may compromise the physical or mental health of the juvenile concerned." ¹⁰⁹ OIG, Unaccompanied Juveniles in INS Custody, 2001; Women's Commission for Women and Children Refugees,

¹⁰⁹ OIG, Unaccompanied Juveniles in INS Custody, 2001; Women's Commission for Women and Children Refugees, May 2002.

AI telephone interview with Atieno Odhiambo, attorney with Columbia Legal Services, 1/24/03.

AI interview with Maribell Loeches, Central Regional Juvenile Coordinator, Chicago, 10/30/02.

14 out of 16 children (88 percent) who had been housed in secure facilities told AI that they had been commingled—four of these in Texas, falling under the jurisdiction of the Central Region. ¹¹² Another official suggested that it may be better to house non-delinquent INS detainees as criminals, because you "don't know what they have done on the streets." ¹¹³

The ORR must ensure that any child placed in a secure facility is separated at all times from juvenile offenders and that all facilities are aware of the requirement to do so pursuant to the *Flores* agreement.

3.4 Children Housed with Adults: Age-Determination Techniques

"Every child deprived of liberty shall be separated from adults unless it is considered in the child's best interest not to do so."

- The Convention on the Rights of the Child, Article 37(c)

AI has found that children may be housed alongside criminal adult suspects or inmates due to questionable age-determination techniques and in some instances may even find themselves housed with adults, even though the INS recognizes them as children. This violates one of the most basic requirements regarding detained juveniles under international law and standards, which demands that they be kept separate from adults.¹¹⁴

One reported incident was that of Alfredo Lopez Sanchez, a Guatemalan child, who was abruptly removed from a youth facility, Boystown, to the Monroe County adult jail in Key West, Florida, in November 2001. Allegedly, he was transferred because INS determined him to be a flight risk, even though a federal court judge later found that he presented no risk of flight. His attorney in Miami was given no advance notice of the transfer. He was housed there for 15 days, before he was transferred again-this time to the children's shelter facility, BCYC, in Pennsylvania. BCYC

When immigration authorities question the age of a child, children are subjected to an age-determination technique that involves dental or wrist bone X rays. Immigration authorities in the U.S. overemphasize the accuracy of these methods and demonstrate on occasion an unwillingness to consider other evidence of age. Scientific studies have suggested that a prudent margin of error be three years; however, such margins seem rarely if ever to be taken into consideration. Dental and bone examinations were never intended to be used for determining the exact age of a child and the precision of these tests has been drawn into question by several studies. The UNHCR Guidelines for Refugee Children suggest that authorities use caution

¹¹⁷ The INS relies on radiographic standards from the Greulich-Pyle Atlas, the authors of which expressly conclude that the Atlas cannot, and is not intended to, provide a means of assessing chronological age. William W. Greulich and S. I. Pyle, *Radiographic Atlas of Skeletal Development of the Hand and Wrist*, Stanford University Press, California, 1959, p. 41. According to one expert, "There is absolute unanimity in the scientific literature that it is impossible to exactly determine a patient's chronological age from dental radiographs." (Affidavit of Dr. Herbert F. Frommer, New York, 1/28/02. Furthermore, the Royal College of Radiologists advised its members in the U.K. in a 1998 letter "it is

inappropriate to undertake a radiographic examination at the request of an immigration official, or the like, for the purposes of bone age estimation." See also discussion in Wendy Young and Jacqueline Bhabha, Not Adults in

¹¹² AI interviews, BCYC, Chicago, and Gila County, Fall 2002.

¹¹³ AI interview with Thomas Baranick, Director of Detention and Deportation, Phoenix, Gila County, 11/5/02.

¹¹⁴ ICCPR, Art. 10(2)(b), stipulates: "Juvenile offenders shall be segregated from adults and be accorded treatment appropriate to their age and legal status." This basic requirement is also contained in the UN Rules for the Protection of Juveniles Deprived of Their Liberty, Article 29; the Standard Minimum Rules for the Treatment of Prisoners, Article 8; and in the CRC, Article 37(c).

¹¹⁵ District Judge Federico Moreno, Lopez-Sanchez v. Ashcroft (02-20421-CIV-MORENO), 3/702.

¹¹⁶ AI interview with FIAC, 6/11/03

when relying on these methods, noting that the procedures can only estimate age. The guidelines recommend that authorities allow for margins of error. Illustrating the difficulty of using dental and wrist bone exams as indications of age, the INS in some cases oscillated between classifying a youth as a juvenile or as an adult, reversing decisions on age several times. Such situations place much stress on the individuals in question.

- Mekabou Fofana, an ethnic Mandingo from Liberia, was reportedly just shy of sixteen when he arrived at JFK International Airport in July 1999. He was held at various adult facilities, despite his and his family's assertions that he was a minor, because of INS claims, made on the basis of a dental examination, that he was over eighteen. He was first taken to the Wackenhut detention center in Queens, New York, and then moved to a criminal detention facility, Lehigh County Prison. At Senate hearings in May 2001, he testified, "I was the youngest one among them and was very scared that the criminal detainees would hurt me. My cell mate had killed someone and would tell me about the crimes he had done. I was so afraid that I couldn't sleep at night." He was then transferred to York County Prison, another remote detention facility in Pennsylvania, where he was detained for about five months. He says about the experience: "I felt like my life was finished. I was too young to be there." Mekabou was detained as an adult for one and a half years before being granted asylum by the Board of Immigration Appeals. 119
- AB is a slight sixteen-year-old girl from Honduras. She was taken to San Antonio in leg irons and handcuffs and was given a dental exam in the hospital. Reportedly, the immigration officer said to her: "You'd better be a child—if you're an adult, not even your family will be able to save you." 120

International guidelines recommend that an individual should be afforded the benefit of the doubt in cases where the exact age is uncertain. This is particularly important since a faulty age determination may put children in danger of having their rights violated. AI has previously voiced concerns that children imprisoned with adults are vulnerable to abuse, including sexual abuse and physical assault, and furthermore often do not have access to age-appropriate services and resources. Paulty age-determination procedures may result in unaccompanied minors being placed in expedited removal proceedings—contrary to policy generally exempting minors from this process. Individuals are returned to their home countries without appearing before an immigration judge under the expedited removal process. AI has previously expressed concern about this procedure because individuals seeking asylum may be returned to a country where they are at risk for serious human rights abuses. AI has previously that when release is not an option

Miniature: Unaccompanied Child Asylum Seekers and the New U.S. Guidelines, International Journal of Refugee Law 11, no. 1 (1999): 91–92 and Alan Elsner, New York Dentists Can Settle the Fate of Migrants, and Harsh Fate Can Await Young Refugees in U.S., Reuters, 2001.

27

¹¹⁸ UNHCR, Refugee Children: Guidelines on Protection and Care (hereinafter referred to as the UNHCR Guidelines for Refugee Children), 1994, chap. 8, "Legal Status, Unaccompanied Children."

¹¹⁹ Mekabou Fofana, testimony before the U.S. Senate Committee on the Judiciary, Immigration Subcommittee, 5/3/01; Lawyers Committee for Human Rights, *Is This America? The Denial of Due Process to Asylum-Seekers in the United States*, October 2000; and Women's Commission on Refugee Women and Children, May 2002.

¹²⁰ AI interview, Fall 2002

¹²¹ UNHCR, Guidelines for Refugee Children, 1994, chap. 8, "Legal Status, Unaccompanied Children, Determining Age": "When the exact age is uncertain, the child should be given the benefit of the doubt."

¹²² Amnesty International, Betraying the Young: Human Rights Violations against Children in the U.S. Justice System, AI Index: AMR 51/60/98, November 1998.

Wendy Young and Jacqueline Bhabha, *Not Adults in Miniature: Unaccompanied Child Asylum-seekers and the New U.S. Guidelines*, International Journal of Refugee Law 11, no. 1 (1999).

¹²⁴ See also Amnesty International, *Lost in the Labyrinth*, 1999.

that the ORR work with the DHS to designate a shelter facility or group home setting to house those individuals for whom age cannot be determined conclusively.

3.5 Challenging Placement in a Secure Facility

The *Flores* agreement provides the opportunity to challenge the placement of a child in a secure setting in federal court. Placement decisions are rarely reviewed, however, because children without attorneys are not usually capable of filing such applications. AI is also concerned that this is compounded by the failure of immigration authorities to inform the children of their right to seek judicial review in any U.S. District Court to challenge their placement. ¹²⁵ *Flores* requires the INS to give children in secure facilities written notice of the reasons they have been placed there and an explanation of the right to judicial review. ¹²⁶ Only 35 percent of all secure facilities responding to AI's questionnaire reported that they provide any kind of explanation to the children. Furthermore, only five out of 16 children interviewed by AI who had been housed in secure facilities reported that they had been given either such a written statement or a verbal explanation of this right. ¹²⁷

AI believes that because many children face barriers in pursuing their right to judicial review of their placement in secure facilities (and issues regarding conditions that violate *Flores*) the ORR should develop a system to address children's grievances and complaints. For example, the INS Detention Standards developed for adults in immigration detention provides for a detainee grievance procedure. ¹²⁸

4. CONDITIONS OF DETENTION

"The staff should learn how to respect and treat me like a human being."

- C.D., asylum-seeker, Guinea, age sixteen

"As a child welfare expert with knowledge of the foster care and juvenile justice systems, I find it shocking to see how children in INS custody are treated."

- Julianne Duncan, Director of Children's Services for Migration and Refugee Services, U.S. Conference of Catholic Bishops, testimony before the U.S. Senate Committee on the Judiciary, Subcommittee on Immigration, 28 February 2002

"Every child deprived of liberty shall be treated with humanity and respect for the inherent dignity of the human person, and in a manner that takes into account the needs of persons of his or her age."

- CRC, Art. 37(c)¹²⁹

"In all actions concerning children ... the best interests of the child shall be a primary consideration."

- CRC, Art. 3(1)

¹²⁵ Flores, Paragraph 24(c).

¹²⁶ Flores, Paragraph 24(d).

AI interviews with BCYC, Chicago and Gila County, fall 2002.

¹²⁸ Christopher Nugent, "The INS Detention Standards: Facilitating Legal Representation and Humane Conditions of Confinement for Immigration Detainees," Immigration Current Awareness Newsletter, published by National Immigration Project of National Lawyers Guild, 3 February 2003.

¹²⁹ See also ICCPR, Article 10(1): "All persons deprived of their liberty shall be treated with humanity and with respect for the inherent dignity of human persons."

All children deprived of their liberty have the right to be protected from cruel, inhuman, and degrading treatment or punishment and have the right to be treated with dignity and respect. Some unaccompanied minors housed in facilities used by the former INS, particularly those minors in secure detention, are held in conditions that violate international standards. ¹³⁰ Many violations also contravene the requirements of *Flores* regarding standards of detention conditions for unaccompanied children. It is a matter of concern that of those facilities responding to AI's survey, only four out of the 23 secure facilities and only four shelter facilities responded that their staff are trained in *Flores*. One facility requested more information, and another stated that the question was "not applicable" to their facility.

4.1 Excessive Discipline

"The rules mean they can throw people around."

- J.D., describing the physical abuse he suffered while in the secure facility at BCYC

"No one shall be subjected to torture or to cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment."

- International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, Art. 7; UDHR, Art. 5; CRC, Art.37

While AI delegates during the two days of their visit at the shelter facility in Chicago found a friendly environment and seemingly appropriate disciplinary techniques, ¹³¹ some facilities housing unaccompanied children do not appear to treat the children in accordance with a basic respect for human dignity and humanity or take into account their age and special situations as required by international and national standards. ¹³² The level of rules and restrictions placed on many unaccompanied children in detention, even in shelter facilities, raises questions about their suitability for housing children. AI is aware of the multiple demands placed on staff and the administration of such centers; however, the organization believes it is essential that the children be treated according to their special needs.

- BCYC, Secure Unit, Pennsylvania: J.D. reported to AI that the rules were very strict and hard to follow. He alleges that he was required to do 200 push-ups because he did not pick up a napkin. He told AI that he was not able to continue after he had completed 150 push-ups and was made to sit at a table with his hands over his head all day. He reportedly was not allowed to speak during this time. The incident reportedly took place at breakfast, which meant he had to sit with his hands over his head for 10 hours.
- BCYC, Shelter Unit, Pennsylvania: Children told AI delegates of a punitive atmosphere where even small infractions of the rules may result in being made to stand or sit in the hallway, facing the wall for prolonged periods of time. Children are not allowed to take a drink of water, talk out of turn, or go to the toilet without permission and are

¹³⁰ Among others, the prolonged use of solitary confinement, and excessive use of force in violation of Principle 6 and 7 of the UN Body of Principles; routine use of restraints, in violation of the UN Rules for the Protection of Juveniles Deprived of their Liberty, Art. 64; failure to provide mental health care in emergency situations, in contravention of the UN Rules for the Protection of Juveniles Deprived of their Liberty, Art. 51; and the UN Standard Minimum Rules for the Treatment of Prisoners, Art. 22; and lack of exercise and fresh air required by the UN Rules for the Protection of Juveniles Deprived of their Liberty, 1990, Art. 47.

¹³¹ This was also confirmed by all AI interviews with the children at the Chicago facility.

The ICCPR, Article 10 (1) states: "All persons deprived of their liberty shall be treated with humanity and with respect for the inherent dignity of human persons." The CRC echoes this: "Every child deprived of liberty shall be treated with humanity and respect for the inherent dignity of the human person, and in a manner which takes into account the needs of persons of his or her age," CRC, Art. 37(c). Article 3(3) of the CRC requires that states ensure that institutions and facilities responsible for the care of children shall conform to the standards established by competent authorities, particularly in the number and suitability of their staff. Flores also stipulates that children should be held in facilities that are consistent with concerns for the particular vulnerability of minors. Flores, Exhibit 2(c).

punished if they do. Children reported that they must watch the news for one hour a day, regardless of whether they understand what is going on. If they talk or do not wish to watch it, they are put in the hallway on a chair facing the wall.

It is a basic human right enshrined in international standards and treaties that no one shall be subjected to torture or to cruel, inhuman, or degrading treatment or punishment. The *Flores* agreement also stipulates that minors may not be subjected to humiliation or mental abuse and stipulates that sanctions shall not affect a minor's health or physical or psychological well-being. AI has received reports, however, that children in immigration custody may be subjected to cruel disciplinary techniques.

• San Antonio, Texas: P.L. reported that punishments might include taking away a child's blankets and mattress, and alleged that the staff would turn up the air conditioning so it became unbearably cold. She told AI delegates that such punishment might be administered if somebody had spoken when they were not allowed to while they were watching TV or eating.

4.2 Physical and Verbal Abuse

AI has also received allegations that some children have been subjected to physical and/or verbal abuse while in custody. International standards, U.S. laws, and the standards imposed on facilities by state agencies accept that there are circumstances when custodial staff may use force and broadly agree about the legitimate purposes and scope of the use of force. Generally these circumstances

- Permit staff to use force and restraints for specific purposes such as self-defense and the protection of other people;
- Restrict the amount of force that can be used to the extent necessary; and
- Prohibit the use of force and restraints as punishment. 134

Some children in the custody of immigration authorities may be subjected to treatment that goes beyond the acceptable limits described above. AI has heard a number of reports alleging violations of the international standards prohibiting the use of force or restraints as punishment. The majority of these reports have concerned secure facilities and facilities within the juvenile justice system. AI has previously reported concerns about the poor conditions in facilities in the juvenile justice system. Reported allegations of mistreatment of children in secure detention include the following:

• BCYC, Secure Unit, Pennsylvania: Children and advocates told AI that physical force may be used as a punitive and disciplinary method. Staff reportedly kick, throw children to the floor and knock their heads into walls, for infractions such as looking the wrong way, saying "can I use the bathroom" instead of "may I," or not being able to count properly. A child told AI of one incident when staff reportedly asked a group of children to raise their hands if they wanted to play basketball. He reportedly eagerly stood up, waving his hand. He was reprimanded for not raising his hand and not allowed to play.

¹³³ ICCPR, Art. 7; UDHR, Art. 5; CRC, Art.37.

¹³⁴ For example, Rule 54(1) of the Standard Minimum Rules for the Treatment of Prisoners permit staff to use force for self-defense, to prevent escape, and in cases of active or passive physical resistance to an order based on law or regulations. Rule 64 of the UN Rules for the Protection of Juveniles Deprived of their Liberty permits the use of instruments of restraint and force to "exceptional cases, where all other control methods have been exhausted and failed ... in order to prevent the juvenile from inflicting self-injury, injuries to others or serious destruction of property."
¹³⁵ Among other concerns, the organization listed allegations of excessive use of force, in a manner constituting torture

¹⁵⁹ Among other concerns, the organization listed allegations of excessive use of force, in a manner constituting torture or cruel inhuman and degrading treatment or punishment, to a degree that would seem to reflect "major organizational deficiencies as well as personal misconduct." Amnesty International, *Betraying the Young*, 1998.

He sat down, commenting that he had also raised his hand, reportedly prompting two staff members to knock his head against the wall and kick him. When he said to them that they didn't have the right to do that, they reportedly responded that his representative wouldn't be able to do anything. 136

- San Diego Juvenile Detention Center, California: Edwin Muñoz reported that the guards at the facility were mean and aggressive and used a lot of bad words. "They sometimes hit me with their sticks and shoved me and other boys, when they thought we were not following their orders." 137
- L.A. Central Juvenile Hall, California: A seventeen-year-old boy reported that when he complained about not being allowed to watch TV, four officers allegedly threw him face down on the floor so that he hurt the inside of his lip. The officers then reportedly pulled his arms and legs behind him and held them together. "As a result of being held like a pig, I was badly injured," he said, "I was walking with a big limp." He also complained of back pain. 138
- Martin Hall, Washington: A child housed at this facility was reportedly beaten after saying a word in Spanish that the guard interpreted as bad. His head was allegedly slammed to the floor. His attorney observed bruises on his neck. She requested copies of the medical photos taken but when they were finally delivered, he had been released. 139

For particularly vulnerable children who may have been exposed to abusive and traumatic situations before their detention in the U.S. experiencing or witnessing these types of excessive and punitive disciplinary actions may have wider repercussions.

BCYC, Shelter Unit, Pennsylvania: Alfredo Lopez Sanchez fled an abusive father in Guatemala. He reported to AI that the staff "talks to you loud—more than my dad."

AI has found that mentally ill children are often targeted for disciplinary action. AI has found a pattern of failure to diagnose the mental health of children properly and an inadequate access to counseling and other assistance (see below, 4.8). In such situations, appropriate mental health care and counseling may be far more efficient and humane than strict discipline in secure settings and the use of restraints or force to control a distraught child. The lack of appropriate mental health services in shelters combined with excessive rules and discipline often lead to children being placed in secure facilities, AI urges U.S. authorities to curtail the housing of children in inappropriate settings and to provide adequate resources to allow facilities to employ sufficient numbers of staff; to require staff to be specially trained to work with youth, particularly those with mental health problems; and to train staff in skills that reduce the necessity for the use of force.

4.3 Solitary Confinement

AI is concerned at findings indicating that children may spend extended periods in isolation across the country. 140 One secure facility reported to AI that it had held six unaccompanied minors in solitary confinement in the past 12 months. 141 Thirteen of 23 secure facilities responding to AI's survey report the use of solitary confinement as a disciplinary measure (57 percent).

¹⁴⁰ AI interview with Child Advocate, January 2003.

¹³⁶ AI interviews with advocacy group, August 2002; and BCYC, fall 2002.

Edwin Larios Munoz, testimony before the U.S. Senate Committee on the Judiciary, Subcommittee on Immigration,

¹³⁸ AI interview with Southern Californian Legal Organization, January and May 2003.

AI telephone interview with Atieno Odhiambo, attorney with Columbia Legal Services, 1/24/03.

¹⁴¹ La Esperanza, Southwest Key Program, Brownsville, Texas.

AI has received several reports regarding children housed in juvenile facilities who have experienced solitary confinement as a punitive and disciplinary measure, at times for minor rule breaking. AI has previously reported concerns that solitary confinement is a common punishment in juvenile facilities in the U.S. and noted that its use as a punishment violates international standards. Reports include:

- **L.A. Central Juvenile Hall, California:** Children are allegedly placed in lockdown for minor rule breaking, such as talking in class. ¹⁴³
- Gila County, Arizona: The children are housed in small single cells furnished only with a narrow cot, a toilet, and washbasin. The children are held in lockdown on the first day—then gradually move up in levels and are allowed more time outside the cells. Children and facility staff told AI that the children may be "dropped in levels" for misbehavior and locked in their cells. During this time, recreation, education, and other privileges are also withdrawn.¹⁴⁴

In some facilities, unaccompanied immigrant children may be routinely segregated to separate them from youthful offenders. They are also deprived of exercise and education during their incarceration. AI has received such reports from advocates in Texas, Washington, and Virginia. Children are also held in facilities where the regular cells are small, stark, and empty. Forty-eight percent of the secure facilities responding to AI's survey reported that they hold children exclusively in single occupancy cells.

• San Antonio, Texas: R.T. was held for 15 days alone in a cell with no windows facing out of the facility. He only came out to eat and bathe. He reported spending most of the day in the cell, which had only a metal bed with a thin mattress. He said that he "didn't see the sun for twenty days."

Prolonged solitary confinement, particularly when imposed with other deprivations such as lack of exercise and contact with other children, may constitute torture or other cruel, inhuman, or degrading treatment, in violation of international standards. The UN Rules for the Protection of Juveniles Deprived of Their Liberty, Rule 67, stipulates: "All disciplinary measures constituting cruel, inhuman, or degrading treatment shall be strictly prohibited, including ... closed or solitary confinement or any other punishment that may compromise the physical or mental health of the juvenile concerned." The use of solitary confinement under any circumstances has been found to have potentially grave repercussions for the physical and mental health of children. Research indicates that isolation can cause anxiety and other negative reactions

¹⁴² Amnesty International, *Betraying the Young*, 1998.

¹⁴³ AI interview with Southern California Legal Advocates, January 2003.

¹⁴⁴ AI interviews at Gila County, 11/5/03.

¹⁴⁵ Principle 6 of the UN Body of Principles contains the internationally recognized prohibition of torture and other cruel, inhuman, or degrading treatment or punishment. Principle 7 elaborates that the term "cruel, inhuman, or degrading treatment or punishment should be interpreted as to extend the widest possible protection against abuses, whether physical or mental, including the holding of a detained or imprisoned person in conditions which deprive him, temporarily or permanently, of the use of any of his natural senses, such as sight or hearing, or of his awareness of place and the passing of time." Furthermore, the UN Human Rights Committee, which monitors states' compliance with the ICCPR, has issued a set of authoritative general comments on key articles of the ICCPR. In its general comment on article 7, the Committee stated "prolonged solitary confinement of the detained or imprisoned person may amount to acts prohibited by Article 7." UN Human Rights Committee, General Comment 20 on Article 7 of the ICCPR, par. 6, 10 April 1992. According to the UN Rules for the Protection of Juveniles Deprived of their Liberty, Rule 67, "All disciplinary measures constituting cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment shall be strictly prohibited, including corporal punishment, placement in a dark cell, closed or solitary confinement or any other punishment that may compromise the physical or mental health of the juvenile concerned."

and is associated with higher rates of suicidal behavior. The National Commission on Correctional Health Care advises:

(A)nimal and human studies reveal biological, behavioral, and mental status changes under conditions of social isolation and/or sensory deprivation within 24 hours.... Although administrators and health personnel may wish to see segregation as an exclusively administrative measure, judges have consistently declared it a medical procedure on the basis of its medical dangers. ¹⁴⁷

According to lawyers who have clients in secure facilities, or clients who have been housed in solitary confinement, it is not uncommon to see children show signs of depression and mental stress. Several children were described as crying continually, dejected, and withdrawn. This is also incompatible with the *Flores* agreement, which prohibits the use of any sanction that affects a minor's health or physical or psychological well-being. In light of these concerns, it is particularly distressing that several service providers have reported that the response of some facilities to mental health problems, including suicidal tendencies, is placing the child in solitary confinement (see further under "Mental Health Services," 4.8).

4.4 Pat-down and Strip Searches

"Every time Manny [his lawyer] visited, they made me take off all my clothes to search my body. This embarrassed me."

- Edwin Larios Munoz on his treatment at the San Diego Juvenile Detention Facility, testimony before the U.S. Senate Committee on the Judiciary, Subcommittee on Immigration, 28 February 2002

AI has found a routine practice of patting-down and strip-searching children who are detained in secure facilities. Seventy percent (16 of 23) of secure facilities and 30 percent (three out of 10) of the shelter facilities either pat-down or strip-search the children. Sixty-one percent (14 of 23) of all secure facilities responding to AI's survey reported that they strip-search the children in their care. Pat-down searches and strip searches represent intrusive physical contact, which in other contexts could constitute an assault. The searches compound the sense that the child is a wrongdoer and does not have the right to be physically respected. The procedures cause the children much distress, and do not allow for an individual assessment of the security concerns.

- Gila County, Arizona: Staff told AI delegates that the children are strip-searched any time they are "on white tile"—the area outside the living and school quarters that must be crossed to receive visits in private or speak to the warden. AI delegates were told that the hour-long interview they had with the children meant that they would be strip-searched upon return to their living quarters. Staff also reported that children are always patted-down and searched after classes, and when they move from one part of the facility to another. 148
- **BCYC, Secure Unit, Pennsylvania:** Children in the secure unit are reportedly required to take off all clothing after any visit, with attorney or otherwise. This is also a weekly routine when their rooms are searched. Reportedly, several children have told advocates

¹⁴⁶ Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention, *Conditions of Confinement: juvenile detention and corrections facilities*, Washington D.C., 1994, p. 172.

¹⁴⁷ National Commission on Correctional Health Care, *Standards for Youth Services in Juvenile Confinement Facilities*, Chicago, 1984, p. 38.

¹⁴⁸ AI Interview at Gila County, 11/5/03.

that the staff verbally abuse the children during the searches, once allegedly calling them "you little whores." ¹⁴⁹

- **BCYC, Secure Unit, Pennsylvania:** J.D. told AI delegates that he has been stripsearched about 25 times in the five weeks he spent in the secure unit. He once lost a pen, and was allegedly strip-searched and threatened with being sent back to his home country because he couldn't find it.¹⁵⁰
- San Diego Juvenile Detention Facility, California: Unaccompanied children are subject to strip searches, although U.S. children who are status offenders are exempt from this policy.¹⁵¹

While pat-down and strip searches cannot be ruled out when there are serious grounds to suspect that the child is hiding a dangerous substance or implement, they should not be routine. When these searches do occur, the procedure should be explained to the child and the search conducted by an appropriately trained person.

4.5 Use of Restraints

AI received reports that unaccompanied children are frequently placed in mechanical restraints in circumstances which contravene international standards, which state that such instruments can only be used in exceptional cases where all other control methods have been exhausted or have failed. International standards prohibit the use of restraint and force except in specifically defined situations, namely to prevent the juvenile from inflicting self-injury or injuries to others, or serious destruction of property. They should not cause humiliation or degradation and should be used restrictively and only for the shortest possible period of time. Nevertheless, children who had been housed in secure facilities reported the use of restraints as a routine measure. Eighteen of the 31 children AI spoke with reported being restrained while under the care of immigration authorities. Of those children, most (11, or 61 percent) reported they were restrained more than once, and the majority (13, or 72 percent) told AI that they were restrained using both leg shackles and handcuffs.

An INS official, Mr. Thomas Baranick, Director of Detention and Deportation, Phoenix Office, described to AI delegates the use of restraints on unaccompanied children as follows: "The people who have not been in the criminal system do not know what to expect. They are unpredictable—the most problematic cases. Sometimes you don't know who they are, you don't know their identities. It is a precautionary thing—if in doubt, err on the side of caution." Such a statement suggests a disregard for international standards on the use of restraints.

4.5.1 Restraints During Transportation

AI found that children are routinely restrained during transportation. Nineteen of 23 (83 percent) of responding secure facilities reported to AI that they routinely restrain children who are taken outside the facility. Twenty-two percent (5 out of 23) of secure facilities responding to AI's surveys report that children in their custody are also placed in belly chains. Secure facilities that are contracting with the former INS particularly appear unable to distinguish between the children

¹⁴⁹ E-mail to AI from Child Advocate, 8/31/02; and interviews at BCYC, September 2002.

¹⁵⁰ AI interview, BCYC, September 2002

Wendy Young, Director of Government Relations and U.S. Programs, Women's Commission on Refugee Women and Children, testimony before the U.S. Senate Committee on the Judiciary, Subcommittee on Immigration, 2/28/02.

¹⁵² UN Rules for the Protection of Juveniles Deprived of their Liberty, Art. 64.

¹⁵³ Ibid., arts. 63 and 64.

¹⁵⁴ AI interview at Gila County, 11/5/02.

in immigration detention and their other charges, and regardless of actual flight or other possible risks, routinely shackle and handcuff the children. Most of the children AI interviewed were housed in shelter facilities, but over half of all children interviewed (16 out of 31, 51 percent) reported that they had been restrained during transfers between facilities. This included children who INS officials had informed AI were neither flight nor security risks. AI has heard reports of children as young as nine years old being fully restrained, using handcuffs and leg irons.

AI questioned INS officials in all three regions about restraint policies during transport. Answers were at times confused and contradicted information provided by facility staff, service providers, and/or children. The inconsistencies may reflect a policy that leaves the ultimate discretion to the individual officers in charge of transporting the children, and a lack of communication or accountability by officers in charge of transfers.

P.L. was transferred to the shelter facility in Chicago from Texas. She was reportedly restrained on the way from the facility to the airport, in the airport, and throughout the two and a half hour flight. When the INS Juvenile Coordinator came to pick up the children at the airport, P.L. claims that the guards took off the handcuffs and hid them, telling the children to say "no" if they were asked whether they had been handcuffed. 155

Several children described humiliating procedures where they were taken to the dentist in shackles and had to remain in shackles for long periods of time while waiting to be examined. It is often not properly explained to the children what is happening, adding to their confusion and anxiety.

R.T. reported that he was handcuffed and restrained with leg irons and chained to two other children during transport to a dentist. He said that he remained handcuffed to other children in the waiting room. He told AI that there were other "regular people" in the waiting room and that they were staring at him. 156

Staff at several facilities informed AI that children who are transported out of facilities for medical attention are routinely shackled. AI considers the use of restraints on sick prisoners who do not pose a specific security threat to constitute cruel, inhuman, or degrading treatment in violation of international standards.

4.5.2 Restraints in the Courtroom

Restraints on children in court settings are of particular concern to AI. Wearing shackles or restraints in a courtroom carries with it powerful connotations of guilt and dangerousness as well as subjecting the child to distress and humiliation. Although international standards provide that restraints should be used only as a precaution against escape during transfer, they stipulate that they "shall be removed when the prisoner appears before a judicial or administrative authority." Some children are reportedly not only routinely shackled during transportation to court hearings but in some instances may be shackled in the courtroom. AI spoke to one child asylum-seeker from India who reported having to appear before judges in Arizona and Texas wearing both handcuffs and leg chains. 158 One advocate described to AI how she had seen a seven-year-old boy from Central America handcuffed before a judge in California. ¹⁵⁹ An attorney in Washington reported that children routinely have their hands and legs shackled during

¹⁵⁷ UN Standard Minimum Rules for the Treatment of Prisoners, Art. 33.

¹⁵⁵ AI interview, fall 2002.

¹⁵⁶ Ibid., fall 2002.

¹⁵⁸ This child was being detained at a shelter facility when AI interviewed him, possessed no criminal convictions, and was not considered a flight risk.

159 AI telephone interview with Amy Thompson, advocate, 1/23/02.

transportation from Martin Hall to court and, though their handcuffs are removed, the leg chains remain on during the entire time in the court building, where they may have to wait for up to four hours. ¹⁶⁰

4.5.3 Restraints in Detention Facilities

• Gila County, Arizona: AI delegates spoke to several unaccompanied children at the facility who reported that anyone wishing to see the warden is always restrained in handcuffs, shackles, and belly chains. Three out of the five children AI delegates interviewed reported that they were restrained in this manner. While AI notes the trust the children place in the warden to resolve their problems, and that they were able to speak with him in Spanish, such routine shackling of children is contrary to international standards. This does not correspond with information given to AI by facility staff, who claimed they would only use restraints inside the facility in a "grave situation"—for example, if someone is violent. ¹⁶¹

Seven out of 23 (30 percent) of the secure facilities reported that restraints may be utilized to punish children on the grounds of misbehavior. Reasons listed were, among others: acting out, sexual acting out, possession of contraband, refusal to follow detention rules, refusing movement, and being out of control. This is in direct contravention with international standards, which prohibit the use of restraints as punishment.¹⁶²

AI has also received reports of restraints being applied in a painful and callous manner, violating the provisions of UN standards, mentioned above. 163

- **Gila County, Arizona:** A fifteen-year-old was reportedly left restrained in his room in handcuffs for over 12 hours. He reportedly later showed his attorney marks on his wrists, which seemed consistent with handcuffs. 164
- BCYC, Secure Unit, Pennsylvania: Advocates told AI that they had seen scars around the wrists of one child that came from being restrained every day. Another child reported to Amnesty International that he had been picked up, thrown to the ground, and handcuffed behind his back while a staff member put his knee on his back. (This restraint hold was later described and demonstrated to AI delegates by facility staff.) Staff reportedly then grabbed his hands and dragged them across the carpet. He showed AI delegates his hands, which were grazed across the knuckles. He told AI that the staff held him down for about half an hour, despite his complaints that his back hurt, and said a guard kicked his ankle when he complained about the pain.

Immobilizing Restraints

¹⁶⁰ AI telephone interview with Atieno Odhiambo, attorney with Columbia Legal Services, 1/24/03.

¹⁶¹ AI interviews at Gila County, 11/5/02.

¹⁶² Article 33 of the Standard Minimum Rules for the Treatment of Prisoners states: "Instruments of restraint, such as handcuffs, chains, irons and strait-jacket, shall never be applied as a punishment."

¹⁶³ UN Rules for the Protection of Juveniles Deprived of their Liberty, Art. 63. Likewise, the UN Standard Minimum Rules for the Treatment of Prisoners, Art. 33, provides that restraints in the case of people in custody should be used only for so long as is strictly necessary to prevent damage or injury.

¹⁶⁴ AI interview with Florence Immigrant and Refugee Rights Project, 11/4/02.

¹⁶⁵ AI interview with advocacy group, August 2002.

¹⁶⁶ AI interview, Advocacy group, August 2002.

Seven of the secure facilities surveyed reported having immobilizing restraints, such as restraint beds, chairs, and "the wrap" (a type of straitjacket). Use of such restraints can cause emotional and physical injury and may be open to abuse.

AI has expressed concern at the growing use of restraint chairs in U.S. detention facilities, following reports of deaths, as well as numerous cases of abuse and ill treatment involving their use. ¹⁶⁷ AI believes the chairs are prone to abuse because they are so easily deployed and their use is virtually unregulated in many jurisdictions. ¹⁶⁸ In May 2000, the United Nations Committee Against Torture issued recommendations to the U.S. government to abolish the use of restraint chairs on the grounds that their use led to breaches of the Convention Against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment. Six of the 23 (26 percent) secure facilities responding to AI's survey reported having such instruments available. AI delegates observed a restraint chair in the intake area of the Gila County facility.

Gila County, Arizona: Service providers reported two incidents of immigrant children being placed in the restraint chair. One was a fifteen-year-old Costa Rican boy who had waited six months to be deported. At the time of the incident, he was "in utter despair," self-mutilating and hitting his head against the wall, prompting his placement in the chair. To the knowledge of his attorneys he had no mental illness when he arrived at the facility. 169 Long-term detention is potentially harmful to the mental health of children, particularly for those in secure locations (see below). Facility staff also told AI that there were two incidents in the past year, and stated that staff are trained in the use of the chair, and tape all incidents.

Chemical Restraints

"When I arrived here... the only thing that they told us was about fighting. They told us that if I was in a fight, they would pepper spray me and I was supposed to fall to the ground face first with my hands on the back of my head. They did not tell me any other rules." 170

Oleoresin capiscum (commonly called OC or pepper) spray inflames the mucous membranes, causing closing of the eyes, coughing, gagging, shortness of breath, and an acute burning sensation on the skin and inside the nose and mouth. There is concern about its health risks. 171 Four out of 23 secure facilities (17 percent) responding to Al's survey may use pepper spray as a restraint, placing non-criminal children at risk of being exposed to it. AI has heard accounts that pepper spray has hit children who were bystanders and has been used against children with mental health problems. 172

AI urges U.S. authorities to ensure that a stricter policy be implemented in order to ensure that children are not subjected to indiscriminate and excessive use of restraints in contravention of both international and domestic standards. AI has called on all law enforcement agencies to either cease using pepper spray or to introduce strict limitations on its use, with clear

¹⁶⁷ A restraint chair is a device that consists of a metal-framed chair in which prisoners are immobilized in four-point restraints securing both arms and legs and a strap across the chest.

¹⁶⁸ Amnesty International, United States of America: The Restraint Chair - How Many More Deaths?, AI-Index: AMR 51/031/2002, 02/25/02.

169 AI interview with Florence Immigrant and Refugee Rights Project, 11/4/02.

Declaration of child provided to AI by Legal Organization, May 2003.

¹⁷¹ Amnesty International, *Betraying the Young*, 1998, p. 20.

OIG, Unaccompanied Juveniles in INS Custody, 2001; Women's Commission for Refugee Women and Children, May 2002; Angel Avila, The Oregonian, December 2000; Associated Press, September 1998.

monitoring procedures. In any event, chemical spray should not be used against children with mental health problems, who should be more appropriately dealt with by staff trained in mental health care (see 4.8).

4.6 Exercise, Access to Open Air, and Recreation

Several of the facilities utilized by immigration authorities do not live up to international and domestic standards governing access to exercise and outdoor activity. ¹⁷³ Specifically, Flores stipulates that activities must include daily outdoor activity, weather permitting, and at least one hour per day of large muscle activity. Some advocates reported that in certain facilities there is no outdoor access at all. This was also reported by one of the secure facilities responding to AI's survey. 174 AI also heard reports from children that they had not been provided with any exercise—in particular, secure facilities in Texas (Brownsville and San Antonio).

San Antonio, Texas: R.T. reported that for the 20 days he spent in this facility, he did not see the sun and spent most of the time in his cell. He reports that all the children were awoken at 4 A.M. and made to do exercises in the hallway and then sent back to their rooms. 175

Three of the 23 (13 percent) secure facilities responding to AI's survey reported that they do not offer at least one hour of daily outdoor recreation. A number of the facilities appeared to be unaware of the Flores requirement. Only one of the facilities AI visited, BCYC, reported it meets the required standards, although AI received complaints from children housed there that this is not always the case. Facilities commonly lack access to appropriate recreational and physical training and adequate space, installations and equipment, as is required by international standards. 176 In some instances exercise or time outdoors allegedly is withheld as a disciplinary measure, despite the fact that *Flores* expressly prohibits this. 177

International standards emphasize the importance of recreation and leisure time for children, in particular for those in detention, and state that apart from the daily exercise children should receive, additional time for leisure activities should be provided to juveniles deprived of their liberty. 178 The UNHCR Guidelines explain that play is vital to the healthy development of a child. It is a child's way of coping with what has happened, of relieving tensions and of assimilating what he or she has learned. The Guidelines hold that reception centers should have play areas and promote play. 179 AI has found that while some facilities emphasize recreational activities, others provide little stimulus for the children, and some provide no opportunities at all for play and leisure. AI was pleased to note the extent to which the facility in Chicago provides the children with opportunities to play and pursue recreational activities. However, such high standards were not met in any other facility visited, including both secure and shelter facilities. A number of detention centers overemphasize the use of TV as a recreational stimulus, despite the

¹⁷³ UN Rules for the Protection of Juveniles Deprived of their Liberty, 1990, Art. 47, provide that "every juvenile should have the right to a suitable amount of time for daily free exercise, in the open air whenever weather permits;" Flores, Exhibit 1(a).

¹⁷⁴ Skagit County Youth and Family Services Juvenile Probation Department, Washington.

¹⁷⁵ AI interview, fall 2002.

¹⁷⁶ UN Rules for the Protection of Juveniles Deprived of their Liberty, 1990, Art. 47. See also Wendy Young, Director of Government Relations and U.S. Programs, Women's Commission on Refugee Women and Children, testimony before the U.S. Senate Committee on the Judiciary, Subcommittee on Immigration, 2/28/02.

¹⁷⁸ The UN Rules for the Protection of Juveniles Deprived of their Liberty, Article 47 (1990); the CRC also clearly stipulates the right of the child to leisure and to engage in play and recreational activities appropriate to the age of the child. (CRC, Article 31, 1). ¹⁷⁹ UNHCR, Guidelines for Refugee Children, 1994.

Flores requirement of at least one hour per day of structured leisure time that should not include time spent watching television. Reports also indicate that children may in some cases be forced to watch TV in English and are punished if they close their eyes. ¹⁸⁰ Furthermore, Flores stipulates that recreation and leisure time should be increased to a total of three hours a day on days when school is not in session. AI spoke to several children who had been housed in secure, commingled facilities in Texas, where there had been no school activities, and where the children had been held in lock-down for 23 hours a day. (See above, "Solitary Confinement," 4.3.)

4.7 Education

Receiving appropriate education is essential for children, and it is also a basic right under international law. The right to education is enshrined in UDHR. Article 26, and ICESCR, Article 13. Both provide that everyone has the right to education. Other international instruments relating specifically to detained persons specify that states have the responsibility to provide education for detained juveniles, in particular asylum-seekers, to ease their acclimatization. "Every juvenile of compulsory school age has the right to education suited to his or her needs and abilities and designed to prepare him or her for return to society." ¹⁸² Indeed, many of the children AI interviewed told delegates that attending school was the best—or only good thing about their situation.

Immigration authorities in many instances fail to provide for this essential right. According to advocates, access to education nationwide is "hit or miss." AI found that 12 percent of the respondents to our survey (four out of 33) do not provide education at all. In particular, four of 10 interviewed children, who had been held in secure facilities in Texas for more than three days, reported to AI delegates that they had not received educational instruction. ¹⁸⁴

In particular, the children who were housed in secure facilities designed to hold juveniles offenders were denied the right to education, following a pattern previously reported by AI. ¹⁸⁵ In some instances, the denial of education has allegedly been utilized as a disciplinary tool for children in custody.

International laws and standards provide that states must accord to refugees the same treatment as is accorded to nationals with respect to elementary education. However, it has been a concern among some advocates that the educational standards are low in certain facilities with poor language instruction and teaching capabilities and little educational material

¹⁸⁰ AI interviews at BCYC, September 2002; AI interview with advocates, August 2002.

¹⁸¹ Further, the CRC, Art. 29, recognizes the role of education in allowing the development of the child's personality, talents and mental and physical abilities to their fullest potential.

¹⁸² UN Rules for the Protection of Juveniles Deprived of their Liberty, Rule 38. The UNHCR Guidelines for Refugee Children, provides additional rights for refugees. It requires that states must ensure that all refugee children, and those seeking asylum, have access to primary education. It stipulates in Article 22(1) that appropriate educational opportunities should be provided to children during the determination of refugee status or in reception centers.

¹⁸³ AI interview with advocate, January 2003.

¹⁸⁴ AI interview, Chicago, October 2002. In a few instances, the lack of education may have been linked to a summer schedule where there are no classes, although not all the children stayed at the facilities long enough to be able to verify this. While such a break may be appropriate for children outside a detention facility, it is clearly not for children detained for a prolonged period of time.

¹⁸⁵ In *Betraying the Young*, Amnesty International notes that some juvenile facilities in the U.S. have failed to provide adequate services for children in detention.

¹⁸⁶ The Refugee Convention, Art. 22; the UNHCR Guidelines for Refugee Children, chap. 2, Sec. 1, also provide that the quality of education for refugee children should be as high as for nationals of the same age.

available. 187 Such a situation may also violate provisions in *Flores* stipulating that educational services appropriate to the minor's level of development and communication skills be provided. 188 International standards suggest that education should be provided outside the detention facility whenever possible. ¹⁸⁹ AI is not aware of any programs that provide education outside the detention facility.

AI is concerned that a great number of children are severely hampered in their ability to access education due to language difficulties, in particular those who do not speak any English or Spanish. Only 43 percent (10 out of 23) of responding secure facilities reported that they teach English as a second language, and 48 percent (16 out of 33) of all the responding facilities reported that they do not offer education in the children's native language. Thus in many instances, U.S. authorities may be in violation of international law as well as the Flores agreement, which stipulates that the educational program shall include materials in such languages as needed. 190 The UNHCR places great emphasis on the maintenance of the mother tongue as a critical factor in retaining identity and strongly recommends that the children's own language be used as the primary medium of instruction.¹⁹¹

Availability of reading materials in languages other than English for use during leisure time is highly recommended by international standards and reaffirmed in Flores. The UN Rules for the Protection of Juveniles Deprived of their Liberty, Article 41, stipulates that every detention facility should provide access to a library that is adequately stocked with both instructional and recreational books and periodicals, and that juveniles should be encouraged to make full use of it. Flores also states that minors should be provided with appropriate reading materials in languages other than English for use during the minor's leisure time. 192 Several children reported, however, that they had no access to reading materials in their mother tongue.

4.8 Mental Health Services

"Gets pressure. Can't breathe. Like a needle... It's when I'm thinking."

- Child interviewed by AI, fall 2002

AI has received several reports of children exhibiting disturbing symptoms of mental illness, which may be attributable, in part, to the severe conditions under which they are held or to their long-term detention. 193 Many children housed in secure detention reportedly exhibit symptoms of mental health problems, some crying continuously, others being depressed and listless. According to one of the lawyers AI spoke to, it is not uncommon for children to attempt suicide. She stated, "I've just come to accept that it is one of their reactions." She also noted that

¹⁸⁹ UN Rules for the Protection of Juveniles Deprived of their Liberty, Art. 38; UN Standard Minimum Rules for the Treatment of Prisoners, 1955. Art. 77(2).

¹⁸⁷ AI interviews with Southern Californian Legal Organization, January 2003, and Texas Legal Organization, January

¹⁸⁸ Flores, Exhibit 1(a).

¹⁹⁰ Flores, Exhibit 1(a)(4). See also UNHCR Guidelines for Refugee Children (1994), Chapter 9: Education, which stipulates that education "should be in the child's own language—at least initially..."; and CRC, Art. 29(c), which holds that "the education of a child should be directed to the development of respect for the child's parents, his or her own cultural identity, language and values." ¹⁹¹ UNHCR Guidelines for Refugee Children, 1994.

¹⁹² Exhibit 1(a)(4).

¹⁹³ AI has previously reported that for adult asylum-seekers, the distress of flight from their own country can only be exacerbated by isolation from families and caregivers, resulting in some evidence of suicide attempts and depression among those indefinitely detained with little or no contact with outside assistance. Amnesty International, Lost in the Labyrinth, 1999, p. 63.

it is especially difficult for non-criminal children, who have of course never been to jail before. Other children have reportedly suffered anxiety attacks or breakdowns.

Gila County, Arizona: AI delegates observed a child lying listlessly on the floor in his cell and were informed that there was doubt as to his identity. He was held in solitary confinement and isolated from the other children. Later, AI delegates observed the same child being taken to the medical office, reportedly because he complained that he could not breathe—apparently having an anxiety attack. He looked dazed and very red in the face, as if he had been crying, and was supported by a guard on each side. AI later found out he was a sixteen-year-old asylum-seeker whose case was under appeal by the INS. He had been housed in a shelter facility nearby, and reportedly was suddenly transferred to Gila in full shackles with no explanation. No one at the facility had spoken to him about what was happening, nor was he allowed to make any calls to his attorney, who had not been informed of his transfer. At the time of the attack, the boy had been there for five days, with no contact to the outside world, so afraid and confused that he had allegedly not been able to eat. His attorney was finally contacted by the warden to inform her of his "nervous breakdown." When she saw him, he kept begging her repeatedly, "Help me!" and started crying as she was leaving and explained he would be strip-searched, as is routine after attorney visits. The attorney noted that she normally spends time with the children who are likely to be transferred to Gila to explain what they can expect. She had not anticipated that might be necessary for this child. 192

Despite the vulnerable and traumatized state of children detained by immigration authorities, and the harm that may further ensue due to long-term detention in punitive conditions, AI has found that there are serious deficiencies in the amount and quality of mental health care provided. Reportedly, it is not uncommon that counselors speak only English, impeding any attempts at communication with the majority of children. International law and standards stress the right of children to receive mental health care and treatment. The CRC stipulates appropriate measures to promote the physical and psychological recovery and social reintegration of a child victim of any form of neglect, exploitation, torture, or any other form of cruel, inhuman, or degrading treatment or punishment. The Flores settlement confirms these obligations by stipulating that one hour of individual and two hours of group counseling sessions should be provided to the children weekly. However, only three out of 23 secure facilities (13 percent) responding to AI's survey reported that they provide any kind of weekly counseling. At Gila County, and in several other secure facilities, counseling is only available in emergency situations.

Children reportedly do not receive mental health care in emergency situations, either, in contravention of international and domestic standards. Only five secure facilities and half of the shelter facilities reported that they retain mental health professionals trained in dealing with trauma, which means that 30 percent (10 out of 33) of all surveyed facilities provide such essential services. In line with this finding, AI has received numerous reports of children with

¹⁹⁴ AI visit at Gila, 11/5/02; AI interview with attorney, November 2002.

¹⁹⁵ CRC, Art. 39. Refugee children and children eligible for other types of relief fall under this category and must be provided with all appropriate measures to ensure their recovery. See also UN Rules for the Protection of Juveniles Deprived of their Liberty, Art. 49.

¹⁹⁶ Flores, Exhibit (a)(6).

Any juvenile demonstrating symptoms of mental difficulties should be examined promptly. Medical services should seek to detect and treat any mental illness. See UN Rules for the Protection of Juveniles Deprived of their Liberty, Art. 51. Similar provisions are also contained in the UN Standard Minimum Rules for the Treatment of Prisoners, Art. 22. The Flores agreement also requires that licensed programs shall provide appropriate mental health interventions when necessary, Exhibit(a)(2).

mental health problems, with which the facility staff were not equipped to deal. Facility staff have in some cases reportedly failed to retain mental health professionals and hindered service providers in their efforts to secure such assistance.

- **BCYC, Pennsylvania:** Advocates told AI that they had witnessed one child in the secure unit with serious mental health problems. He deteriorated rapidly, reportedly hearing voices and hallucinating. Although the case was brought to the attention of the superintendent, no further action was taken; the clinical social worker allegedly did not even make an assessment. Through concerned service providers, pro bono medical attention was retained, but the boy refused to take medication. Though the doctors offered to treat the child at a hospital instead, the INS refused permission.
- AI has also spoken with a number of service providers who have expressed concern that the response to children exhibiting emotional or mental distress is often simply to place the child in solitary confinement (see above). For example, AI has heard reports of a sixteen-year-old who attempted to take his life three times in the six months while he was being held in a secure facility. He was placed on "suicide watch," entailing holding him in solitary confinement and a staff person checking in on him periodically. He reportedly received no mental health counseling. 198

Failure to diagnose children in detention properly and the inadequate access to counseling and other assistance may result in serious behavioral problems. Behavior ranging from depression to violence will be exacerbated if the child's trauma is not recognized and managed in light of his or her special circumstances. Unless detaining officials know the history of their charges, they risk misconstruing the behavior of those suffering the after-effects of torture, ill treatment, or other trauma. In some instances guards respond inappropriately to children with symptoms of mental health problems using restraints, force, or solitary confinement. INS officials have also described a policy of transferring children who exhibit symptoms of mental health problems, including suicidal tendencies, to secure facilities.¹⁹⁹

AI is concerned by reports that, in at least one jurisdiction, information divulged by children to caseworkers and counselors may in some cases not be kept confidential and may be used against the children in court. This may be a contravention of international standards requiring the authorities entrusted with the care of the children to act in their best interests. The inherent conflict of interest, which existed when the (now-abolished) INS played the role of both prosecutor and caregiver, is evident in this situation.

• Southwest Key Program, Arizona: AI received reports suggesting that information about the children obtained during counseling sessions by social caseworkers may be divulged to immigration authorities and used against the children in court. Attorneys were able to give recent examples of how the children had been encouraged to talk about themselves and then found that the information had made its way to the courts. INS officials asserted that they do not have access to the mental health evaluations of the children. However, they did confirm that if an attorney asks for an independent professional—either mental health or medical—to provide input in a asylum case (for example, to evaluate physical or mental signs of torture or trauma), clinician records may be shared with the INS trial attorney. This would seem to indicate that these records are available to the prosecution of the child. In a recent case in Arizona an immigration judge held the INS in contempt for (among other issues) seeking to use a social worker

²⁰⁰ AI interview at Gila County, 11/5/03.

¹⁹⁸ AI telephone interview with attorney, January 2003.

¹⁹⁹ AI interview in Chicago, 10/30/02.

under contract with the INS at the shelter facility to testify against a child asylum-seeker from Guatemala.²⁰¹

4.9 Religion

According to the UN Rules for the Protection of Juveniles Deprived of Their Liberty, Article 48, every juvenile should be allowed to practice his or her religious life by attending services or by conducting his or her own services, and by having the necessary books or items of religious observance. If sufficient numbers of juveniles of a given religion are detained in a facility, qualified representatives of that religion should be allowed to hold regular services. Furthermore, every juvenile should have the right to receive private visits from a qualified representative of any religion of his or her choice. AI believes that access to religious needs and services should be provided to all children, particularly since "a crucial element in regaining cultural normalcy is the renewed practice of religious and ritual activities," according to the UNHCR Guidelines for Refugee Children.

AI is concerned that unaccompanied children in detention have inconsistent access to religious services. The organization welcomes the attempt by several facilities to accommodate some of the religious needs of detained children and urges that all facilities be required to take steps to meet the children's needs.

4.10 Girls

According to the UN Guidelines women asylum-seekers and adolescent girls, especially those who arrive unaccompanied, are particularly at risk when compelled to remain in detention centers. Furthermore, they require that women asylum-seekers should receive the same access to services without discrimination as to their gender, and specific services in response to their special needs. All has not found any specific services catering to the special needs of girls, such as the provision of special recreational activities for girls, or medical attention and counseling tailored to meet their gender-specific needs or potential traumas. None of the facilities responding to the survey reported that they provide special arrangements for the needs of girls, beyond separate housing, shower, and eating arrangements.

The ICCPR requires that states must respect and ensure the rights of children, without discrimination of any kind, including based on a child's sex. AI's findings indicate that unaccompanied girls detained by immigration authorities may in some cases be afforded fewer rights and suffer more hardship because of their sex. In particular, girls are more likely to be housed with adults or with juvenile offenders, because there are fewer of them, placing them at risk of abuse. At the Gila County Juvenile Detention Center in Arizona, staff and children told AI delegates during their visit that commingling had recently been curtailed at this facility. However, unaccompanied girls are still commingled with girls convicted of criminal offenses during recreation time. Offenses during recreation time.

The UNHCR Guidelines also recommend the use of female guards in detention centers housing women, respect for cultural values, and improving the physical safety of women in

²⁰¹ Matter of Salik-Lopez, A95 283 410, IJ, 2/2/02. See also Dennis Wagner, *Judge Slaps INS Officials with Contempt Charges*, The Arizona Republic, 12/4/02.

²⁰² UNHCR Guidelines on Detention of Asylum-seekers, 1999. Chapter 8.

²⁰³ ICCPR, article 2(1); also contained in the CRC, article 2(1).

²⁰⁴ AI interview at Gila County, 11/5/02.

detention centers.²⁰⁵ Nevertheless, such steps have not always been followed by facilities under contract with the INS. Only 27 percent of the facilities (six secure and three shelter) responding to AI's survey retain female staff for girls.

San Diego, California: Privacy needs are not always accommodated with respect to gender. During the visit of an NGO, a male guard was overseeing the girls' wing. From his control station, he reportedly had plain view of the girls' toilet and shower area, through a plate-glass window less than ten feet away. The doors to the toilets and showers were described as only about two to three feet in height, offering little privacy. ²⁰⁶

5. CONCERNS ABOUT ACCESS TO ASSISTANCE AND SUPPORT IN **DETENTION**

5.1 Access to Legal Representation and Other Forms of Assistance in Detention

"Every child deprived of his or her liberty shall have the right to prompt access to legal and other appropriate assistance."

- CRC, Art. 37(d)

International standards require that all persons who are arrested or detained have the right to inform family members of the detention and place of confinement.²⁰⁷ The UN Standard Minimum Rules on the Administration of Juvenile Justice provide that parents or guardians shall be notified immediately upon apprehension of a child. The UNHCR Guidelines for Refugee Children also states that attempts to trace parents or other relatives is essential and must be undertaken as early as possible, including across borders in collaboration with the International Committee of the Red Cross (ICRC).²⁰⁹

Every arrested or detained person, whether or not held on a criminal charge, has the right to the assistance of legal counsel. U.S. law stipulates that individuals held for immigration violations have a right to counsel but not to court-appointed or state-funded attorneys. The OIG, as well as several NGOs, have found that the practical implication of this is that the majority of children detained by the INS do not have legal representation.²¹⁰

The UN Human Rights Committee has stressed that "all persons arrested must have immediate access to counsel."211 The UNHCR Guidelines for Refugee Children provide that a legal representative should be appointed immediately to ensure that the interests of an applicant for refugee status who is a minor are fully safeguarded.²¹² According to U.S. standards. unaccompanied immigrant children should be provided with information regarding the right to be represented by counsel, the availability of free legal assistance and the right to apply for political

²⁰⁵ UNHCR Guidelines on Detention of Asylum-seekers, 1999

²⁰⁶ Women's Commission for Refugee Women and Children, May 2002.

²⁰⁷ UN Body of Principles, 16; UN Standard Minimum Rules for the Treatment of Prisoners, 92.

²⁰⁸ UN Standards Minimum Rules for the Administration of Juvenile Justice: Part Two. Investigation and Prosecution, 10(1); The UN Body of Principles, Principle 16 (3)

²⁰⁹ UNHCR Guidelines for Refugee Children, chap. 10, Sec. 3, Family Tracing.

²¹⁰ OIG, Unaccompanied Juveniles in INS Custody, 2001; Andrew Morton, attorney, Latham & Watkins, testimony before the U.S. Senate Committee on the Judiciary, Subcommittee on Immigration, 02/28/02; see chapter 7 for further

discussion ²¹¹ UN Doc. CCPR/C/79 Add, 4/09/97. Furthermore, Principle 7 of the UN Basic Principles on the Role of Lawyers states that access to a lawyer must be granted "promptly." The Inter-American Commission has also concluded that the right to counsel set out in Article 8(2) of the American Convention on Human Rights applies on the first interrogation. (OEASer.L/V/11.62, doc. 10, rev. 3, 1983.)
²¹² UNHCR Guidelines for Refugee Children, 1994, chap.8.

asylum. 213 AI has received reports that not only have children not been informed of their rights upon arrest, but they have often gone weeks, months, without such information. Many of these children arrive in the U.S. traumatized, frightened, and confused. They face a complex system, commonly in a language they do not understand, and with no one to guide them or give them answers to their most basic questions.

- San Antonio, Texas: R.T. reported that after he was apprehended, he was told that he had the right to an attorney, but was not given any further explanation of how to avail himself of that right. He reported that he had been made to sign some papers: "The officers just told me to sign here." During the interview with AI, his pro bono attorney checked R.T.'s file and found the papers he had signed. They indicated he had waived the right to a lawyer and to see a judge, and furthermore, had agreed to voluntary departure. R.T. became visibly upset, telling AI that he had not known he had signed any such statement.214
- El Paso, Texas: T.J. reported to AI delegates that nobody came to talk to him about his rights. He asked the officers what to do, since he was afraid to go back to India, but was told that they did not know. T.J. said to AI, "All I knew was what the judge had told me and that I was going to be sent to a children's jail." ²¹⁵

According to Flores, unaccompanied children must be provided with a list of pro bono lawyers to assist them in identifying counsel. 216 In response to the questionnaire sent by AI, 15 out of 23 (65 percent) responding secure facilities indicated that they do not hand out such lists, and another seven facilities did not indicate whether such lists were provided. In some instances, children reported to AI that they were given a list of lawyers, but no one explained what to do with the list. Children in such situations are frightened and alone and do not have the experience or knowledge to utilize a list of lawyers without further support. One secure facility housing mainly unaccompanied minors reported that all 40 of the children housed there had no attorney.²¹⁷ A shelter facility reported that 10 out of 12 children housed there had no attorney. ²¹⁸

Several practices in the INS detention system hindered children's access to information and assistance. In particular, children in secure facilities seem to be adversely affected in their ability to access legal counsel. Several secure facilities gave responses indicating that they did not grasp the differences between regular juvenile detainees and immigration children, and that they believe, erroneously, that when the child goes to court, a lawyer will be appointed automatically. One facility responded, "If they are in our facility they would have legal counsel," another stated that the Public Defender's Office provides legal counsel for the children, and one reported that the INS provides legal services, neither of which is correct.

A number of children are placed in facilities that are remote and difficult to access for lawyers willing to take on their cases, as well as for translators, NGOs, and other service providers. The INS apparently failed to take due account of the extreme difficulties it causes children and those who seek to assist them by detaining them in some instances in facilities far removed from legal or other assistance. Furthermore, the INS makes it difficult for organizations willing to provide pro bono legal services to gain access to children in some regions, refusing to

²¹³ This also includes the right to a deportation or exclusion hearing before an immigration judge, or to request voluntary departure in lieu of deportation. *Flores*, Exhibit (1)(a)(14) and Juvenile Protocol Manual, 7.4.3. ²¹⁴ AI interview, fall 2002.

²¹⁵ AI interview, fall 2002.

²¹⁶ Flores, Exhibit (2)(J).

²¹⁷ La Esperanza, Southwest Key Program, Brownsville, Texas.

²¹⁸ Southwest Key Program, San Diego, California.

provide details of the whereabouts of children. One attorney said it had become "almost impossible" to locate where unaccompanied children were being held, especially when immigration authorities use new facilities to house children. He was recently contacted by a jail warden who allegedly said that he did not know what to do with a child who had been crying for four days, placed in his facility by immigration authorities. There were four other immigrant children at the facility.²¹⁹ Eight out of 10 children AI spoke with, who had been in Texas for more than three days, had not seen an attorney during this time. One of the children was held in a Texas jail for 20 days, another for a full month, without speaking to an attorney.²²⁰

5.2 Access to Non-Governmental Organizations (NGOs)

Since asylum-seekers and other immigrants are not provided with legal representation from the state, the only hope for many of them lies in pro bono legal assistance from NGOs, law clinics, or a limited number of law firms that do pro bono immigration cases. Over the years, attorneys and NGOs have faced problems in trying to gain access to detention facilities to discover who is in need of assistance. In several of the visited facilities local NGOs and/or pro bono lawyers are guaranteed regular access. AI observed how much regular contact with NGOs means to the children in the facilities where such contact is allowed, in terms of their ability to understand and access their various rights, as well as in alleviating the tensions associated with their detention. One way NGOs attempt to communicate to children what their rights are is through group presentations known as "Know Your Rights." In facilities where children may not be represented by an attorney, such presentations carry even higher significance, particularly because children do not have guardians to ensure that their best interests are considered.

INS officials who met with AI delegates in both Arizona (Western Region) and Chicago (Central Region) informed AI that the excellent relationship they had with NGOs and service providers was representative of practices "region-wide." Nevertheless, only 48 percent of facilities responding to AI's survey allow such visits (9 out of 23 secure facilities and 7 out of 10 shelter facilities). Several responses clearly indicated that the facilities were unaware of why NGOs would visit their facility.

In areas where no agreement has been negotiated with NGOs, children must fend for themselves in finding legal representatives and other services. Even when agreements have been negotiated allowing NGOs access to facilities, some express concern that such access could be withdrawn if they publicly voice their concerns about the facilities. AI believes that such a climate of fear would be addressed if the NGOs were given free and legally grounded access to children. AI further believes that in order for the U.S. to comply with its obligation to refugees, the government must go much further than simply allowing NGOs to explain asylum-seeker's rights to them. Since 1999, the Executive Office of Immigration Review (EOIR) has authorized a pilot program in which it cooperates with NGOs that conduct "Know Your Rights" presentations at three sites. AI urges the U.S. authorities to establish similar programs, on a permanent basis, for all detained asylum-seekers.²²²

5.3 Juvenile Coordinator Visits

²²¹ AI interview, Chicago, 10/30/02.

²¹⁹ AI interview with attorney, 11/7/02.

²²⁰ AI interviews, fall 2002.

²²² Amnesty International, *Lost in the Labyrinth*, 1999, p. 38.

Flores requires that an immigration official (an INS District Juvenile Coordinator, or DJC) meet with the children in their district on a weekly basis. ²²³ Only five out of 33 facilities responding to Al's questionnaire indicated that these visits take place weekly. Generally, the shelter facilities reported at least some contact with the DJC, ranging from regular telephone calls to monthly visits, although one facility reported that the DJC only visits "in cases where a minor may have serious behavioral issues." ²²⁴ In particular, children housed in secure facilities with few other immigrant children only rarely, if ever, receive such visits. Four secure facilities responded that the DJC had never visited, three facilities responded that they did not know what a DJC is, and five said that the question was not applicable to them.

The OIG report noted that some District Juvenile Coordinators have hundreds of charges and no way of seeing them all on a weekly basis. An INS official in one district confirmed to AI that they do not speak to all the children on a routine basis, but only to the children who ask to speak with them. Advocates characterized the workload of the DJC as "inhuman" and asserted that many of the problems that arise in the area are due to understaffing. At present it is understood that the ORR will undertake this role as part of their new responsibilities, and, sufficient resources should be made available to ORR to fulfill this function.

5.4 Transfers

"I do not know if she knows where I am. Since I have been here... I have not been able to make a telephone call. My family thinks I am still in Chicago. I don't want them to worry about me. I asked to make a telephone call and the guards said they would let me, but I think they forget. I don't want to bother people. I ask the guards and they always say I can make the telephone call later."

- Sixteen-year-old boy describing not being allowed to speak to his attorney or family after transfer five days earlier²²⁷

The INS designated all bed spaces as "national," meaning that any INS district could request transfer and placement of a child to wherever a shelter, foster care, or secure placement was available. Reports from advocates indicate that transfers may move a child far from family members or attorneys and frequently fail to take into account a child's special needs, such as the need for special language services or specialized counseling. Some children have reported not being able to tell their families about their transfer to another facility for days. Access to family is an important principle in international standards governing the conditions of detention for persons deprived of their liberty. Furthermore, transfers often undermine the child's legal case because they make effective communication with the child difficult, and, since essential case preparation time is interrupted, creates problems for the already underresourced pro bono network.

²²³ "The Juvenile Coordinator must make weekly visits to any facility where INS juveniles are housed, to see the facility and to visit the juveniles housed there." Juvenile Aliens: A Special Population, Immigration and Naturalization Service Juvenile Protocol Manual, Sec. 4.1.5. A juvenile coordinator was assigned to each of the 33 designated immigration districts.

²²⁴ Southwest Key Program, Casa San Diego, El Cajon, California.

²²⁵ AI interview at Gila County, 11/5/02.

²²⁶ AI interview at Florence Immigrant and Refugee Rights Project, 11/4/02.

²²⁷ Declaration of child provided to AI by Legal Organization, May 2003.

²²⁸ Juvenile Protocol Manual, Sec. 4.1.4.

²²⁹ AI interview at FIAC, 12/18/02.

United Nations Rules for the Protection of Juveniles Deprived of their Liberty, I. 59 and 60; CRC, Article 10 (2),
 UN Body of Principles for the Protection of All Persons under Any Form of Detention or Imprisonment, Principle 19.
 Ibid.

Children are sometimes transferred between facilities without notification to attorneys, in contravention of Flores. 232 The pro bono Florida Immigration Advocacy Center (FIAC) told AI that the INS never provided advance notice of a transfer. Such cases include Alfredo Lopez Sanchez and Ernst Poulard, who were transferred from Florida to BCYC in Pennsylvania, 1,200 miles away. 233

Transfers of children occur frequently and often seem to be conducted for arbitrary reasons, having more to do with the logistical or regulatory concerns of the INS than with the needs of the child.

Texas: Twin brothers were reportedly held in a shelter facility. Due to a state regulation that children could not remain at the shelter for longer than three months, the brothers were transferred after three months to foster care for one day, and then returned to the shelter. This was repeated after six months. They were detained for a total of eight months.²³⁴

Several children reported to AI that they were confused about the transfer and that no one explained to them what was going on. Children and advocates also reported that the children are routinely shackled during transfers. (See above, "Restraints," for more detail.)

Alfredo Lopez-Sanchez was transferred from Boystown. He told AI that he was moved at night, half-asleep, with no explanation as to why or where he was being taken. He reported being very scared, because he thought he was being returned to Guatemala. "I freeze when INS comes. I get nervous and cold. [The INS] don't tell me anything."

5.5 Accessing Assistance: Handbooks

"I do not know what I am supposed to do or how to communicate with the guards. When I need to use the bathroom I raise my hand. They yell at me, but I stay quiet.... I think only some of them know that I do not speak English." 235

Flores requires that children be provided with a written copy of and comprehensive orientation in the rules as well as their rights upon admission into a facility. 236 These rights are also guaranteed by international standards, which provide that upon admission all juveniles shall be given a copy of the rules governing the detention facility and a written description of their rights and obligations in a language they can understand. ²³⁷ AI has found that children are often not provided with information at all, or are provided with materials ill suited to their needs. Twenty-seven percent (nine out of 33) of the facilities responding to AI's questionnaire reported that they do not provide a handbook to the children. This was equally prevalent among shelter and secure facilities. (Two provide a video orientation instead.) This failure to provide the children with the necessary information exacerbates their vulnerability and leaves them ill-

²³² Flores, par. 27, stipulates that no minor shall be transferred without advance notice to his or her counsel in a timely

²³³ AI interview at FIAC, 12/4/02 and 12/18/02. Also see FIAC report, 2002, p. 3.

²³⁴ Julianne Duncan, Director of Children's Services for Migration and Refugee Services, U.S. Conference of Catholic Bishops, testimony before the U.S. Senate Committee on the Judiciary, Subcommittee on Immigration, 2/28/02. ²³⁵ Declaration of child provided to AI by legal organization, May 2003.

According to the *Flores* agreement, Exhibit (1)(a), a comprehensive orientation regarding program intent, services, rules, expectations and the availability of legal assistance must be provided to unaccompanied minors. The rules must be provided verbally and in writing.

The UN Rules for the Protection of Juveniles Deprived of their Liberty. Adopted by General Assembly resolution 45/113 of 14 December 1990; Art. IV (B) (24).

equipped to deal with both detention in and of itself, as well as access to their rights, including rights to asylum or immigration relief.

In many facilities, if there is a handbook, it is available only in English. Although the majority of unaccompanied children are Spanish-speaking, only 41 percent of the secure facilities that have handbooks provide them in Spanish (seven out of 17). Children who are not Spanish speakers are seldom provided with a handbook in their language, and only one secure facility reported that they have the handbook available in languages other than Spanish and English. ²³⁸ The numbers were higher for shelter facilities, though still only half of those with handbooks offered them in languages other than Spanish.

International standards specifically provide that all juveniles should be helped to understand the regulations of the facility as well as any other information necessary to enable them to fully understand their rights and responsibilities. ²³⁹

• Medina County, Texas: A.B. was given the secure facility's rules in Spanish. She reports being forced to sign a paper saying that she had read and understood the rules. She wanted to read them first, but she told AI that a guard told her she must sign the paper right

away—she "would end up signing them anyway." She was not allowed to take a written copy of the rules with her to read later. She told AI delegates that this meant she did not know the rules when she first started, though eventually other girls explained them to her.



Fega, an eight-year-old unaccompanied child from Nigeria testifying before the U.S. Senate on 28 February 2002.

© Steven Rubin

5.6 Interpreters/ Translation

The isolation and confusion many detained children experience is compounded in some cases by language difficulties. Failure to provide support to children in a language they understand violates international standards, including the ICCPR, the UN Rules for Juveniles Deprived of Their Liberty, and the CRC.²⁴⁰ AI has found that interpreters or telephonic services may not always be used where needed. Only eight out of 23 (35 percent) of secure facilities responding to AI's survey reported using telephonic translation services, while six out of 10 shelters use this service (60 percent). Some reported that telephonic services would only be utilized in the event of an emergency.

Gila County, Arizona: Staff told AI delegates that "ninety-nine percent of immigration detainees are Spanish speakers." Several Spanish-speaking boys reported to AI that they sometimes did not understand what the guards were saying to them, and could not communicate with them. Three out of the five children AI spoke to had requested to speak to the warden, who speaks Spanish, if they had a problem, despite the fact that they would be subjected to shackling and a strip search in order to do so.

49

²³⁸ BCYC, Berks County, Pennsylvania.

²³⁹ UN Rules for Juveniles Deprived of Their Liberty: All juveniles should also be helped to understand goals and methodology of the care provided, disciplinary requirements and procedures, other authorized methods of seeking information and of making complaints, and all such other matters as are necessary to enable them to understand fully their rights and obligations during detention.

²⁴⁰ ICCPR, Art. 14.3; UN Rules for Juveniles Deprived of Their Liberty, Articles 6, 24; CRC, Article 40.

²⁴¹ AI interview at Gila County, 11/5/02.

Martin Hall. Washington: Children at this facility reportedly face "a serious language barrier" and a lack of adequate interpretation. An attorney reports that she had one client who was not feeling well but was unable to tell staff. He was put in a solitary cell and was not able to communicate with staff.²⁴²

According to reports received by AI, children who speak rare languages or dialects have particular trouble communicating their needs and accessing their rights. Only 14 facilities (42 percent) reported having bilingual staff other than Spanish-speaking. Children are reportedly in some instances disciplined for not complying with orders that are communicated in a language they do not understand.

- Boystown, Florida: There is a general perception that a child will speak one of the more common languages, and staff will use that language, regardless of whether or not the child expresses comprehension. This leads to problems when a minor doesn't respond to instructions.
- Boystown, Florida: Fega curled up in a fetal position and wept when she heard Yoruba, her native language for the first time in over a year of detention in the United States. The primary languages at Boystown, where Fega spent 15 months of her life, are Spanish, Creole, and Mandarin. Fega asked the Yoruba interpreter if she was her mother, as she often asked any new woman she encountered.²⁴³

5.7 Telephone Access and Visits

Access to assistance and support for children in detention fluctuates significantly from facility to facility. This uneven access does not correspond with international standards, which stress that every means should be provided to ensure that juveniles have adequate communication with the outside world, as an integral part of the right to fair and humane treatment.²⁴⁴ International standards also stress the importance and right of a child to maintain contact with his or her parents, even when they reside in a different country. 245

5.7.1 Telephones

Facilities generally allow the children to call their lawyers, but some children have reportedly been denied adequate access, in particular while in solitary confinement. In secure facilities, children are often forced to rely on collect calls or phone cards. Seven out of 23 (or 30 percent) secure facilities responding to AI's survey allowed only collect calls or calls using a calling card; another six reported that the child generally has to pay for the call, though special arrangements may be made.

Immigration authorities have at times failed to communicate national standards on access to telephones at all facilities and to ensure these standards are adhered to. According to INS officials, the national policy allows for two calls a week for no less than 10 minutes.²⁴⁶ Although in some facilities, children receive more than the allotted time; in others they receive significantly

²⁴³ FIAC Report, 2002.

²⁴² AI telephone interview with Atieno Odhiambo, attorney with Columbia Legal Services, 1/24/03.

²⁴⁴ United Nations Rules for the Protection of Juveniles Deprived of their Liberty, adopted by General Assembly Resolution 45/113 of 14 December 1990, Rule I (59).

²⁴⁵ "A child whose parents reside in different States shall have the right to maintain on a regular basis, save in exceptional circumstances personal relations and direct contacts with both parents...." CRC, Article 10. ²⁴⁶ AI interview at BCYC, 9/6/02.

less. In some cases, they are allowed to speak for only five minutes.²⁴⁷ In other instances, children have not been informed of this right at all. This failure to allow children to contact outside support does not correspond with international standards.²⁴⁸

Flores provides that children in INS detention must have a reasonable right to privacy, including the right to speak privately on the phone. Nevertheless, the majority of facilities (25 out of 33) responding to the AI questionnaire reported that they log, monitor, and/or record calls. Of these, 52 percent (13 out of 25) reported that they share their records with the INS, or would do so if requested. This lack of privacy may be stressful for the children. At BCYC, R.D. told AI that his caseworker is always there when he talks to his lawyer. "Sometimes I feel afraid—I don't talk about stuff on the phone." Although the INS informed AI that these measures are taken to protect the children from smugglers, attorneys expressed concern that the phone logs and information gleaned from the calls are used in court. 250

• S.C. was twelve years old when he came to the U.S. two years ago. He reportedly came from an extremely abusive background, living in the yard under his house. Advocates told AI that the INS claimed in court that he had made a number of calls to his father. His asylum case was thrown out on this basis, although S.C. claims the calls were to his younger brother, about whom he was very worried.²⁵¹

ORR should allow the children privacy and confidentiality, as well as allow them to feel safe. The stress and hardship of detention is exacerbated if children fear that their actions or words will be turned against them by the only adults many of them are in contact with.

5.7.2 Visits

Most of the children AI spoke to had not received any visitors, several of them because their families were unable to travel to the places where they were held. AI encourages the ORR to attempt to house children nearby relatives in the U.S. willing to sponsor them.

In some cases, the restrictive nature of detention may inhibit the opportunity for some children to receive visits, including from their attorneys. In Florida, attorneys and relatives of children housed in a hotel must request permission 24 hours in advance of any meeting. Children are taken to Krome, an adult INS service. They are reportedly often not brought on time, sometimes miss meals in order to have legal visits, and spend hours waiting to be transported back to the hotel. On at least one occasion, the wrong child was brought to the meeting.

5.8 Consulates

Hardly any of the children AI interviewed had been in contact with their consulates. Of the facilities responding to AI's questionnaire, several seemed unaware of the children's right to contact their consulate, one facility asking AI for more information, ²⁵² and only 12 out of 33 reporting that they notify the children of this right. Although they may choose not to exercise this

²⁴⁷ Reported by children who had been housed in Southwest Key in Arizona and also the case in BCYC, Pennsylvania, until September 2001; AI interviews, fall 2002.
²⁴⁸ International standards hold that every juvenile should have the right to communicate in writing or by telephone at

²⁴⁸ International standards hold that every juvenile should have the right to communicate in writing or by telephone at least twice a week with the person of his or her choice. United Nations Rules for the Protection of Juveniles Deprived of their Liberty, adopted by General Assembly Resolution 45/113 of 14 December 1990, Rule I (59). ²⁴⁹ Exhibit 1(a)(12).

²⁵⁰ AI interview at BCYC, 9/6/02.

²⁵¹ AI interview with advocacy group, August 2002.

²⁵² Montgomery County Youth Facility, Montgomery, Alabama

right (particularly those children who fear return to their home country), all foreign nationals must be informed immediately upon arrest of their right to contact their consulate. It is the responsibility of the U.S. government to ensure this right is protected.²⁵³

6. RELEASE OF CHILDREN FROM DETENTION

Alfredo Lopez Sanchez, age seventeen, arrived in the U.S. seeking asylum from his native Guatemala in June 2001. He reported suffering severe domestic violence and abuse at the hands of his father. He was repeatedly shackled and transferred eight times to various detention facilities. Alfredo had three separate offers of sponsorship but remained in detention. Alfredo speaks a rare Mayan dialect (Southern Low Mam), and an interpreter he met while he was detained in Miami was one of those willing to sponsor his release from detention. Alfredo was transferred to Berks County, Pennsylvania, before finally being released to the custody of his interpreter in December 2002, after 17 months of detention.

- Amnesty International USA Refugee Action, 4 April 2002, and FIAC Report, October 2002

Many unaccompanied children spend months or even years in detention, even though a parent, brother, sister, or other appropriate adult or organization may be willing to take care of them in the U.S. International standards require that children should only be detained for the shortest possible time, and U.S. standards provide for a set of criteria for the release of unaccompanied children. However, in contravention of those standards, immigration authorities have often failed to ensure the timely release of children to someone willing to take care of them.²⁵⁴

According to the Department of Justice, during FY 2000, 2,238 of the 4,136 children detained by the INS were released to a sponsor. However, children may spend considerable periods in detention prior to their release. Sixty percent of children remained in detention for four weeks or less. Of the remaining 40 percent still in detention after four weeks, 7 percent (164 children) remained in custody for more than six months and one percent (20 children) remained in custody for over a year. Children from India and China are disproportionately affected and are subjected to lengthy periods in detention before release. One Chinese child had reportedly been held in custody for nearly two years (631 days). Str.

²⁵³ The Vienna Convention on Consular Relations, which the U.S. ratified without reservation in 1969, provides in Article 5(h) that consular functions consist of safeguarding the interests of minors particularly where any guardianship or trusteeship is required. See also Rule 38(1) of UN Standard Minimum Rules for the Treatment of Prisoners: "Prisoners who are foreign nationals shall be allowed reasonable facilities to communicate with the diplomatic and consular representatives of the State to which they belong." Principle 16(2) of the Body of Principles contains a similar provision.

provision.

254 The United Nations Convention of the Rights of the Child; UN Rules for the Protection of Juveniles Deprived of Their Liberty (UN Rules for the Protection of Juveniles). The Standard Minimum Rules for the Treatment of Prisoners; the Body of Principles for the Protection of All Persons Under Any Form of Detention or Imprisonment (Body of Principles) provide further authoritative guidance for the interpretation of the above treaties. Finally, the UNHCR Guidelines on Refugee Children, the UNHCR Guidelines on Detention of Asylum-seekers, and the Recommendations of the Executive Committee of UNHCR provide additional assistance in complying with the international standards applicable to children in improvious custody.

²⁵⁵ OIG, Unaccompanied Juveniles in INS Custody, 2001. These statistics relate to children detained by the INS for over 72 hours.

²⁵⁶ For all juveniles, the average length of stay was 43.5 days. OIG, Unaccompanied Juveniles in INS Custody, 2001. ²⁵⁷ See OIG, Unaccompanied Juveniles in INS Custody, 2001.

6.1 U.S. National Policy for the Release of Unaccompanied Minors: The Flores Settlement

"[T]he INS shall release a minor from its custody without unnecessary delay" unless detention is required to secure the child's appearance in court or to ensure the minor's safety or that of others.
- Stipulated Settlement Agreement, Flores v. Reno, case no. CV85-4544-RJK (C.D. Cal. 1996)

"[I]t is generally in the best interests of a juvenile to be reunited with his or her parents, either in the United States or abroad, absent evidence that the juvenile will suffer harm....We should be working toward a system that quickly reunites children with their parents in the United States or abroad, or that quickly determines that reunification is not possible."

- Stuart Anderson, INS, testimony before U.S. Senate Committee on the Judiciary, Subcommittee on Immigration, 28 February 2002

The *Flores* settlement requires the INS to release children without unnecessary delay and the agreement lays out in order of preference categories of relatives, unrelated adults, and licensed care settings to which children are to be released.²⁵⁸ These include:

- A parent;
- A legal guardian;
- An adult relative (brother, sister, aunt, uncle, or grandparent);
- An adult individual or entity designated by the parent or legal guardian as capable and willing to care for the child;
- A licensed program willing to accept legal custody;
- An adult individual or entity seeking custody, at the discretion of the INS, when no likely
 alternative to long-term detention appears and family reunification does not appear to be
 a reasonable possibility.

Due to a restrictive interpretation of the above provisions of *Flores* by the INS, lawyers monitoring the implementation of *Flores* note that since the settlement was signed, the population of children in INS custody has increased from a daily average of fewer than 130 in custody in 1996 to a daily average of nearly 500 children in custody in 2000. The DOJ found that INS policies on release of juveniles might in some cases impede expeditious release of children. All is concerned that release decisions appear to be arbitrary and inconsistent, with little consideration given as to what is in the best interests of each child. The following describes just some of the problems that result in delays in releasing children and consequent protracted and unnecessary periods of detention.

6.1.1. Release of Children to Available Family or Other Appropriate Caregivers

The parties to whom children may be released are listed in *Flores* in order of preference. Accordingly, children should be released into the custody of their parents. If that is not an option, then there is nothing to prevent authorities from working down the list and releasing children to other appropriate caregivers, such as a brother, aunt, cousin, or, if no family is available, another suitable sponsor.

²⁵⁸ Flores, par. 14, VI, General Policy Favoring Release.

²⁵⁹ Center for Human Rights and Constitutional Law, National Center for Youth Law, Latham & Watkins, Youth Law Center, *Unaccompanied Immigrant and Refugee Children: A Working Paper Prepared for the Office of Refugee Resettlement*, 14 January 2003.

²⁶⁰ OIG, Unaccompanied Juveniles in INS Custody, 2001.

The INS, however, interpreted the *Flores* list in a way that meant children remained in detention unless the custodian highest on list, who is also in the U.S., arranged to take custody of the child. If that "preferred" caregiver refused to appear, often the child remained in detention. One factor that has prevented potential caregivers from coming forward was an INS policy that many have criticized as effectively using children as "bait" to lure undocumented relatives in the U.S. into removal proceedings. The INS has stated that it was INS policy not to release a child to anyone other than a parent if he or she was known to be in the U.S. According to this policy, an undocumented parent, or indeed any other undocumented potential sponsor had to appear before an INS officer and be served a Notice to Appear (NTA) before a child will be released. (A Notice to Appear initiates immigration proceedings against the sponsor.) If a relative refused to appear before immigration authorities, then the child paid the price by remaining in detention for considerable periods of time, even if another documented relative was available to care for the child.

AI met with U.S. immigration officials in all three former INS regions and all described a restrictive release policy and interpretation of Flores. The National Juvenile Coordinator told AI that children must be released to a parent, held in INS custody, or be returned home. The reason given for the strict policy was that "the closer the relationship, the more control there is over the child"; if children are released to family members who are not particularly close, then they are less likely to appear in court. ²⁶³ INS officials in Arizona (Western Region) told AI that if the parent was undocumented in the U.S. and was unwilling to come forward the child would remain in detention even if an aunt or uncle was residing legally in the country. This is because the INS cannot release the child to an aunt or uncle, since "it is clear that the child is intended to be with the parent." ²⁶⁴

Many of the children with whom AI met indicated that they had relatives in the U.S. who were willing to take care of them. They expressed frustration and despair at having to remain in detention.

- A teenage girl told AI she was upset and could not understand why she could not live with a relative in the U.S. She had been in detention for nine months and told AI that her request to live with him had been turned down because their relationship was "not close enough." ²⁶⁵
- Fega was only seven years old when she arrived in the U.S. Her mother was in the country illegally and refused to claim her for fear of removal. Her father in Nigeria asked that her maternal aunt, a U.S. citizen, be given custody so that Fega could be released from detention; another family member also offered to take care of her but the INS refused to release her to their care. Her attorney tried unsuccessfully to get her released into INS foster care. Fega was finally released after fifteen months in detention. 266

54

²⁶¹ See, for example, Women's Commission for Refugee Women and Children, May 2002.

²⁶² See OIG, Unaccompanied Juveniles in INS Custody, 2001, which cites INS letter to U.S. Catholic Conference and Lutheran Immigration and Refugee Service dated November 1999.

²⁶³ AI meeting with National Juvenile Coordinator at BCYC, Eastern Region, 9/6/02. AI also met on 10/30/02 with the

²⁶³ AI meeting with National Juvenile Coordinator at BCYC, Eastern Region, 9/6/02. AI also met on 10/30/02 with the Central Regional Coordinator in Chicago who confirmed national policy that if a parent is in the country, "the child was destined for that parent," and that the INS encourages the parents to come forward.

²⁶⁴ AI interview at Gila County, 11/5/02. Those present at the meeting included the Western Regional Juvenile

²⁶⁴ AI interview at Gila County, 11/5/02. Those present at the meeting included the Western Regional Juvenile Coordinator and the Arizona District Juvenile Coordinator.

²⁶⁵AI interview, fall 2002.

²⁶⁶ FIAC report, 2002.

AI also received reports of delays being encountered due to what was perceived by many advocates to be excessive demands for paperwork in order to process a request for release, particularly for children from countries where avenues for obtaining documentation, such as birth certificates and identification documentation, is cumbersome. If a child is released to a nonparent, non-legal guardian and the parents are in the home country, they are required to provide written consent notarized at the U.S. consulate to allow the child to be released; this thwarts expeditious family reunification to non-parents or legal guardians. An immigration judge expressed concerns about a requirement for what she believed to be an unreasonable degree of proof of the relationship before some INS officers would release a juvenile to a family member.²⁶⁷

Decisions regarding release must always be made in a child's best interests and be made expeditiously to ensure that whenever a child is detained, it is for the briefest possible time. The ORR should apply a more flexible approach and exercise discretion in releasing a juvenile to an appropriate sponsor and should ensure that such decisions are not based on factors such as whether an undocumented parent is willing to come forward.

6.2 Failure to Appear for Hearings

The main reason INS officials gave to AI for not releasing children was because of a concern that many children who were released failed to appear for subsequent immigration hearings. INS officials referred frequently to EOIR data in the DOJ's OIG report that showed 112 (68 percent) of 164 juveniles released to a sponsor prior to completion of their hearings subsequently failed to appear at immigration hearings. 268

This is a factor that has been recognized by the NGO community. "[C]hildren who are placed in private settings and who are assigned neither a social worker nor legal counsel frequently fail to complete the immigration/asylum determination process."²⁶⁹ AI believes that if children were afforded a lawyer and a guardian, they would be provided with the relevant support and guidance to ensure that they appeared at all subsequent hearings. Indeed, the data in the OIG report, although limited, appears to support this suggestion. The number of children who failed to appear was significantly reduced if they had legal representation: only 39 children (30 percent) failed to appear when represented by counsel, whereas 95 children (56 percent) who had no attorney of record failed to appear at immigration hearings following release. Another factor that may contribute to a child's failure to appear may be a change of venue. Of 302 children, 128 received at least one change of venue (i.e., court location) at some point during the proceedings; of those children 89 (70 percent) dropped out or failed to appear.²⁷⁰

In a study conducted by the VERA Institute for Justice regarding the release of adults in removal proceedings, 91 percent of supervised adults in immigration proceedings appeared for all of their hearings.²⁷¹ This suggests that if children were provided with legal representation and a

²⁶⁷ OIG, Unaccompanied Juveniles in INS Custody, 2001.

²⁶⁸ Ibid.; AI meeting with National Juvenile Coordinator, 9/6/02; AI meeting with INS officials in Gila County,

^{11/5/02.}See also Trans-Atlantic Workshop on Unaccompanied/ Separated Children: Comparative Polices and Practices in North America and Europe, Georgetown University, June 18-19, 2001, Draft Workshop Report 8/22/01. ²⁷⁰ OIG, Unaccompanied Juveniles in INS Custody, 2001, appendix 2.

See speech by Oren Root, National Director of the Appearance Assistance Program, *The Appearance Assistance* Program: An Alternative to Detention for Non-Citizens in U.S. Immigration Removal Proceedings, VERA Institute of Justice, New York, May 2000; and VERA Institute of Justice, Testing Community Supervision for the INS: An Evaluation of the Appearance Assistance Program, New York, August 2000.

guardian, they would not only understand the importance of attending subsequent hearings, but they would be informed of such practicalities as date, time, and venue of a court hearing. AI encourages the ORR to undertake further research or undertake a pilot project in this area to ensure that children do not unnecessarily remain in detention because of an assumption they will not appear for subsequent hearings. AI believes that an immigration court should only make such a determination after a full assessment of whether the child is indeed a flight risk.

6.3 Prolonged Detention: Indian and Chinese Children

```
"All I think about is when I'm going to be free."
```

Under current INS policy and practice, many Chinese and Indian minors experience long periods of detention before being released to relatives or other agencies. The INS Juvenile Protocol Manual requires that potential homes for Chinese and Indian juveniles be assessed before their release. The purpose of this requirement is to protect juveniles from smugglers who may have brought them into the country and to make sure any sponsors are legitimate. 272 As a result of a lengthy and time-consuming home assessment process known as "suitability assessments," Chinese and Indian children spent longer in custody than other nationalities. Eighty-five percent of children held for six months or longer are Chinese or Indian.²⁷³ In 2000, 77 percent of the Chinese and Indian children were detained for over one month, compared to 30 percent for other nationalities, and the average length of detention for Chinese and Indian juveniles was 146 days compared to 29 days for other children.²⁷⁴

- R.D., a thirteen-year-old Indian boy seeking asylum on the grounds of religious persecution in his home country, had been in detention for over 14 months when AI met with him. "It's been a long time," he said, and told delegates that there were seven other Indian boys at the detention facility that had all been there more than one year. This boy arrived in the U.S. with his cousin, but his cousin was paroled while he remained in detention. He told AI that he had an uncle who was willing to take care of him.
- K.Y., an Indian boy aged seventeen had been detained for 588 days when AI met with him in September 2002. He told AI that he had an uncle in the U.S. who was properly documented and who would take him in.

The ICCPR and the CRC stipulate that children must have access to their rights, without discrimination of any kind, including discrimination on the basis of race, color, language. or national origin. ²⁷⁵ AI is concerned that the current policy regarding home assessments for Chinese and Indian children, while not discriminatory in intent, may be discriminatory in its impact.

⁻ Seventeen-year-old Indian asylum-seeker to AI delegate after being in detention for 10 months

²⁷² The Juvenile Protocol Manual emphasizes that district directors continued to have full discretion over the release of juveniles from custody, except for the especially vulnerable Chinese and Indians. Home assessments involve a number of steps, performed sequentially by the INS and voluntary agencies under contract with the INS to make home visits and do interviews. For a detailed explanation of the procedure for home assessments see OIG, Unaccompanied Juveniles in INS Custody, 2001; and the Juvenile Protocol Manual. The INS is also authorized to conduct home assessments prior to releasing a child to any nongovernmental custodian. Reportedly, there are often excessive delays in initiating home studies and in releasing minors once such studies are completed.

²⁷³ OIG, Unaccompanied Juveniles in INS Custody, 2001.

²⁷⁴ Ibid.

²⁷⁵ ICCPR, Art. 2(1); CRC, Art. 2(1).

Distinctions made on the basis of nationality alone would be regarded as discriminatory under international standards.

AI appreciates that certain children may be at high risk and recognizes that additional precautions may need to be taken; however, these risks are not appropriately addressed simply by extending a child's detention when a child belongs to a specific at-risk group.²⁷⁶ Special procedures need to be devised to expeditiously identify victims of trafficking, recognizing that each case will pose its own unique issues. The appointment of a guardian to all unaccompanied children could assist in this process. Children should not be placed in secure detention for their "protection" while a criminal case against smugglers is investigated and/or prosecuted, but rather in the least restrictive setting possible in confidential locations, in accordance with U.S. and international standards.²⁷⁷

AI does not take issue with U.S. authorities conducting suitability assessments; indeed, AI believes that whenever a child is being released to someone other than a parent that such assessments should be carried out. It is essential, however, that sufficient resources be made available to ensure that such a process does not result in any delay.

6.4 Haitian Children

Ernst Poulard, seventeen, arrived unaccompanied in the U.S. by boat on December 20, 2001. The INS immediately detained him in Florida, and then, in January 2002, transferred him to Berks County, Pennsylvania, a secure juvenile detention facility. There, he was reportedly commingled with U.S. juvenile offenders and subjected to strip searches and harsh conditions. His mother is a legal permanent resident (LPR) and lives in Miami, Florida. He also has other relatives with LPR status. Ernst was finally released to his mother in July 2002, six months after his arrival in the U.S.

—Amnesty International USA, Refugee Action, 17 May 2002

Ernst was among over 200 Haitians being held at several INS centers in the U.S. in response to two boat arrivals in December 2001. Advocates argued that Ernst's detention, and that of the

²⁷⁶ The INS believes that alien smugglers are aggressive in searching out and retaliating against minors following release.

²⁷⁷ The INS has used a number of facilities previously for these situations. In addition, child trafficking victims are eligible for ORR-funded child welfare services through LIRS and USCCB. It is therefore important that there be a process in place to quickly identify victims of trafficking to ensure that children are released from detention expeditiously. See also LIRS letter to INS, 3/28/02. "Law enforcement authorities may detain a victim during the course of investigating a traffic claim if the individual circumstances of the case require it." However, the TVPA stipulates that victims of severe forms of trafficking should not be detained in facilities that are inappropriate to their status as crime victims. While victims should also be protected from recapture or other reprisals by their traffickers, the TVPA says such protection should not be the sole reason for detention by the INS. See also UN Protocol to Prevent, Suppress and Punish Trafficking in Persons, Especially Women and Children, supplement to the UN Convention Against Transnational Organized Crime, 2000, II. Protection of Victims of Trafficking in Persons, Art. 6; Assistance to and Protection of Trafficking in Persons, Art. 4. "Each State Party shall take into account, in applying the provisions of this article, the age, gender and special needs of victims of trafficking in persons, in particular the special needs of children, including appropriate housing, education and care."

²⁷⁸ On 12/3/01 and 12/20/01, the U.S. Coast Guard interdicted two boats and apprehended 167 Haitians. Men were taken to Krome Service Processing Center (KSPC) and women to Turner Guildford Knight Correction Center (TGK), a maximum-security jail in Miami. Most of the unaccompanied children were sent to juvenile facilities, while some parents with children were housed at a hotel. A lawsuit filed on March 15, 2002, by immigration attorneys and Haitian rights advocates in Miami alleges that the U.S. government was discriminating against Haitian asylum-seekers, including those who have shown a credible fear of persecution in Haiti. See also: Class Action Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus, *Ernest Moise et al. v. INS*, 02-20822-CV-JAL; Amnesty International Action, AMR 51/067/2002, May

other Haitians, marked a reversal of previous INS handling of such cases, and that Haitians were being singled out based on a discriminatory policy. Until December 2001, Haitians arriving by boat to Miami were routinely paroled from detention if they had community ties in South Florida. Their detention had the appearance of singling out Haitians based on their nationality. Advocates and attorneys in Florida have claimed that it is not normal practice for Haitian children to be detained while their proceedings are under way. In March 2002, the INS acknowledged that it had changed its policy regarding Haitian asylum-seekers. Instead of regularly releasing Haitian asylum-seekers who had shown a credible fear, the INS continued to detain them, saying that it wanted to avoid further risk taking and to deter further Haitians attempting to enter the U.S. by boat.²⁷⁹

In April 2002, the UNHCR issued an advisory opinion on the detention of the Haitians, concluding that detention to deter future arrivals does not fall within any of the exceptional grounds allowed under international refugee law and is contrary to the principles underlying international refugee protection for detaining asylum-seekers. It further stated that detention for deterrence purposes is arbitrary and that deterrence is an "inappropriate goal and insufficient reason for detention," and that detention of asylum-seekers based on national origin is discriminatory and would also constitute arbitrary detention.

On November 13, 2002, after refusing to parole from detention Haitian passengers from another boat that ran aground on the coast of Florida on October 29, and in response to more criticism about the disparity in treatment of Haitian boat people, the INS announced that all boat people—with the exception of Cubans—would be subject to mandatory detention upon arrival or placed into expedited removal proceedings.

Some Haitians, especially children, nonetheless successfully petitioned for release from detention, until April 17, 2003, when Attorney General John Ashcroft personally decided one such case. In re D-J-, Ashcroft wrote a sweeping decision, instructing immigration judges to refuse to release undocumented asylum-seekers if the government argues that "significant national security interests are implicated." Ashcroft ruled that all Haitians constitute such a group, since releasing Haitian asylum-seekers might encourage other Haitians to come to the U.S., which could injure national security by straining the resources of the Coast Guard. Therefore, he ordered, Haitians must be kept in detention irrespective of whether they personally pose any threat. Al is deeply concerned by this trend toward blanket detention of Haitians and urges the U.S. government to reconsider its position to ensure that all asylum-seekers are afforded an individual assessment of their right to release and adheres to international standards that provide that, as a general principle, asylum-seekers should not be detained. It must be recognized that in

^{2000.} It is reportedly not unusual for families seeking asylum to be separated and held in separate detention centers, which includes separating children from their parents and adult relatives. The INS has sought to address the problem of family separation by opening its first family detention center in Berks County, Pennsylvania. AI delegates observed the family center during a visit to Berks in September 2002. Space is limited, and AI met with one seventeen-year-old Russian boy whose parents were held in another facility. He was allowed to speak to his parents only by telephone. See also Women's Commission for Refugee Women and Children, May 2002.

²⁷⁹ In order to avoid expedited removal (a process by which individuals arriving in the U.S. can be removed without appearing before an immigration judge), those who express fear of return to their home country have a "credible fear" interview. If a credible fear is demonstrated, the individual is placed in "removal proceedings" and is entitled to a hearing before an immigration judge. Children are not subjected to expedited removal proceedings and therefore do not have a credible fear interview; they are automatically placed in removal proceedings and therefore have the opportunity to bring any claim for relief before an immigration judge.

²⁸⁰ In re D-J-, 23 I&N Dec.572 (A.G. 2003).

Department of Justice, INS Order No. 2243-02, *Notice Designating Aliens Subject to Expedited Removal Under Section 235(b)(1)(A)(iii) of the Immigration and Nationality Act*, Part IV, 67 FR 68924, Federal Register, vol. 67, no. 219, 11/13/02; and *In re D-J-*, 23 I&N Dec.572 (A.G. 2003).

an era of strict visa controls and other measures used to restrict access to borders, asylum-seekers are often forced to arrive at or enter a territory illegally in order to exercise their right to seek asylum under article 14 of the UDHR. When countries of asylum become fortresses, they should expect increased use of false documents and reliance on smugglers. AI believes that in balancing state interests against asylum-seekers' rights, the use of detention by the U.S. is a disproportionate and harsh measure in the pursuit of immigration control objectives.

6.5 Effect of Long-term Detention: Children Abandoning Their Claims

In 1998, AI wrote, "Once asylum-seekers are caught in the labyrinth of the INS detention system, its complexity and almost complete disregard of the needs of refugees creates a 'trial by ordeal' from which only the most persistent, courageous, or lucky emerge unscathed."282 Prolonged periods of detention in harsh conditions (see chapters 3 and 4) may force many children to abandon their claims for relief in a desperate attempt to escape detention.

- N.D., a seventeen-year-old boy, told AI that he was going to return to Guatemala even though he was scared that he might be killed. He told AI he hated being in detention and that he had spoken to children who had been in detention for over a year, and he did not want that to happen to him. AI later learned he had returned to his home country.²⁸³
- An attorney who represents children detained in Martin Hall, Washington, told AI that it is very difficult to explain to children that they will be detained for a long period of time while their claim is being processed. She reported that many of her clients accept voluntary departure, because they would rather go back and try to fend for themselves than be locked up. "Even after one month, they feel like they are going crazy and throw in the towel." 284

The way children are detained in the U.S. may prevent or inhibit them from lodging or pursuing their claims. Detention may have the effect of inducing children to abandon their claims, especially when detention is prolonged and conditions are poor. Asylum or other forms of relief become dependent not solely on the children's eligibility under international and national law, but on their ability to endure long-term detention.

6.6 Failure to Release After Asylum Is Granted

Some children may not be released even after they have been granted asylum, particularly if the INS decides to appeal the decision.

- Kervens Bellot, a seventeen-year-old from Haiti was held in detention for three months. An immigration judge granted him asylum, but Kervens continued to remain in custody. His aunt, a U.S. citizen, was eager to sponsor him and had submitted all the relevant documentation to the INS. The documentation included a letter from his parents giving the aunt permission to adopt him. As this went beyond the requirements by the INS, they delayed his release until another letter was sent to reflect that the aunt could have "custody" and not "adoption." 285
- A fifteen-year-old Chinese girl reportedly remained in detention for seven weeks after she had been granted asylum notwithstanding the availability of her U.S. citizen uncle to take

²⁸⁴ AI telephone interview with Atieno Odhiambo, attorney with Columbia Legal Services, 1/24/03.

59

²⁸² Amnesty International previously described the toll that the U.S. detention system has taken on those seeking asylum in *Lost in the Labyrinth*, 1999. ²⁸³ AI interview, fall 2002.

²⁸⁵ See AI Action, 2/12/03.

care of her. The INS reportedly did not commence a home assessment for the girl until she had been detained for several months. ²⁸⁶

This issue is of grave concern to AI, and arrangements should be made to immediately release from detention any child who has been granted asylum or other forms of relief by a U.S. immigration judge.

6.7 Effective Review of Decisions Not to Release Children

International standards provide that everyone has the right to be free from arbitrary detention and that anyone deprived of his or her liberty shall be entitled to proceedings before a court in order that the court can decide without delay on the lawfulness of detention and order release if appropriate.²⁸⁷ According to *Flores*, if a child is not released (or if the amount of bond set by the INS payable to secure their release is too high), he or she is entitled to have an immigration judge review the decision.²⁸⁸ Given the barriers to unaccompanied children exercising these rights (not least the lack of legal representation or any form of adult assistance), it appears that very few decisions denying release are ever reviewed by an immigration court or federal judge. AI recommends that there should be an automatic hearing before an immigration court to determine whether a child is a flight risk or a danger to society. If a child is ordered released, the ORR should ensure that such release is effected expeditiously, within a limited time period, to a suitable sponsor in compliance with the terms of *Flores*. With such important rights at stake, such as the right to liberty and freedom of movement, if release is not effected, detained children must be afforded frequent opportunities to have their ongoing detention reviewed and the authorities must be required to justify a child's continued detention.

7. LACK OF LEGAL REPRESENTATION, FAILURE TO APPOINT GUARDIANS AND ACCOMMODATE UNIQUE NEEDS OF CHILDREN IN COURTROOMS

"There was no way I could win without Manny—I did not even know that asylum existed before Manny and I could not fill out all those papers in English and did not know what to do in court.... I saw many children like me who gave up fighting their immigration cases and accepting deportation because they hated the jail and did not have lawyers like Manny to help them." -Edwin Larios Muñoz, fifteen, testimony before U.S. Senate Committee on the Judiciary, Subcommittee on Immigration, 28 February 2002

"The first time Baby Margaret [from Jamaica] entered a courtroom she was in the arms of her INS Deportation Officer. She did not have an attorney or a guardian ad litem, and at just eighteen months was unable to speak to the judge herself." ²⁸⁹

10

²⁸⁶ Julie Sullivan, *Chinese Girl Waits in Portland Jail for Months Despite Getting Asylum*, The Oregonian, 12/10/99; *Refugee Flies Away to New Life, Freedom*, The Oregonian, 12/18/99.

²⁸⁷ International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights (ICCPR), Art. 9.

²⁸⁸ Children are entitled to a "bond redetermination" hearing in every case, unless the child indicates on the Notice of Custody determination form that he or she refuses such a hearing. *Flores*, Right to Bond Redetermination, par. 12(a); and Right to Challenge Placement in Federal Court, par. 24(b). Of concern is the uncertainty that exists as to whether the right to a bond redetermination hearing applies to arriving aliens, i.e., children apprehended at ports of entry as opposed to children already in the U.S. See 8 CFR, Sec. 3.1.9 (h)(2)(i)(B). AI believes that all children should be afforded bond redetermination hearings.

²⁸⁹ FIAC report, 2002.

Statistics show that that asylum-seekers are four times more likely to be granted asylum when represented by a lawyer. 290

Many adults, even native English speakers, find the U.S. immigration system complex and confusing. Unaccompanied children are not guaranteed a lawyer, or any form of adult assistance, to help them apply for asylum or other forms of relief from removal. Without appropriate legal assistance, children with valid asylum claims may be less likely to obtain asylum and more likely to be returned to a country where they may face death, torture, or ill treatment. ²⁹¹

7.1 Lack of Legal Assistance for Children in U.S. Immigration Proceedings

The majority of unaccompanied children in the U.S. do not have legal representation and face adversarial legal proceedings alone, often in a language they do not understand. As already noted, unaccompanied children encounter considerable difficulties in securing legal representation, which may explain why the U.S. Department of Justice has reported that less than half (only 43 percent) of children are represented. Advocates and attorneys have estimated that this may not reflect the real situation and that the number of children represented is likely far less. Andrew Morton, from the law firm Latham & Watkins, recently testified before the U.S. Senate: "Of these nearly 5,000 unaccompanied juveniles apprehended annually by the INS ... as many as 80 percent appear in an immigration court without the benefit of a lawyer, guardian ad litem, or assistance or adult assistance of any kind." As no comprehensive data is currently maintained on the number of children represented by counsel it is difficult to know exactly how many children are without counsel.

Effective representation for these unaccompanied children includes ensuring all aspects of the child's legal interests that arise during protracted and complex immigration proceedings, including evaluating the child's ability to access any available forms of immigration relief; filing applications, pleadings, and motions before immigration judges; representing the child during hearings and asylum interviews. Legal representation also offers other critical safeguards for ensuring that laws and regulations protecting a detained child's rights are adhered to, including ensuring that a child is detained in the least restrictive setting possible and that his or her rights in detention are respected. Lawyers safeguard unaccompanied children from frequent and inappropriate transfers, and attempt to reunite the children with parents or suitable adult relatives either in the U.S. or abroad.

Even those children receiving legal assistance may not actually be receiving meaningful or effective representation. According to the DOJ study, of the 43 percent of children represented by an attorney, most were Chinese juveniles. Immigration judges, INS attorneys, and pro bono

²⁹⁰ Andrew I. Schoenholtz and Jonathan Jacobs, *The State of Asylum Representation: Ideas for Change*, Georgetown Immigration Law Journal, Summer 2002; and American Bar Association, *Fact Sheet: Unaccompanied Immigrant Children*, September 2002.

²⁹¹ See Julianne Duncan, Director of Children's Services for Migration and Refugee Services, U.S. Conference of Catholic Bishops, testimony before the U.S. Senate Committee on the Judiciary, Subcommittee on Immigration, 2/28/02. See also Christopher Nugent and Steven Shulman, "Giving Voice to the Vulnerable: On Representing Detained Immigrant and Refugee Children," Interpreter Releases, 10/8/01.

²⁹² OIG, Unaccompanied Juveniles in INS Custody, 2001.

²⁹³ Ibid.

Andrew Morton, attorney, Latham & Watkins, testimony before the U.S. Senate Committee on the Judiciary, Subcommittee on Immigration, 2/28/02.

attorneys expressed concern that the Chinese juveniles in many cases were not well served by their attorneys. ²⁹⁵ Lawyers representing Chinese and Indian children often reportedly represent the interests of the smugglers rather than the child. Representation of the non-Chinese juveniles largely depended on the availability of pro bono services, and although pro bono and low-cost legal services are available in some areas, they are generally in short supply. ²⁹⁶

Considerable efforts have been undertaken by the EOIR, the American Bar Association, and other legal assistance and voluntary organizations to improve access to basic legal information to children in detention. However, voluntary or nonprofit agencies sometimes have a legal staff of only one attorney and resources are limited. It is therefore understandable that the voluntary agency attorneys report that only in "exceptional circumstances" are they able to represent a juvenile or find a private attorney to take a case on a pro bono basis. Often the services to children in detention are limited to group presentations of an explanation of the hearings process and their rights. Pro bono attorneys told the DOJ that they "lacked the time and funds needed to fully develop and support claims for relief, usually applications for asylum." They said that "some juveniles who were removed might have made a case for relief, if they had been given time and had been able to find adequate legal representation." Several attorneys suggested this might be true in 10 percent of cases.²⁹⁷

7.2 A Child's Right to Legal Representation

Unaccompanied children in INS custody "encounter a stressful situation in which they are forced to make critical decisions. The interrogators are foreign and authoritarian. The environment is new and the culture completely different. The law is complex.... In short, it is obvious to the Court that the situation faced by unaccompanied minors is inherently coercive."

— *Perez-Funez v. INS*, 619 F. Supp. 656, 662 (C.D. Cal. 1985)

"It is ironic that the domestic juvenile offenders in juvenile jails have the right and access to legal counsel, but the children being detained by the INS do not. These children, young people who may have limited formal education and almost certainly not proficient in the English language are led into immigration proceedings where they are pitted against well-trained, well-educated, and experienced INS attorneys. This is not a fair fight... After traveling alone and facing detention alone, they all too often confront a new and daunting challenge—defending themselves in immigration proceedings alone."

—Robert E. Hirshon, President, American Bar Association, remarks at immigration judges Conference, San Juan, Puerto Rico, June 2002

Under U.S. law, individuals in immigration proceedings have a right to counsel, but not at government expense. ²⁹⁸ Children must be told that they have a right to a lawyer but that the government will not pay for one. International standards provide that a lawyer should be appointed whenever a child is detained or deprived of his or her liberty and that prompt and

²⁹⁵ Frequently Chinese juveniles brought in by smugglers had been informed, prior to their arrival in the United States, that a private attorney at their final destination would represent them. Their destinations were usually far from the custody site. For example, Chinese juveniles in custody in the Phoenix district would have an attorney of record in New York City. These Chinese juveniles were often reluctant to speak with pro bono attorneys, even though the private attorneys provided few or no legal services while the juveniles were in custody.

²⁹⁶ Many legal services programs that cater to asylum-seekers lack the experience and resources to adequately serve children. See also Christopher Nugent and Steven Schulman, "Giving Voice to the Vulnerable: On Representing Detained Immigrant and Refugee Children," Interpreter Releases, 10/08/01.

²⁹⁷ OIG, Unaccompanied Juveniles in INS Custody, 2001.

The Immigration and Naturalization Act (INA) of 1980, Sec. 292, provides aliens in removal proceedings with the right to representation at no expense to the government.

regular access to legal counsel is a fundamental human right. For example, the United Nations Rules for the Protection of Juveniles Deprived of Their Liberty provides that children should have the right to legal counsel and be enabled to apply for free legal aid, where such aid is available.²⁹⁹ The UNHCR Guidelines on the Applicable Criteria and Standards Relating to the Detention of Asylum-seekers state that detained asylum-seekers should be informed of the right to legal counsel and, where possible, should receive free legal assistance; children benefit from these same minimum procedural guarantees.³⁰⁰ In many European states and in Canada, governments have begun to build capacity to ensure that each unaccompanied child has a lawyer to represent him or her or to represent his or her best interests in immigration/asylum procedures.³⁰¹

AI notes that in the U.S., outside of the immigration jurisdiction, counsel is appointed where children are deprived of their liberty and important rights are at stake. The U.S. government is required to provide free legal counsel to adults and children in criminal cases. 302 The U.S. Supreme Court stated, "The juvenile needs the assistance of counsel to cope with problems of law, to make skilled inquiry into the facts, to insist upon regularity of the proceedings, and to ascertain whether he has a defense and to prepare and to submit it. The child requires the guiding hand of counsel at every step in the proceedings against him." 303 Indeed, in U.S. juvenile legal proceedings ranging from delinquency charges to civil suits, children are regularly appointed attorneys to assist them through the process. Although the above comment was made in the U.S. Supreme Court case that established a child's right to counsel in domestic law, advocates have argued that this statement is as true for unaccompanied children facing removal proceedings as it is for juveniles in domestic criminal proceedings.

²⁹⁹ See UN Rules for the Protection of Juveniles Deprived of their Liberty, 1990, Art. III. Juveniles Under Arrest or Awaiting Trial, Sec. 18(a). See also UN Standard Minimum Rules for the Administration of Juvenile Justice ("The Beijing Rules"), 1985. See also CRC, 1989, Article 37, which states that every child deprived of his or her liberty shall have the right to prompt access to legal and other appropriate assistance. UN Body of Principles for the Protection of All Persons Under Any Form of Detention or Imprisonment, 1988, Principle 17(1): "A detained person shall be entitled to have the assistance of a legal counsel. He shall be informed of his right by the competent authority promptly after arrest and shall be provided with reasonable facilities for exercising it; (2) If a detained person does not have a legal counsel of his own choice, he shall be entitled to have a legal counsel assigned to him by a judicial or other authority in all cases where the interests of justice so require and without payment by him if he does not have sufficient means to pay."

³⁰⁰ UNHCR Guidelines on Detention of Asylum-seekers (February 1999). See also UNHCR Guidelines on Policies and Procedures in dealing with Unaccompanied Children Seeking Asylum (1997), Sec. 4.2, which stipulates that upon arrival, a child should be provided with a legal representative and that claims of unaccompanied children should be examined in a fair and age-appropriate manner.

Models for funding and coordinating legal representation differ among countries, but they all aim to secure capable counsel for each child awaiting status determination. See also Georgetown University, *TransAtlantic Workshop on Unaccompanied/Separated Children: Comparative Policies and Practices in North America and Europe*, June 18-19, 2001 (Draft Workshop Report, August 22), 2001; and Secretariat of the Inter-Governmental Consultation on Asylum, Refugee and Migration Policies in Europe, North America and Australia, *Report on Unaccompanied Minors: Overview of policies and practices in IGC participating states*, July 1997. For example, in the U.K. and Canada, children, like adults, are eligible for state-funded representation to assist with their asylum claims.

³⁰² The Supreme Court held in *Gideon v. Wainwright* that the government must provide free counsel for indigent defendants in adult criminal cases. In *In re Gault* the Court extended its holding in *Gideon*, finding that due process requires the government to provide lawyers for children in delinquency proceedings. *In re Gault*, 387 U.S. 1 (1967) and *Gideon v. Wainwright*, 372 U.S. 335 (1963).

³⁰³ Justice Abe Fortas in the majority opinion of *In re Gault*, 387 U.S. 1 (1967).

³⁰⁴ For a wide variety of juvenile state court proceedings, ranging from delinquency charges to civil suits, to allegations of abuse and neglect, states such as California, Kansas, Massachusetts, Ohio, and Pennsylvania mandate the appointment of counsel to ensure a fair and objective adjudication to the benefit of minors, who invariably are illequipped to represent themselves. See Andrew Morton, attorney, Latham & Watkins, testimony before the U.S. Senate Committee on the Judiciary, Subcommittee on Immigration, 2/28/02.

³⁰⁵ It has been argued that there is a strong basis for asserting that the government may at times be required by the U.S. Constitution to provide legal counsel for indigent adults in immigration removal proceedings and that the argument is

The government's failure to provide counsel to unaccompanied children was recently challenged in a federal court. In March 2002, a U.S. District Court issued a preliminary injunction in the case of a fourteen-year-old Mexican boy detained in Martin Hall, in Washington state, who could not afford legal counsel. He did not understand his legal rights or options and was not represented during his removal proceedings. As a result, he unwittingly signed an agreement to voluntarily depart from the United States. The court ordered the INS to reach an agreement regarding the boy's release from detention, indicating that if such an agreement could not be reached, it would appoint counsel to the boy at the government's expense.³⁰⁶ A class action lawsuit was subsequently filed on behalf of unaccompanied children.³⁰⁷ Ultimately class certification on behalf of all unaccompanied minors without counsel was denied. However, the court appointed counsel to the fourteen-year-old boy for the purpose of release from detention, noting in its decision the significant hardships that detention had caused the boy.

AI believes that the U.S. government should ensure that all unaccompanied children receive legal representation, including providing paid counsel at the government's expense if effective pro bono representation cannot be guaranteed, in accordance with international law and standards.

7.3 Concerns Related to Court Hearings

Other factors pertaining to the handling of immigration removal hearings, in addition to lack of legal representations, include delays in court proceedings; lack of training and guidelines for INS trial lawyers and immigration judges; lack of statistical data relating to children's cases; inadequate language services; failure to adapt courtroom procedures for children.

7.3.1 Delays in Immigration Proceedings

According to the Department of Justice OIG report, the average duration of immigration proceedings is 160 days.³⁰⁸ However, many children can spend months or even years in detention pending resolution of their immigration status, especially if the immigration service appeals their case. For example, AI met with a thirteen-year-old asylum-seeker who had been in detention for over fourteen months.

International standards provide that juvenile cases should be given the highest priority especially when children are detained. According to the UN Standard Minimum Rules for the Administration of Juvenile Justice, "Each case shall from the outset be handled expeditiously, without any unnecessary delay."309

still stronger as applied to unaccompanied minors. See Human Rights Watch, Slipping Through the Cracks, April 1997, for a full discussion of this argument.

³⁰⁶ See Jonathan Martin, Mexican Orphan Becomes Case Study, The Spokesman Review, 4/14/02, noting that the suit seeks class action status for all children held in INS custody.

³⁰⁷ Filed by the Southern Poverty Law Center, Columbia Legal Services and Northwest Immigrant Rights Project. See also M.G.M. v. Ashcroft, Case No. CS-02-0066-FVS, U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of Washington, 3/05/02. See Gonzalez Machado v. Ashcroft, Case No. CS-02-066-FVS (E-WA 2001). See also Elizabeth Amon, Youth, 14, Gets Lawyer for INS Case: Advocates Say Order Was First of Its Kind, National Law Journal, 4/1/02; and Sharon Finkel, Voice of Justice: Promoting Fairness Through Appointed Counsel for Immigrant Children, N.Y. Law School Journal of Human Rights 17 (2001): 1105.

308 See OIG, Unaccompanied Juveniles in INS Custody, 2001. Duration of proceedings (first master calendar to

completion date): Average: 160 days Median: 84 days.

309 See UN Standard Minimum Rules for the Administration of Juvenile Justice ("The Beijing Rules"), Part III,

Adjudication and Disposition, par. 20, Avoidance of Unnecessary Delay; UN Rules for the Protection of Juveniles

One reason why immigration judges are willing to delay hearings is for efforts to be made for the child to secure legal representation. Indeed, the EOIR has been actively involved in trying to develop sources of pro bono legal aid. Notwithstanding these efforts, very few of the pro bono attorneys reportedly actually represent the children in the full hearings process. 310 According to Chief Immigration Judge Michael J. Creppy, "Most immigration judges favor increased representation by legal counsel. Every day our judges conduct cases involving respondents who appear pro se [without a lawyer]. The judges know how to be fair, even when only one side to the proceeding is represented by counsel. However, when you combine the complexity of immigration laws with the varying degrees of maturity of juveniles, it provides a greater challenge to judges to ensure that the proceedings are fair, and that the juvenile understands the serious nature of the proceedings. If the judge knew that competent counsel were assured for every juvenile respondent, the efficiency of the hearing would be greatly improved." 311

Another reported practice of concern is the postponement of "merits" hearings (i.e., full consideration of a child's claim for immigration relief), for example, until after the child's release to sponsors. This often involves a change in venue if the child is transferred to another jurisdiction. Although such decisions may appropriately be made with a child's best interests in mind, they often contribute to considerable delays. In addition, the INS has been responsible for delays in children's proceedings.

• In a recent case in Arizona, three INS officials were cited for contempt for failing to answer a subpoena in a dispute over the treatment of a Guatemalan teenager, Alfredo Salik-Lopez, seeking asylum. The child's attorney stated he was repeatedly scheduled for final hearings in immigration court, but each had to be postponed because the INS failed to produce fingerprint clearances. As a result, Alfredo had been detained in Phoenix for nearly six months. The judge noted that the child "trembled with fright, and ...cried during the entire proceedings." In a court order, the immigration judge reprimanded the INS for arrogance, deceit, and civil rights violations against a boy under its protection and chastised the INS for acting in "bad faith [by] violating its duties as the legal guardian of the child and preventing the speedy disposition of juvenile cases." 312

A further factor that contributes to delays is that children may not be scheduled for expedited hearings. The American Bar Association has recommended that the EOIR should

Deprived of their Liberty, 1990, Art. III, Sec. 14: Juveniles Under Arrest or Awaiting Trial. "Juveniles who are detained under arrest or awaiting trial ("untried") are presumed innocent and shall be treated as such. Detention before trial shall be avoided to the extent possible and limited to exceptional circumstances. Therefore, all efforts shall be made to apply alternative measures. When preventive detention is nevertheless used, juvenile courts and investigative bodies shall give the highest priority to the most expeditious processing of such cases to ensure the shortest possible duration of detention. Untried detainees should be separated from convicted juveniles." See also UNHCR, Geneva Guidelines on Policies and Procedures in dealing with Unaccompanied Children Seeking Asylum, Sec. 8.1, February 1997: Refugee Status Determination for Unaccompanied Children. "Considering their vulnerability and special needs, it is essential that children's refugee status applications be given priority and that every effort be made to reach a decision promptly and fairly. All appeals should be processed fairly and as expeditiously as possible."

possible." ³¹⁰ See OIG, Unaccompanied Juveniles in INS Custody, 2001. Often pro bono attorneys merely request continuances on behalf of the juveniles or addressed custody issues. For example, custody issues might involve requirements for a bond before release to family members or review of the status of home assessments and projected release dates.

³¹¹ Michael Creppy, Chief Immigration Judge, Executive Office of Immigration Review (EOIR), testimony before U.S. Senate Committee on the Judiciary, Subcommittee on Immigration, 2/28/02.

Judge Slaps INS Officials with Contempt Charges, The Arizona Republic, 12/04/02.

In some districts immigration courts schedule expedited hearings for detained children, however, in the Chicago and Houston districts, this did not take place and children in shelter care were included with adults on the slower non-

establish formal juvenile dockets at sites with significant numbers of children. This would ensure that all children's cases would be consolidated for a designated day with a designated or rotating judge and would facilitate legal representation.³¹⁴ AI supports this recommendation and urges the EOIR to ensure that all detained children receive priority for expedited hearings to ensure the timely resolution of their cases.

There are 51 immigration courts throughout the U.S., 28 of which reportedly handle cases involving unaccompanied minors. The case tracking system does not, however, currently provide for a precise count of unaccompanied children. A special "J" code has recently been implemented to identify and track any cases involving juveniles. It has been reported, however, that it is not consistently applied. AI believes that further initiatives to improve efficient handling of children's cases could be identified if effective tracking and monitoring of children's cases was undertaken and recommends that implementation of the "J" code be monitored. Furthermore, the DHS, ORR, and EOIR should all work together to identify ways in which the efficiency of immigration proceedings could be improved.

7.3.2 Adaptation of Courtroom Experience for Children

"Juveniles are a vulnerable population with different needs than adults. While this simple statement should be self-evident, many of our immigration laws, practices, and procedures do not significantly distinguish between juveniles and adults."

—Stuart Anderson, Executive Associate Commissioner for Policy and Planning, U.S. Immigration and Naturalization Service, testimony before the U.S. Senate Committee on the Judiciary, Subcommittee on Immigration, 28 February, 2002

"The Office of the Chief Immigration Judge has not issued any detailed guidance on revised courtroom procedures for hearings involving children (unaccompanied or otherwise). Individual immigration judges may make accommodations based on the age and understanding of the child in proceedings, however, such accommodations are made on a case-by-case basis and in the absence of unusual circumstances, hearings will generally follow the traditional format."

-Michael F. Rahill, What Child Is This?: How Immigration Courts Respond to Unaccompanied Minors, 2000

A courtroom setting can be intimidating for an adult and can be terrifying for a child. International standards provide that a court system should be adapted and that the professionals who administer juvenile justice should be appropriately trained to take into account the special needs of children. The UN Committee on the Rights of the Child has called for the adoption of a "child-oriented system," stressing that all actions concerning children should be guided by the "best interests" consideration. The establishment of a child-oriented system for juvenile justice,

detained schedule, with a longer waiting period before their hearings. Hearings for non-detained aliens, juveniles or adults, typically occur at a much slower pace than is usual for detained aliens, with much longer intervals between the date of detention, the first master hearing, and any subsequent hearings. See OIG, Unaccompanied Juveniles in INS Custody, 2001.

A pilot project was launched in Phoenix, Arizona, in 2000 and Judge Creppy recently announced the expansion of the juvenile docket program in Harlingen, Texas; York, Pennsylvania; Los Angeles, San Diego, and San Francisco, California. See also Michael Creppy, Chief Immigration Judge, Executive Office of Immigration Review (EOIR), testimony before U.S. Senate Committee on the Judiciary, Subcommittee on Immigration, 2/28/02.

³¹⁵ Michael F. Rahill, What Child Is This?: How Immigration Courts Respond to Unaccompanied Minors, Office of the Chief Immigration Judge, Institute for Court Management, Court Executive Development Program, Phase III Project, May 2000.

of any kind, also requires the provision of adequate resources and appropriate training for judges, prosecutors, and defense attorneys.³¹⁶

Although highly trained in refugee issues, U.S. immigration trial attorneys, U.S. immigration courts, and immigration judges tend to handle adults and juveniles alike and few accommodations are made for the special needs of children.

7.3.3 Adaptation of Courtroom Experience for Children: Court Personnel (INS Trial Lawvers and Immigration Judges), and Courtroom Procedures

According to international standards, court proceedings must be conducive to the best interests of the child and be conducted in an atmosphere of understanding, which allows the child to participate and express him or herself freely. 317 One fundamental principle of the CRC is that State Parties must ensure that children can exercise the right to express their views freely in all matters affecting their lives and that the child's views shall be given "due weight in accordance with the age and maturity of the child." This is a participatory right (not primarily a right to freedom of expression, which is provided for in a separate article), which means that children have a right to be heard and participate in decisions that affect their lives. This is particularly relevant to the administration of justice. 318 In order for states to fulfill this obligation effectively, it is increasingly recognized that courts and other decision-making bodies need to be adapted to facilitate children's participation, providing the child with a comfortable and safe environment in Consideration should be given to ensuring that the giving of testimony does which to testify. not harm the child or subject him or her to further trauma. 319

Immigration proceedings in the U.S. are adversarial. INS staff attorneys who are trained and experienced in prosecuting violations of immigration law represent the U.S. government before immigration judges. It appears that the manner in which cases are prosecuted against children fails to take into account their special needs and vulnerability. One attorney told AI that aggressive cross-examination of children can be traumatic for the child and that "the INS treats them as aliens first and children second."³²⁰ Other advocates have commented that trial attorneys apparently have no sensitivity to the fact that they are dealing with children: "They might as well be serial murderers."³²¹ Although testimony must be tested to ensure it is as accurate as possible, children should never be exposed to the aggressive forms of questioning that may otherwise be employed during cross-examination. The president of the American Bar Association wrote to the INS General Counsel raising concerns regarding INS trial attorneys' hostility toward children during cross-examination in June 2002; however, no response was received. 322

There is no specially trained corps of INS trial attorneys to deal with children's cases. AI spoke with an INS trial attorney who had recently been appointed to prosecute children in a district where there was a high volume of cases and a pro bono organization that worked to provide legal representation for unaccompanied children. The reason given for the appointment appears to reflect the heavy emphasis on the law enforcement culture of the immigration service

³¹⁶ See UNICEF Implementation Handbook for the Convention of the Rights of the Child, 2002, p. 543.

³¹⁷ See UN Standard Minimum Rules on the Administration of Juvenile Justice, Part III, Adjudication and Disposition,

Article 14.2.

318 CRC, Art. 12(2): "For this purpose, the child shall in particular be provided the opportunity to be heard in any in the continuous of the child shall in particular be provided the opportunity to be heard in any in the continuous of the continuous of the child shall be provided to the opportunity of the child shall be provided to the opportunity of the child shall be provided to the opportunity of the child shall be provided to the opportunity to be heard in any the child shall be provided to the opportunity of the child shall be provided to the opportunity to be heard in any the child shall be provided to the opportunity to be heard in any the child shall be provided to the opportunity to be heard in any the child shall be provided to the opportunity to be heard in any the child shall be provided to the opportunity to be heard in any the child shall be provided to the opportunity of the child shall be provided to the opportunity to be heard in any the child shall be provided to the opportunity of the child shall be provided to the opportunity of the child shall be provided to the opportunity of the child shall be provided to the opportunity of the child shall be provided to the child shall be provided judicial and administrative proceedings affecting the child, either directly, or through a representative."

³¹⁹ UNICEF Implementation Handbook for the Convention of the Rights of the Child.

³²⁰ AI interview with Latham &Watkins law firm, 4/12/02.

³²¹ AI interview with advocacy group, August 2002.

Letter from Robert E. Hirshon, ABA president, to Owen B. Cooper, General Counsel, Immigration and Naturalization Service, 6/11/02.

and not the best interests of the child. It was because "we're at a disadvantage in comparison to the lawyers for the children." AI believes trial attorneys who work only with children and/or are specially trained to take a child's age and special vulnerability into consideration are much needed. As the restructuring of BICE is under way, the Department of Homeland Security should ensure that this measure is implemented. The American Bar Association offered to assist in the development of a training program for INS trial attorneys and raised concerns regarding the hostility of some INS trial attorneys; however, it received no response. 323

AI attended a master calendar hearing in Miami, Florida, and observed an immigration judge speaking brusquely to the children who appeared before him, routinely using complex legal terminology and difficult terms such as "frivolous," "fraudulent statement," and "enter without inspection." Many of the children appeared to be intimidated and frightened. Some appeared to have difficulty in understanding what was happening. In one instance, the judge raised his voice to a child who clearly did not understand what he was being told. ³²⁴

The Office of the Chief Immigration Judge in the Executive Office of Immigration Review (EOIR) has attempted to make some accommodations for the unique problems posed by unaccompanied children. For example, copies of the INS's "Guidelines for Children's Asylum Claims (see 2.3.2) have been distributed to all immigration judges, noting that the Guidelines raise and explore special factors that apply when children seek asylum, though further noting that INS policy documents are not binding on Immigration Court proceedings. Copies of the Lutheran Immigrant Refugee Service's handbook, "Working with Refugee and Immigrant Children: Issues of Culture, Law, and Development," have been distributed to all Immigration Courts. In addition, at least two immigration judge training conferences have included trainings on children in immigration proceedings.

The U.S. immigration court does not have a designated set of special procedures for handling cases of unaccompanied minors in removal proceedings, and AI questions whether EOIR initiatives have gone far enough to ensure that court personnel are appropriately trained in dealing with legal and procedural issues of special relevance to children, including credibility determinations, child-sensitive questioning and listening, and the importance for children to have a trusted adult present in the courtroom. As previously noted, for some children the fact that they are children may be central to their claim for immigration relief, including asylum. There is a need to be sensitive to cultural and developmental differences when dealing with children in an immigration setting; the experience of trauma, age, level of education, and even gender are all factors that can impact a child's ability to articulate and understand events that may be relevant to his or her claim for asylum or other forms of relief. It is essential that a child's age and cultural background be considered when evaluating a child's testimony.

Many children who appear before immigration judges have experienced some kind of trauma ranging from torture and armed conflict to severe abuse and neglect. The U.S. Department of Justice has made recommendations to improve the criminal and civil justice system's response to child victims and witnesses of crimes in the U.S., particularly the courtroom experience. A study by the DOJ states that adult professionals working with traumatized child

. .

³²³ Ibid

³²⁴ The court interpreter requested permission to interpret, rather than simply translate, in order to explain the technical terms used by the judge to the child who appeared to be clearly unnerved by the experience. AI visit, Krome, Florida, 12/19/02

³²⁵ Michael F. Rahill, *What Child Is This?: How Immigration Courts Respond to Unaccompanied Minors*, Office of the Chief Immigration Judge, Institute for Court Management, Court Executive Development Program, Phase III Project, May 2000.

victims and witnesses must be "able and willing to adjust their approach to the child's developmental level." The study makes a number of recommendations to judges that arguably apply equally, if not more so, to children seeking protection in the U.S. immigration system. These recommendations include adequate training of judges in the dynamics of child maltreatment; the impact of victimization and witnessing violence on child development; ensuring that development needs of children are recognized and accommodated in the arrangement of the courtroom; requiring that all attorneys use age-appropriate language; and being flexible in allowing a child to have a support person present in the courtroom. Techniques and procedures need to be developed in order to avoid intimidation by non-child-friendly procedures. Such measures can include alteration of the courtroom environment; prehearing courtroom tours; seating judges at the same level and forgoing the wearing of robes; and child-appropriate vocabulary for direct and cross-examination. 327

AI encourages the replacement of formal courtroom procedures with more informal, interview-style settings, appropriate questioning techniques, and credibility determinations that reflect an understanding of a child's developmental level. AI recommends that the U.S. Guidelines be mandatory for immigration judges and immigration trial attorneys, and that the EOIR undertake a study to implement changes in the courtroom process for children. In the meantime, immigration judges should be required to respond flexibly to the need for modified courtroom procedures.

7.4 Additional Concerns About Courtroom Experiences

7.4.1 Interpreters

A number of children reported to AI problems in understanding what is taking place in the courtroom due to language difficulties and a lack of access to interpretation services. This severely restricts a child's ability to participate in proceedings. For example, one child told AI, "There was no translator—I spoke only a little English then. The judge said, you can speak English. I got confused so I lost. I lost because I had to speak English." "328"

7.4.2 Video Conferencing Facilities

In two of the facilities that AI visited, BCYC in Pennsylvania and the Gila County facility in Arizona, technology was in place for children to appear before an immigration judge via video conferencing facilities. Some children reported how intimidating and confusing this technology is, and AI is concerned that it affects a child's ability to participate fully in the proceedings. One child told AI that there was a strange man on the TV and "it was scary. I was nervous, I was trembling." C.D., a sixteen-year-old asylum-seeker told AI that at one of his hearings the video conferencing was not working properly, making it difficult to communicate and that eventually they had to use telephones.³³⁰

69

³²⁶ See U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Office for Victims of Crime, Advocating for the Fair Treatment of Crime Victims: Breaking the Cycle of Violence: Recommendations to Improve the Criminal Justice Response to Child Victims and Witnesses. June 1999

Response to Child Victims and Witnesses, June 1999.

327 See also ABA recommendations to EOIR and recommendations made by the National Association of Counsel for Children

³²⁸ K.Y. about his court experience, AI Interview, fall 2002.

³²⁹ AI interview, fall 2002.

³³⁰ AI interview, fall 2002.

AI has previously raised concerns about the use of video conferencing and the impact this may have on a child's ability to participate and the immigration judge's ability to assess credibility. AI believes that the INS should not use video-conference hearings as a substitute for a proceeding where an asylum-seeker can confer privately with his or her attorney and the immigration judge who will decide his or her fate. The procedure is depersonalized and raises questions about the fairness of the procedure. These concerns included inadequate opportunity for the asylum-seeker to communicate fully and participate fully in the procedure; inadequate interpretation (although interpreters translate testimony and the immigration judge's instructions and decisions, they do not interpret courtroom discussions for the detainee); and inadequate opportunity for the detainee to confer privately with his or her legal representative. ³³¹

7.4.3 Courtroom Waiting Area (Krome, Florida): Proximity to Firing Range

AI spoke to advocates who had concerns about the proximity of a firing range to the courtroom at the Krome Detention Center located in Florida. They reported that many of the children are distressed by the loud and frightening noises from the firing range, in particular those children who have suffered significant trauma in their lives. For example, an Albanian girl would reportedly cry whenever she had to sit outside and listen to gunfire, and another child who had fled the war in Kosovo was frightened and disturbed; the loud gunfire seemed to worsen his fragile state, according to his attorney. An AI delegate observed the waiting area for children. It was flanked on two sides by a "Firearm Storage Locker," in plain view, and the noise from the firing range was audible from both the waiting area and the courtroom.

Advocates report that this stressful environment is poorly suited to the vulnerability of children and it adversely affects their ability to articulate their asylum claims as well as exacerbates their already limited ability to be involved and participate in the hearings process. Following concerns raised by advocates, local immigration officials reportedly agreed that the firing range would not be operational during children's master calendar hearings. Advocates report, however, that this agreement has not been implemented to date. AI urges that this agreement be implemented as soon as possible and that it is extended to cover children's merits hearings when full consideration of their claims are heard.

7.5 Guardians Ad Litem (Friend of the Child)

"While an attorney can provide advice to the juvenile about his or her legal case—such as whether or not the juvenile is eligible for relief from removal—the advice is different from advice as to whether a juvenile should choose to try and stay in the U.S. or return to his or her family, a decision that a parent would be better suited to make. It is inappropriate for a counsel—even a talented and dedicated one—to make these decisions."

- Michael Creppy, Chief Immigration Judge, Executive Office of Immigration Review (EOIR), testimony before U.S. Senate Committee on the Judiciary, Subcommittee on Immigration, 28 February 2002

Unaccompanied children are alone—they do not have a parent or other trusted person to provide advice and help them make decisions. The role of a guardian is to act in loco parentis (in the position or place of a parent) in the absence of a traditional caregiver and is fundamentally different from that of a lawyer. A lawyer can provide advice about whether the child is eligible for asylum or other forms of relief under U.S. law. A guardian bridges the gap between legal considerations and a child's well-being. The guardian's main role is to ensure that all decisions

³³¹ See Amnesty International, *Lost in the Labyrinth*, 1999, pp. 36, 39.

are taken with the child's best interest in mind. The guardian establishes a relationship of trust with the child and plays an active role in ensuring that a child has suitable care, accommodation, education, language support, and health care provisions; ensures that a child has suitable legal representation to deal with his or her asylum or immigration claim; consults with and advises the child; contributes to identifying a durable solution that is in the child's best interests, including exploring the possibility of family tracing and reunification. A guardian would be crucial to assisting children to participate not only in legal proceedings, but also to navigate the detention system and release process detailed in chapters 3, 4, 5 and 6. Individuals carrying out these responsibilities should have child-care expertise and an understanding of the special and cultural needs of separated children in order to fulfill their role effectively.

International standards provide that children deprived of their families are entitled to special protection and assistance UNHCR Guidelines and the CRC, Article 20(1), call for the appointment of guardians in cases involving unaccompanied children. ³³² Many countries appoint a guardian or adult in a supervisory role for unaccompanied children. For example, in the Netherlands a special organization exists to act as a guardian for unaccompanied children without other adults to represent them. ³³³

In the U.S., there is currently no system for the appointment of guardians or other personal representatives for unaccompanied children. The role of a guardian is, however, recognized in U.S. law. For example, all 50 states and the District of Columbia provide for the appointment of Guardians Ad Litem (GAL) in child abuse and neglect proceedings. In some states that guardian ad litem is a lawyer, while in other states the GAL is a lay volunteer (Court Appointed Special Advocate, or CASA). A study conducted by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services on the effectiveness of representation through a GAL found that the best

22

³³² See UNHCR Guidelines on Policies and Procedures in Dealing with Unaccompanied Children Seeking Asylum, February 1997, Sec. 5.7, Appointment of a Guardian or Adviser: "It is suggested that an independent and formally accredited organization be identified/established in each country, which will appoint a guardian or adviser as soon as the unaccompanied child is identified. The guardian or adviser should have the necessary expertise in the field of childcare, so as to ensure that the interests of the child are safeguarded, and that the child's legal, social, medical and psychological needs are appropriately covered during the refugee status determination procedures and until a durable solution for the child has been identified and implemented. To this end, the guardian or adviser would act as a link between the child and existing specialist agencies/individuals who would provide the continuum of care required by the child." See also Sec. 8.3: "Not being legally independent, an asylum-seeking child should be represented by an adult that is familiar with the child's background and who would protect his/her interests. Access should also be given to a qualified legal representative. This principle should apply to all children, including those between sixteen and eighteen, even where application for refugee status is processed under the normal procedures for adults." See also UNHCR, Refugee Children: Guidelines on Protection and Care, 1994, Chapter 10, Unaccompanied Children: "Legal responsibility for unaccompanied refugee children rests with the government of the country of asylum. unaccompanied child should have a legal guardian with respect to involvement in any legal proceedings and may need a legal guardian to advocate for the child's interests or to make decisions on behalf of the child in other situations.' See also UNHCR Guidelines on the applicable Criteria and Standards Relating to the Detention of Asylum Seekers, February 1999, Sec. 6, Detention of Persons Under the Age of 18 Years: "A legal guardian or adviser should be appointed for unaccompanied minors."

Unaccompanied Children, which appoints an adviser for each child. The panel offers "independent advice, support and where necessary advocacy" to ensure that children receive fair and equal access to the services they are entitled to for example legal representation, care, and accommodation; in Canada a "designated representative" is appointed for every child refugee claimant, whether accompanied or unaccompanied. See IGC, Secretariat of the Inter-governmental Consultations on Asylum, Refugee and Migration Policies in Europe, North America and Australia, Report on Unaccompanied Minors: Overview of Policies and Practices in IGC Participating States, July 1997. See also Draft Workshop Report, Transatlantic Workshop on Unaccompanied/Separated Children: Comparative Policies and Practices in North America and Europe, Georgetown University, 18-19 June, 2001, 8/22/01; and Bhabba and Young, Not Adults in Miniature: Unaccompanied Child Asylum Seekers and the New U.S. Guidelines, International Journal of Refugee Law Vol. 11, no. 1 (1999): 91–92.

results appear to have been achieved when both attorneys and non-attorney representatives were involved in a case.³³⁴ In the U.S., Guidelines for Children's Asylum Claims touch upon the possibility of an adult, other than an attorney, participating in the adjudication process.³³⁵ There is also some support from immigration judges for guardians to be appointed for unaccompanied children. A survey of immigration judges noted that the concept of a guardian "appears to have general merit and is worth pursuing."³³⁶ The EOIR is pursuing the concept through a pilot project that includes the appointment of a "Friend of the Child" (FOC), who is a child welfare professional, to facilitate a child's participation in the proceedings by establishing trust with the child and ensuring that the child's best interests are met. One immigration judge participating in a survey on the potential role of a guardian pointed to the case of a Chinese child held for seven weeks in a juvenile jail facility in Portland, Oregon, after being granted political asylum by the immigration court. The child's plight was only addressed after her case received extensive media coverage. Another judge noted that if such representation were not mandatory, those most in need of it might decline it because it would be inconsistent with a smuggling plan.³³⁷

8. THE FUTURE FOR UNACCOMPANIED CHILDREN IN THE U.S.

The changes implemented by the Homeland Security Act that place the responsibility of the care, custody, and placement of unaccompanied immigrant children with the Office of Refugee Resettlement (ORR) create important opportunities to address serious concerns about the children's treatment in the U.S. Although the recent legislative reforms are substantial, they do not address all concerns. The provisions related to unaccompanied children that were included in the Homeland Security Act were incorporated from an earlier bill, entitled the Unaccompanied Alien Child Protection Act (S121). While the Homeland Security legislation provides for ORR jurisdiction over unaccompanied children, it omits crucial revisions that were contained in the Unaccompanied Alien Child Protection Act, including statutory guarantees for guardians or pro bono counsel. Other issues of concern identified by AI in this report were also omitted, including reform of questionable age-determination procedures, Special Immigrant Juvenile consent processes, and practices such as shackling, handcuffing, solitary confinement, and pat-down or strip searches. AI urges that legislation to address the shortcomings in the present framework be introduced and that the U.S. Congress enact such legislation as soon as possible.³³⁸

33

³³⁴ U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Administration for Children and Families, Administration on Children, Youth and Families, National Center on Child Abuse and Neglect, *Final Report on the Validation and Effectiveness Study of Legal Representation Through Guardian Ad Litem*, 1995.

³³⁵ U.S. Department of Justice, INS, Guidelines for Children's Asylum Claims, 12/10/98: "It is generally in the best interest of the child to allow a trusted adult to attend an asylum interview with the child asylum applicant. A trusted adult is a person who may bridge the gap between the child's culture and the US asylum system."

³³⁶ See Michael F. Rahill, *What Child Is This?: How Immigration Courts Respond to Unaccompanied Minors*, Office of the Chief Immigration Judge, Institute for Court Management, Court Executive Development Program, Phase III Project, May 2000. See also Michael Creppy, Chief Immigration Judge, Executive Office of Immigration Review (EOIR), testimony before the U.S. Senate Committee on the Judiciary, Subcommittee on Immigration, 2/28/02: Judge Creppy noted: "I believe the Immigration Court process would be aided by the presence of an independent adult who can make informed recommendations for the juvenile respondent"; however, he goes on to note that he supports the concept in "limited circumstances."

concept in "limited circumstances." ³³⁷ Michael F. Rahill, *What Child Is This?: How Immigration Courts Respond to Unaccompanied Minors*, Office of the Chief Immigration Judge, Institute for Court Management, Court Executive Development Program, Phase III Project, May 2000

³³⁸ Senator Feinstein (D-CA) has indicated that she intends to push for similar protections by seeking to introduce legislation making technical corrections to the HSA and/or in other bills before the 108th Cong. session. See Frank Davies, *Migrant Kids' Care to Shift Away from the INS*, Miami Herald, 12/15/02.

As the previous chapters have demonstrated, the ORR has inherited a fundamentally flawed system, plagued with inconsistencies and routinely in violation of international and national standards. It must move quickly to implement radical changes in order to safeguard the rights of the children under its care. Furthermore, the U.S. Congress must demonstrate its commitment to this process by allocating adequate funds to carry out such initiatives.

8.1 The Detention System

The ORR has been assigned a number of responsibilities with regard to the care of unaccompanied children, including making decisions about where a child should be placed; identifying sufficient numbers of qualified individuals, entities, and facilities to house children; conducting inspections of facilities and other entities in which unaccompanied children reside;³³⁹ and overseeing the infrastructure and personnel of these facilities.³⁴⁰

AI urges the ORR to ensure that children are not detained and that alternatives to detention are utilized, including release of unaccompanied children to relatives or other individuals and entities willing and suitable for housing unaccompanied minors, including the foster care program. The Homeland Security Act also encourages the use of the refugee foster care system whenever possible.³⁴¹ AI is encouraged by reports that the ORR is already exploring and expanding the use of foster care and release to family members.

The ORR must ensure that in the event that a child is detained, it is only for the shortest time possible and in the least restrictive setting possible, in a facility that is appropriate to the child's needs and complies with both international and U.S. standards. This goal is severely hindered by the fact that the ORR has inherited a detention system that reflects the law enforcement culture of the INS, an agency long criticized for routinely placing immigration control above the best interests of the child. The entire contracted network of at least 115 facilities used by the former INS to house unaccompanied children (including secure juvenile jails housing approximately one-third of children) has been transferred to the ORR. This means that unaccompanied children still remain in detention in facilities that AI's findings demonstrate fail to meet international and U.S. standards. The ORR has expressed willingness to consider addressing some of the problems with the detention system, including a review of all existing contracts, during a meeting with AI in February 2003. AI welcomes ORR's commitment to review these contracts and requests that such a review be undertaken expeditiously.

It is clear that ORR faces a challenging and important task. AI is concerned that ORR will be hindered in its efforts due to lack of funding: ORR has a very limited budget and a skeleton staff to address the substantial challenges that it faces in bringing the existing system into compliance with both U.S. standards and international law. AI strongly urges the U.S. government to provide the ORR with sufficient resources to meet its new mandate.

³³⁹ The former INS was required to inspect facilities housing children once a year. The results of such inspections were recently forwarded to the national Office for Juvenile Affairs, where decisions were made as to whether a contract with a particular facility should continue. INS officials told AI that contracts are routinely renewed "unless there are severe violations." ³⁴⁰ Homeland Security Act of 2002, Sec. 462 (b)(1)(F) and 462(b)(1)(L).

Homeland Security Act of 2002, Sec. 462(b)(2)(3), referring to the system established in Sec. 412(d) of the Immigration and Nationality Act. The ORR administers the refugee foster care system through contracts with voluntary agencies, e.g., the U.S. Catholic Conference on Bishops and the Lutheran Immigration and Refugee Service. See chapter 3 for further details.

8.2 Legal Representation and Guardians

As described in this report, unaccompanied children in the United States are not provided with a lawyer or a guardian ad litem (or FOC, "Friend of the Child") to help guide them through the complex U.S. immigration system. This is of grave concern to Amnesty International. The legal community within the U.S. has responded admirably to the need for pro bono representation for unaccompanied children, creating networks of pro bono legal representatives willing to represent these children. However, the networks are often overwhelmed and underfunded, and in the event that a pro bono lawyer is not available there is no guarantee that a child will be appointed an attorney.

Unfortunately, the Homeland Security Act did not remedy this situation, and does not address the issue beyond requiring certain administrative initiatives. The ORR has been given the responsibility of compiling, updating, and publishing a state-by-state list of professionals qualified to provide guardian and attorney representation services for unaccompanied alien children. It is also required to develop a plan to be submitted to Congress on how to ensure that qualified and independent legal counsel is appointed, "consistent with the law regarding appointment of counsel that is in effect on the date of enactment," i.e., at no expense to the government. The ORR has indicated to AI that it is keen to work with the legal community. Nevertheless, ORR has not yet been given the financial resources to effectively complete this substantial task.

AI further notes that even with a network of pro bono representation, the majority of children still do not have legal representation. Legislation guaranteeing that all children are provided a lawyer and a guardian is required to ensure a safety net of court-appointed counsel at the government's expense for those instances where pro bono representation is not available.

8.3 Ongoing Concerns and Inherent Dangers of a Law Enforcement Culture: DHS

"The law creating the Department of Homeland Security spells out its security mission in great detail. But the role this agency will play in serving immigrants and visitors—a role that helps to boost our economy, enrich our culture and secure our moral standing in the world—is barely mentioned.... Refugees have always sought safe haven here, ever since the Pilgrims fled religious persecution in Europe in the 17th century. Jews sought refuge from Hitler, and Cubans, Vietnamese, and other refugees fled communist dictatorships in the last half of the 20th century; refugees continue coming here today from all parts of the world, and we must not forget their plight. For decades, the INS asylum officers have been on the front lines working to maintain this country's 200-year commitment to helping legitimate refugees flee persecution. Many of these dedicated public servants will continue this work as part of the Department of Homeland Security. But they are concerned that the beacon of hope that we have made to shine so brightly will be dimmed because of inadequate attention or resources. After the shock and trauma of September 11, there is a natural inclination by our political leaders to listen to those who seek to close our borders. The challenge for the new Homeland Security Department is to protect our borders while, at the same time, upholding our long-held values. This is a job too important to be left half done."

—James W. Ziglar, INS Commissioner, August 2001–December 2002, *The End of the INS: Let's Not Forget Our Immigration Duties*, Miami Herald, 4 March 2003

_ .

³⁴² Homeland Security Act of 2002, Sec. 462(b)(1)(9)(A) and 462(b)(1)(I).

Amnesty International is concerned that, notwithstanding the involvement of the ORR in the care and custody of children, many will still encounter and potentially get lost in a system where the priority mission is law enforcement and protection of national security. There is a danger that obligations to protect those seeking safety in the U.S. will be forgotten. The former INS was frequently criticized for placing law enforcement concerns over the best interests of the child, and with the reorganization of the law enforcement and service elements of immigration control into the Department of Homeland Security (DHS), that danger is even more real than ever before.³⁴³

Particular attention to these issues must be undertaken by the Bureau of Customs and Border Protection (BCBP) and the Bureau of Immigration and Customs Enforcement (BICE) within the Directorate of Border and Transportation Security. Unaccompanied children will encounter officials from the BCBP at the airport or border crossing. Once it has been established that the child is undocumented, or if an unaccompanied child is found within the interior of the United States, the child will be referred to BICE, pending resolution of any claim for relief that they may have, such as for asylum.

The Homeland Security Act failed to specify a time limit for transferring the custody of children from the Department of Homeland Security (BICE). Given the problems that AI has documented with regard to children in the custody of the former INS (now BICE), the custody of children should be transferred to the custody of the ORR as soon as possible and within a strictly defined time frame. The DHS will be responsible for ensuring that an individual under the age of eighteen years is transferred to the custody of the ORR. This raises a number of concerns, as AI has documented abuses during transfer, such as inappropriate use of shackling of unaccompanied children by the former INS. Furthermore, the former INS used questionable age-determination techniques, which resulted in some children being housed with adults. BICE has assumed many of the enforcement functions of the former INS and is operating out of the existing INS district offices with staffing and most facilities remaining the same.

As the DHS undertakes restructuring, it must not lose sight of its obligation to protect this vulnerable population and ensure that policies and procedures are developed with the best interests of the child in mind. AI believes that fundamental changes in infrastructure, staffing, attitude, and philosophy must be addressed to ensure that a balance between law enforcement and protection of the children's rights is achieved, and that the mistakes of the INS are not repeated. It is understood that the ORR and DHS are currently working on a memorandum of understanding to resolve some of the issues that require clarification between the two agencies. While it is important to move quickly to resolve these issues, care must be taken to ensure the best interests of the children concerned. Therefore both agencies should consult extensively with advocates and NGOs with expertise in this field before any agreement is finalized.

8.4 Additional Research and Monitoring Statistics

Accurate record keeping is a vital element in ensuring that rights are respected and to facilitate the U.S. government's ability to design and implement an effective system for the care of unaccompanied children. The current failure of various agencies to keep accurate records on

_

³⁴³ See chapters 3, 4, 5, 6, and 7 of this report for examples of INS prioritization of law enforcement concerns over the best interests of the child. See also Wendy Young, Director of Government Relations and U.S. Programs, Women's Commission on Refugee Women and Children, testimony before U.S. Senate Committee on the Judiciary, Subcommittee on Immigration, 2/28/02.

unaccompanied children is of concern to Amnesty International. The former INS has frequently been criticized on data gathering relating to children in its custody. 344 The INS failed to provide statistical data relating to detained asylum-seekers notwithstanding a statutory requirement to do so. The Omnibus Consolidated and Emergency Supplemental Appropriations Act (1999) required the U.S. attorney general to collect data on a nationwide basis with respect to asylum-seekers detained by the INS, including the age of detainees. However, despite this provision still no effective records are kept; for example, on the types of relief sought by children in immigration detention or whether or not children have legal representation. In addition, the immigration courts' Executive Office of Immigration Review (EOIR) does not effectively track children's cases.³⁴⁵ A coordinated data collection system that includes information such as age, gender, nationality, case type and disposition, placement, and length of detention is required.

The ORR has now been tasked to coordinate with other agencies to collect data on unaccompanied children.³⁴⁶ The Department of Justice (through the EOIR) and the Department of Homeland Security (through BCPS, BICE, BCIS) must all work with the ORR in the Department of Health and Human Services to ensure that a coordinated data collection system is developed as soon as possible. Such information will enable all three departments (DHS, DOJ, DHHS) to design an effective system for the care of unaccompanied children in the U.S. Amnesty International welcomes this initiative and urges the agencies to develop such a system expeditiously. This effort must be only one of many coordinated efforts to ensure that the departments collaborate with greater transparency and efficiency than has been the case under the former INS.

9. CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS

The rights of unaccompanied children in the U.S. immigration detention system are routinely violated. Children are detained in contravention of both U.S. and international standards, often for prolonged periods. The facilities used to detain children are often inappropriate and fail to meet the needs of this vulnerable population.

AI urges the U.S. government to end the practice of routinely detaining unaccompanied children in immigration proceedings immediately. If children are detained, they must only be detained as a last resort for the shortest possible time and in a facility appropriate to their needs. AI is also concerned about its findings on the conditions under which detained children are housed. As discussed in chapter 1, AI recognizes the limited number of children interviewed for the purposes of this report. Likewise, the information obtained in the facility survey may not fully represent the situation in every facility utilized to house unaccompanied children. Nevertheless, the wide range of sources utilized by AI suggests that the problems are not simply anecdotal, but systemic in nature, and has revealed some disturbing patterns and trends. The ORR should urgently undertake a comprehensive review of all facilities housing unaccompanied children to ensure that no child is housed in a facility that fails to meet international and U.S. standards. The

³⁴⁴ See OIG, Unaccompanied Juveniles in INS Custody, 2001. Those monitoring the implementation of *Flores* report not being provided with adequate or reasonably accessible data on unaccompanied children in detention. See Center for Human Rights and Constitutional Law, National Center for Youth Law, Latham & Watkins, Youth Law Center, Unaccompanied Immigrant and Refugee Children: A Working Paper Prepared for the Office of Refugee Resettlement, 1/14/03. AI did not receive a response to a written request for updated statistical data on unaccompanied children sent

to the Office of Juvenile Affairs, 1/23/03. ³⁴⁵ EOIR tracks the progress and outcome of cases in its Automated Nationwide System for Immigration Review (ANSIR), a case management database, but does not track via an individual's date of birth. Chief Immigration Judge Creppy has now mandated the use of the "J" system to track children, although the implementation may not be consistent and thus additional monitoring will be required to ensure an effective system of tracking. ³⁴⁶ See Homeland Security Act of 2002, Sec. 472(b)(2)(J)(i)(v) and 472(b)(2)(K).

ORR must demand that facilities rectify any violations of international law or of *Flores*, or contracts with such facilities should be terminated.

The responsibility for improving the treatment of unaccompanied children cannot rest solely with the ORR. Following the restructuring of the INS and the transfer of many functions into the Department of Homeland Security, now more than ever a coordinated approach is required by all agencies dealing with children. This report is not comprehensive and does not intend to cover the full range of issues pertaining to the three main departments with responsibilities to unaccompanied children. AI also makes the following recommendations, which represent the minimum procedural guarantees for the treatment of unaccompanied children in the U.S.

U.S. Government

- The U.S. government should ratify, without reservations, the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child.
- Unaccompanied children awaiting determination of their immigration status should not be
 routinely detained. The U.S. government should revise its detention law and policy in light
 of the requirements of international law. International law requires that the detention of
 asylum-seekers is the exception and should normally be avoided and further stipulates that
 children should only be detained as a last resort and for the shortest possible period of time.
- The U.S. government must ensure that all agencies dealing with unaccompanied children comply fully with all relevant national laws, regulations, and international standards concerning detention conditions for children.
- The U.S. government should pass legislation that will guarantee that all unaccompanied children are provided with legal representation and guardians. If a child cannot afford legal representation, and meaningful pro bono legal representation cannot be secured, it should be provided at the government's expense.
- The U.S. government should ensure that the Office of Refugee Resettlement is adequately funded and provided with the resources it needs to fulfill its responsibilities toward unaccompanied children.
- The U.S. government should ensure that no child is returned to a country where he or she would be at risk of serious human rights abuses.
- The U.S. government should give active consideration to extending an invitation to the UN Working Group on Arbitrary Detention to visit and report on incidence of arbitrary detention of unaccompanied children.

Department of Homeland Security (DHS)

• All employees whose duties bring them into contact with juveniles should receive training on the special needs and rights of unaccompanied children, including the requirements of *Flores* and international standards. All law enforcement officials within the Bureau of Customs and Border Protection (BCBP) and the Bureau of Immigration and Customs Enforcement (BICE) should receive such training, including continuing training.

- Consistent and in-depth training should be provided to all trial attorneys handling
 unaccompanied children's cases in removal proceedings. The DHS should consider
 developing a specially trained corps of trial attorneys who work only with children and/or are
 specially trained in how to take into consideration a child's age and vulnerability during
 proceedings.
- The Department of Homeland Security should coordinate closely with EOIR and ORR and meet regularly to discuss and resolve issues pertaining to the needs of unaccompanied children. All staff in the DHS should be made aware of the new roles and responsibilities of the ORR.

Holding Cells

• The DHS should ensure that all facilities used to house children prior to transfer of custody to ORR meet all international standards and the requirements of *Flores*. Children should be guaranteed immediate access to legal representation and the right to contact their consulates and the UNHCR.

Age Determination

- Where the Department of Homeland Security uses age assessments, it should ensure that such
 methods comply with the UNHCR Guidelines on Policies and Procedures in Dealing with
 Unaccompanied Children Seeking Asylum. The individual should be given the benefit of the
 doubt in cases where an individual cannot be conclusively identified as a child. Allowances
 should be made for the margin of error inherent in many assessments that purport to
 determine chronological age.
- All steps should be taken to ensure that children are not inappropriately placed in adult facilities operated by the Bureau of Immigration and Customs Enforcement (BICE). The DHS or the ORR should consider designating a shelter or group home setting for those individuals where age cannot be conclusively determined.
- All steps should be taken by the Bureau of Customs and Border Protection (BCBP) to ensure that children are not placed in expedited removal when an individual's age is in question. No individual should be removed from the U.S. without an individualized hearing before an immigration court.

Use of Restraints

• The Department of Homeland Security should prohibit and end immediately the practice of shackling children (handcuffs, leg irons, belly chains), including during transportation, a practice AI considers is inconsistent with international standards on restraints and humane treatment. Restraints should only be applied in exceptional circumstances and for the shortest possible period of time in order to prevent injury or on medical grounds, and only when all other control methods have been exhausted and failed. Children should not be shackled when appearing before immigration judges. Guidelines on the use of restraints, in accordance with international standards, should be developed, and fully and effectively implemented, and compliance should be monitored.

The Department of Health and Human Services: Office of Refugee Resettlement (ORR)

- The ORR should expand the capacity of its foster care system and ensure that children are placed in the "least restrictive setting" appropriate to the child's age and needs.
- The ORR should finalize regulations that incorporate fully the requirements of *Flores* and should include additional requirements to ensure compliance with international standards relating to the care of unaccompanied children.

Release Decisions

- The best interests of the child should be the primary consideration when making release decisions. The ORR should ensure that the provisions of *Flores* regarding release of unaccompanied children are adhered to.
- A child's release from detention should not be dependent on a relative's immigration status.
- The ORR should adopt a more flexible approach and exercise discretion in releasing a juvenile to an appropriate sponsor. Family reunification should be completed expeditiously to prevent the detention of children.
- Whenever home assessments are required to ensure that a relative/sponsor is in a position to provide for the child's physical and emotional needs, the assessment should be undertaken expeditiously within a defined time period. The ORR should conduct an audit of the current procedures for home assessments and revise as appropriate to ensure that children do not remain in detention for prolonged periods pending determination of a home assessment.

No Release Options Available

- If a child is detained the reasons for doing so should be in accordance with international standards and by means of a prompt, fair individual hearing before a judicial or similar authority whose status and tenure afford the strongest possible guarantees of competence, impartiality, and independence.
- The ORR should ensure that unaccompanied children are not placed in state juvenile justice or criminal justice facilities or in other facilities with jail-like conditions. Children currently housed in juvenile jails should be immediately removed from those facilities and placed in a setting appropriate to their needs. Unaccompanied children should be held separately and not confined with U.S. juveniles serving criminal sentences.
- Children should not be placed in secure detention on the basis of influx of children or on the basis of an arbitrary decision that a child is a flight risk. AI recommends that in accordance with international standards, there should be a hearing before an immigration court to determine whether the government can present the necessary evidence to prove that an individual child should be detained. If release is not effected the child's detention should be reviewed periodically by an independent body, and the government must prove that grounds for continued detention exist.
- Children who are victims of trafficking should not be placed in secure detention. Safety
 considerations may require additional precautions, but such determinations should be made
 on a case-by-case basis, and such children detained only after a thorough and individualized
 assessment has revealed no possible safe alternatives. Detention cannot be justified on the
 grounds that it is being used to protect children from smugglers or other alleged dangers in
 the U.S. community.

Monitoring and Inspection

• AI urges that the ORR undertake an immediate and comprehensive inspection of all facilities to ensure compliance with international standards and *Flores*. The ORR should require those that fail to meet standards to rectify those problems immediately or terminate their contracts.

Detention System/Conditions

- Staff should treat children with dignity and respect and receive consistent and in-depth training on the requirements of *Flores* and international standards.
- The special circumstances of unaccompanied children should be communicated to all staff involved in the detention of unaccompanied children. In particular, they should be given training on who an asylum-seeker is and be made aware of the fact that many asylum-seekers may be seriously traumatized by their experience of persecution. Staff should be made aware of the requirements of cross-cultural communications and of post-traumatic stress disorder and the particular legal, cultural, and psychological needs of asylum-seekers.
- The INS Detention Standards for adults provide for a grievance procedure. The ORR should develop a system for children's grievances and complaints regarding placement decisions and conditions of confinement should be addressed.

Access to the Outside World and Information and Assistance

- Children should receive a verbal and written explanation of rights in a language he or she can understand. A sufficient number of trained interpreters should be available at facilities housing unaccompanied children and, in the absence of such interpreters, free access to alternative methods of translation should be made available.
- In accordance with international standards children should be afforded the right to inform family members of the detention and place of confinement. Parents or guardians should be notified immediately upon apprehension of a child.
- Access to counsel and NGOs assisting detained unaccompanied children should be given at all stages of a child's detention.
- Accurate lists of legal services should be provided in all facilities where unaccompanied children are detained. Assistance should be given to an unaccompanied child in securing legal representation. Children should be informed verbally and in writing, in a language they understand, of their court dates.
- The ORR should not contract with facilities that are unable to provide a comprehensive plan for ensuring that all children housed in the facility will receive access to meaningful legal representation. The ORR should develop and implement a pilot project for the housing of children in which pro bono legal representation and guardians are more readily available and should strive to house children in such locations.
- Unaccompanied children should be provided with opportunities to make free telephone calls to the offices of the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees. Children should be informed verbally and in writing of this right.

- Access to family members or others with whom unaccompanied children wish to maintain contact should be given in a manner that minimizes inconvenience to both parties.
- Children should be given unrestricted and private access to telephones and assisted in making calls. All children should have the opportunity to call relatives and legal counsel free of charge.
- Unaccompanied children should not be transferred to another facility without full consideration of what is in the child's best interests and to determine the legitimate reasons for any such transfer. Unless such a transfer would be in the best interests of the child, no child should be transferred except in unusual or compelling circumstances, such as when the safety of the child or others is threatened. Proximity of relatives, the child's need to access legal counsel, and language services should be taken into consideration. In all cases, prior notification of any transfer should be given to family and legal representatives.

General Conditions of Detention

- Children should not be subjected to physical restraint devices, use of force, or pepper spray except in exceptional circumstances, where all other control methods have been exhausted and failed. The use of restraint chairs should be banned. Procedures must be in place to ensure that children are not subject to cruel, inhuman, or degrading treatment, including the use of shackling.
- Staff should be specially trained to work with children, particularly those with mental health problems.
- U.S. authorities should ensure that ill treatment and excessive force will not be tolerated; that officials will be held accountable for their actions and those responsible for abuses will be brought to justice.
- Children should not be held in solitary confinement. The use of isolation as punishment for children should be prohibited in accordance with international standards.
- Children should not be subjected to routine pat-down or strip searches unless an individual assessment of security concerns has been undertaken.
- Children deprived of their liberty should be provided with appropriate educational opportunities and with adequate time, space, and facilities for both indoor and outdoor exercise and recreation. The implementation of these requirements should be monitored.
- Children should be provided with the opportunity to meet their religious needs, including attending services and having religious books.
- Medical and mental health care services should be available regularly at no cost to unaccompanied children. All juvenile facilities should provide comprehensive physical and mental health care services by qualified personnel; adequate federal funding should be made available to provide the required services; standards should be developed to allow for the effective monitoring of the adequacy and quality of the services and compliance should be routinely monitored.

- Children should be provided with education in accordance with the requirements of *Flores* and international standards.
- Children should be provided with reading materials in their own language for use during leisure time.
- The ORR should pay particular attention to the needs of female unaccompanied children. Girls' smaller numbers may mean that they are more likely to be confined with criminal detainees or face more difficult conditions than boys.

Special Immigrant Juvenile (SIJ) Consent Decisions

• Consent to pursue SIJ status should be granted expeditiously to allow unaccompanied children to pursue this avenue of relief. Consent should only be withheld in exceptional circumstances and should always be made with the best interests of the child as the primary consideration. Only individuals with child welfare expertise and experience should make decisions, within a defined and strictly limited time frame. The issue of whether consent is actually required before a child can pursue this avenue of relief should be examined.

Data Collection

- DHS/ORR/EOIR records should contain information that clearly identifies an unaccompanied child as an asylum-seeker. Such records should be kept from the time a child has filed an asylum claim until there has been a final disposition of the claim and, when applicable, the child's removal from the U.S.
- Detailed information on the number, location, country of origin, age, and gender of asylumseekers should be made publicly available on a regular basis, as well as all relevant policies affecting their detention.

Immigration Courts (Executive Office of Immigration Review)

- The Executive Office of Immigration Review should formally adopt Guidelines for Children's Asylum Claims. All immigration judges, including the Board of Immigration Appeals, and other personnel should receive consistent and in-depth training in the Guidelines and how to handle children's cases. The Guidelines should be fully and effectively implemented and compliance should be monitored.
- In accordance with international standards, unaccompanied children should be given the opportunity to fully participate in legal proceedings. Courtroom settings and procedures should be modified to ensure that this right is guaranteed.
- Immigration judges should not use telephone or video-conferencing facilities to conduct an unaccompanied child's merits hearing. Both the child and his/her legal representative should be required to appear in person before an immigration judge.
- All immigration courts handling claims by unaccompanied children's claims should adopt
 juvenile dockets to ensure timely processing of children's claims. In accordance with
 international standards juvenile cases should be given the highest priority and should be
 handled expeditiously, without any unnecessary delay, especially when children are detained.
- The EOIR should coordinate closely with ORR and DHS to ensure the timely and appropriate disposition of children's cases.

- The EOIR should work with the ORR and DHS to establish and implement a pilot project for the use of guardians in removal proceedings.
- Legal proceedings should be conducted in a language that the child understands or adequate interpretation must be made available.
- Decisions to detain a child should be made by a prompt and fair hearing before an immigration judge. Children should only be detained in exceptional circumstances based on a full and fair assessment of the child's individual case. All children should be afforded a bond redetermination hearing, and if release is not effected expeditiously, independent reviews of the ongoing detention must be conducted and the government required to bring forward reasons for their continued detention.
- A system for effective tracking of children's cases should be developed and implemented.

International Community

• The United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees should monitor U.S. compliance with UNHCR Guidelines and other international standards and report regularly and publicly on their findings relating to U.S. detention practices and policies.